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  "I don’t hear a different drummer, YOU hear a different drummer.’’


  John Accardo


  



  Some guy with a mule probably worked this field a hundred years ago. It’s long gone to scrub, weeds, mountain laurel, and stuff that grabs your ankles and scratches along your pants. We’ve got a section flattened out for ourselves underneath what Genelle says is a Mountain Ash. She’s rolling a straight cigarette out of a Bull Durham can, sitting cross-legged with her black hair hanging down the front of her combat jacket. She says “This is good ole war movie stuff, man. I can see Bogey in his white trench coat down the end of the meadow.”


  I’ve had a matchbook in my hand for a half-hour, but the July dusk is taking forever. We’ve got four auto-supply-store flares at the edges of the field, which is way up in the mountains north of Renovo, Pennsylvania, at the end of a ball-busting dirt road. Genelle tongues her cigarette closed and lights it with a wooden match. “Can I roll you one?” she says.


  “I’ll get a store-bought,” I say and wade on over to the Highway Yacht, as we call it, actually a Winnebago motor home I bought last year, used, for twelve thousand cash. I open the shotgun-side door and grope around in the glove compartment for Marlboros. Robbie, Genelle’s four-year-old, is asleep in his bunk, and I can hear him chuffing and muttering. I take a long look up but the sky is still bluish-gray. Too early. Nothing can happen until black dark.


  “If it’s Bogey waitin’ in the field, who do you expect is flyin’ the plane?” says Genelle.


  “Let’s hope it’s Robert Ryan or somebody like that. Somebody who don’t make dumb moves.”


  “Really. If it’s Peter Lorre or that other one, the fat one, we’re fucked.”


  “Yeah. You remember how much time we get on these flares?”


  “It said on the wrapping two hours. You don’t need those matches, y’know. You just peel the tape and the air lights ’em.”


  “You’re a directions-reader, lady.”


  “Fer sure. I was raised on box-cakes.”


  “I wish to hell it would decide to get dark.” But it’s graying-out real good now, and I beat my way through the weeds and little swarms of bugs out to the first flare. There’s black friction tape across one end and I strip that off and pull back a section of the wrapping. Nothing. I’m halfway around to complain about it when there’s a sputter and a pop and the end lights up an intense red. It kind of sizzles, reminds me of trucks jack-knifed on the turnpike. I do the other three and sit down next to Genelle to wait. She says, “You think anyone saw us come up here?”


  “Maybe,” I say, nodding towards the Yacht, “but people in those things turn up everywhere. In July, all America takes to the highways.”


  “You got a set time with these folks?”


  “Unh-uh. Just after dark. I gave ’em coordinates on a Geodetic Survey map. He’ll fly around ’till he sees the flares.”


  “What happens if we get company all of a sudden?” “Don’t worry, it’ll be alright.” She hears the edge in my voice and backs off. Starts winding her hair around one ear.


  She is, I guess, my employee in a crazy way. She doesn’t get a salary, but three months ago I bought her a pair of Bose 901 speakers and I keep her in dope and groceries and I’ll buy Robbie a toy or something now and then. We ball when we feel like it, maybe that’s part of the job, but mainly she and the kid are my cover. Instant family—instant respectability. She’s got a wig in the Yacht that makes her look like those Atlanta housewives on TV who want the soft diapers for their kid’s tush. A white blouse with a bow at the top and a plaid skirt. We give Robbie a big, mean-looking fucker of a plastic machine gun. Abracadabra, that nice family down the street, invisible.


  I can’t say if Genelle likes the job. She doesn’t talk about what she feels, stays right on what we’re doing mostly. She could take a fall if I did, a good hard one. But she’s been worse places than jail. She left home, some asshole town in Louisiana, when she was fifteen, eight years ago, in ’62, before you could be a flower child and Life magazine told the folks to take care of you. Maybe she hustled her ass, she never said. Robbie’s father plays drums in a band in L.A., you’d know his name if I mentioned it. Whatever might happen, our thing has its advantages from where she sees it. She’s got an apartment on the Lower East Side, what hip accountants call the East Village. I pay the rent on that and stay there sometimes. I'm away a lot and she can ball whoever as long as she doesn’t give me the clap. She’s got welfare and an allotment from some sucker in the Navy who she convinced the kid was his. Genelle makes out.


  It’s getting into night real fast all of a sudden; most of the birds have made it home, a few fireflies are out and a cricket starts up somewhere under the Yacht. Suddenly there’s a drone way above us and we both snap our heads up in the air, but it’s just some jet full of folks probably headed for Miami Beach to take advantage of the summer rates and work on their skin cancer. There’s a nice little wind springing up that blows the bugs back off the end of the meadow. Why it doesn’t blow a new shipment of bugs to where we’re sitting I’ve never been able to figure out. If the wind blew west long enough all the bugs would be in California, not that those folks would notice.


  “You want a sandwich?” That’s me, the “boss,” making up to her.


  “What kind we got left?”


  “Egg salad. Fart food.”


  “The Yacht’s big enough, I’ll take a half.”


  I get there and halfway back, unwinding Saran wrap, when I hear a plane real close. The noise starts loud, gets louder, then rides way up there loud so that I squint my eyes. It’s winding up and down the scale and bouncing all around the field. I can’t stop myself from looking over my shoulder to see if some Appalachian hill-munchkin might be running down the road, shakin’ his iron spoon at all the racket. It’s just barely turned night and I hope to hell that’s the right Piper Apache up there and that someone up in these mountains isn’t holding some goddamn sky-diving jamboree. Egg salad in hand I tearass over to the Yacht and reach in from the passenger side and fumble the lights on. My feet are suddenly at the wrong end of my body so I dive under the dash and start pressing the dim-switch with my thumb, on-off, hi-lo, hi-lo. That egg salad is squished somewhere underneath me and it smells awful strong all of a sudden.


  I slide out backwards in time to see the plane make a pass across the meadow. Nothing. The sound dies a little, changes pitch, and then comes right at us, from the end of the meadow this time. It seems like he’s gonna sit down on top of us from that angle and suddenly Genelle and I are both magically on our stomachs, but his nose flips up as a square shape tumbles out the side of the plane and I just barely hear Genelle holler “There it is!”


  “It” is a good-sized crate bouncing around in the weeds out there. The Piper’s roar disappears over the hill behind us just in time for me to hear the crate settle with a splintery wooden crunch. I jump back into the Yacht and flick the lights off and take out after Genelle fast, but she still beats me there, black hair flying all over the place and hand-made stuck in the comer of her mouth.


  Somebody took some trouble making this crate. The outside plywood is all smashed up but inside there’s metal tape holding eight cardboard boxes firmly in a cube. We poke at it for a minute and then head back to the Yacht for tools. We get a battery-powered lantern, a plastic version of the old track-walker’s lamp, wire cutters, and a Big Bob’s Burgers order blank that looks like it should feed an entire Boy-Scout troop for a year: 800 hamburgers, and like that. Genelle holds the light and I start snipping wire. The first box slides out and I tear the top open, popping copper staples out. Inside there’s brown butcher paper and then the bricks wrapped in heavy plastic. “Hold this,” I say, and hand her the order form. The second, third, and fourth boxes are the same, but I tear open the fifth and it’s the assortment, the chocolate-covered cherry, the electric trains. I say, “You read, I’ll sort.”


  We’re moving fast now ’cause this would be a very bad time for company, unless it was to be very understanding company, and up in these mountains they aren’t very understanding unless it happens to be a poached deer you’re standing over. Then they just take the hindquarters, say howdy-doo, and stroll off back into the night. Genelle reads, I unwrap. I suppose it’s a little like that nice young couple who just rrloved to Scarsdale from Akron so that hubby could be the new sales manager; there’s the gentlemen of the moving industry hovering politely in the background and wifey biting her lip as she reads the list they made real careful.


  “Five thousand double-rich chocolate malteds.” “That’s 5,000 hits of acid, on 500-mg vitamin C tabs, and here it is.”


  I’m not counting to five thousand but I’m a pretty good estimator, just like the lady in the local dairy market on Essex Street can carve an exact quarter pound cream cheese out of a huge white block.


  “Good. Next you’re supposed to have 5,000 fish-wich specials. Yegh.”


  “Just a second.” I scrabble around and find the mescaline, in purple gelatin caps. “Next,” I say.


  “Five thousand golden-fried apple turnovers.” That’s the Ritalin, and it jumps right into my hand.


  “One thousand french fries.” I search for a bit and can’t find it. Then I see a corner of a shirt cardboard sticking up between the kilo bricks in the bottom of the crate. I pull it out and there are neat rows of amyl nitrate snappers in their original pharmaceutical company cellophane, taped down tight. At the top of the cardboard it says in big red script letters “Good Morning. I have medium starch in my collar and cuffs.”


  Genelle flashes the light back on the list. She says “One pound of, ah, Tartar Sauce?”


  “Cocaine.”


  “No shit. For us?”


  “For special customers.”


  I lay back the folded plastic a bit and put a touch of white powder over my canine tooth. The whole mouth doesn’t get numb so its not Procaine, PCP, the dentist’s high, but the tooth is like it isn’t there any more, so it’s the real thing, though I’ll give it a more thorough test later. “Tastes right.”


  “This next says 800 Big Bob’s Burgers.”


  “I ain’t gonna try to check that out here. Let’s move.”


  We each take the end of a box and walk to the Yacht. After a half-hour we’re both sweating and it’s very dark. We’ve got the boxes piled into the middle of the Yacht—you don’t hide 800 keys of grass—and the drugstore fruit salad goes into a hideyhole I built into the door of the refrigerator. In summer weather, psychedelics have been known to take themselves if left to get warm. To find that stuff, you’d have to do Chinese puzzle tricks with the butter-keeper. If I get busted, better to be some college type hauling grass for the frat house, than a DEALER.


  Genelle gets into the wig and the rest of her silent-majority uniform, I get a very fast flash of her bare tits, and I put on a lime-green short-sleeved shirt and a pair of tortoise shell eyeglasses with window glass in them. I back around on the dirt road and get us headed in the right direction. We’re back in civilization in a half-hour. Genelle is in the back, making Robbie a peanut butter sandwich and they’ve got Owen Marshall on the portable TV so it must be after ten. We do a good half-hour of highway before I see the Best Western I picked out last week from our motel guide. “Do your number,” I yell back. Genelle comes up front and gives her wig a little wifely pat—truth to tell, I always get a little homy when she wears that rig; I must have a secret desire to fuck housewives in Atlanta. We pull into the gravel courtyard, red and green signs flashing and the No Vacancy up with lots of little bugs flying around it. I crunch over to the manager’s office, looking harassed as any midsummer tourist driving around umpteen tons of next year’s salary. Outside the van, despite the shirt and the glasses, there’s still something about me that says ‘uh-oh,’ ’cause the manager is very busy working his face into a “sorry folks . . expression, just like they taught him at the School of Hotel-Motel Management, when I say “Hello there, the name’s Jim Adler, I believe we’ve got a reservation.”


  He’s in his sixties, a white-haired Pennsylvania pixie, retired from his own little business probably, and at this time of night he’s real pleased to be dealing with someone who thinks about reservations. “Adler, y’say?”


  “Yup.”


  “Here it is. That’ll be number sixteen around the other side.” He glances up at the clock. “You just about got in under the wire, Mr. Adler.”


  “Well, the little feller got sick on the way down.” If I lay it on any thicker, we’re gonna kiss each other. I turn to the door, “Honey, go on in and put Jimmy to sleep, I’ll be along in a minute.”


  “Okay dear. Come on there, Jimsey, you’re gonna sleep in a real bed tonight.” Christ if she doesn’t have just a cunt-hair of Georgia accent in it too. Now I’m really homy.


  Robbie staggers out, he digs that something is going on, ’cause no way in the world is that bitch in the dynel curls his real mama and he ain’t no way nobody named “Jimsey,” but kids love make believe, and Robbie’s got a little ham in him just like his dad, back there drumming up a sweaty storm in L.A.


  I turn back to polish off my senior citizen. “We’d like to pay now ’cause we get us a real early start in the morning,” and I whip out my wallet and slide a little old American Express card at him. It says


  Jas K Adler 1405 Pearson Dr Fullerton Cal 92631


  and when he mails in that tear-away tissue paper, Jas K Adler will pay his American Express bill right on the nut from a checking account at the First National Bank of Fullerton Cal and all the computers will agree that old Jas is a right guy: Best Western, American Express, and the First National Bank. I park the Yacht, pat the dope goodnight, close up a special lock on the door that ain’t gonna be opened by the simply curious or slightly larcenous, and go into unit 16. Unit 16 is T-shaped and Robbie is snoring lightly on a cot down at the end of the T in the corner, Cavett is looking cute on the color TV with no sound on; the air-conditioning is whirring up on high, and on a big blond-wood motel bed, Genelle is lying on her stomach with her eyes closed and her hands folded under her cheek and she is gently grinding her lovely white ass. But she isn’t completely naked, she’s wearing that curly housewife wig.


  Any small businessman will tell you that considerate employees can make meeting that payroll worthwhile.


  James K. Adler of Fullerton, California, is not an actual person, but he makes up for that by being two legal people. The house on Pearson Drive is rented from a management company—perhaps it is owned by some extralegal folks of some variety—as the computers get hungrier, people get faster on their feet, what my high school bio teacher would have called evolution. It is lived in by a fellow my own age, twenty-six, who found it necessary to go to Canada a few years ago—some unpleasantness about keeping the world safe for democracy I suspect, but I don’t know and don’t want to know. He works in the area as James K. Adler, files income tax, votes, and owns a Malamute Husky registered to that name. As Adler he legally owns a 1969 Winnebago, and has a driver’s license. The Yacht he’s never seen, and he doesn’t drive a car because I’ve got the Adler license, registration and title, and the Yacht, of course. We sign just about the same signature and have social security numbers in common, but I don’t get to use that except for identification. We have copies of the same draft card (for ID) but we’re not registered with the Fullerton draft board. Last year, according to his 1040, he started a consulting business and made $10,000 and change. This he banked in 7%certificates. It’s my ten thou, of course, although he could steal it, but would run the risk of becoming nameless, stateless, and etc. less.


  None of this is foolproof. It would all fold up under investigation, but the California “Adler” is careful not to do anything that would bring the FBI hordes screaming down around his ears. We’re set up so that if I get busted my phone call goes to a special number, which calls him, and he’s fast on his way to being a Canadian. Again.


  My name is Roger Levin. I come from a nice home in Great Neck, Long Island. My father owns a factory that makes small electronic parts that go into slightly bigger electronic parts without which your vacuum cleaner won’t work. My mother plays canasta, cooks on the maid’s night off, and worries mainly about my two younger sisters getting pregnant: the older one is married and my mother worries she won’t; the younger isn’t and my mother worries she will.


  High School in Great Neck is Dope School.


  That’s what folks do.


  Some do speed and stay up all night rapping with each other about speed. Some do acid and stay up all night rapping with each other about the universe. Some do just humongous amounts of grass and stay up all night eating Chinese food. Some do smack and, in the daytime when all the night people are sleeping either at home or in high school, they come by and steal their stereos. The same stereo has been owned by seven or eight different people in Great Neck and when you go visiting other freaks you never know what particular possession of yours might show up.


  So it’s just a hop, skip and jump to dealing, if that’s your personality. When I was in college I read books by Philip Roth and Herbert Gold and others about Jews. All these Jews had problems either because they were Jews or because they couldn’t fuck or because they couldn’t find anybody to fuck or all three. This didn’t have much to do with me. In Great Neck if you and a girl were in love, or if you just liked each other, or maybe just got high together, you fucked. The people I knew were first and foremost freaks; freaks with Jewish parents, freaks with Italian parents, freaks with Irish parents, black parents, WASP parents, what-have-you parents. These parents were the ones darting in and out of the synagogues and churches on Saturday and Sunday mornings and various ethnic delis on Sunday nights. We all ate Chinese food and we found God at four in the morning, usually while rolling around on the linoleum floor of somebody’s rec room, underneath the Ping-Pong table.


  When I went to college, I lived in a dormitory. Here were all these people from Ohio and Missouri and Illinois, and the first week a guy asks me if I want to smoke some Marri-wanna. Hmmmmm. When I went back to Long Island at Thanksgiving, I saw a friend of mine, a couple of years older than me, named John Accardo. I put up three thou, my allowance for the year, and went back to college via United holding all kinds of pills and weed. By Christmas I had 6,500 bucks, and bought my parents a copper lamp in Bloomingdale’s. I left college two years later. By then, John was retired, living with his old lady and kids in a little house in the mainly French suburbs of Casablanca, where cash is king and nobody asks. Bogart was right on—that’s a good place to sit out any war and I assume you know what I mean.


  So for 20 thou I bought his old dealership, payable in five fours though he hoped sooner. It included fourteen colleges in Pennsylvania and eastern Ohio and looked to gross 100 G’s a year. The net is lower, way lower, ’cause you got weird expenses (like Genelle’s rent) but it’s about seven years bust your ass and all the paranoia and then retire. At IBM or the public school system it’s life and no parole, so it’s chancy but appealing. As for sources, John introduced me to his.


  I know what you’re thinking and I say Mafia-Schmafia. The grass farm in Mexico or the acid lab in California are trips for people who like to be on that end, and fix it so it’s cool. Maybe it takes international organization to get smack into the country, but for the rest it’s just folks, entrepreneurial farmers, airline pilots, FBI agents (yeah), corporate types, longhairs, peace people, and even, so help me, a little old lady I once met who owned a horse-boarding stable in Kentucky and gathered about a ton of Psilocybin mushrooms every year with the help of, hang on, her nephews.


  I think you begin to get the idea: it’s a business.


  The guy in the Piper Apache I don’t know. I have a single-point contact with a wholesale distributor in Philadelphia, he’s in the dope-buying business and he owns a trucking company and working for him are cousins, uncles, grandfathers, maiden aunts, you name it. His name, to me, is Essegian. He isn’t Italian (maybe Lebanese, I’m not sure), isn’t the Mafia. The newspapers and the federal crime people just about invented the Mafia, because if this wasn’t organized crime, was instead just a guy into private venture capitalism, they wouldn’t have a straw man to keep knocking over. They wanna say “Six Sinister Sivuccio Brothers Captured in Brooklyn!” They sure as hell don’t want to say “Harry the plumber from Toledo caught holding ten kilos.”


  I wake up at six with a wig hair on the end of my tongue. Genelle is up and doing with Robbie in the van; she kind of keeps him out of the way without making him feel that he’s kept out of the way. She’s into tricks like that.


  I’ve got a heavy black beard and so I shave with the latest fission-honed titanium blade, or whatever they’re selling this month, and it’s back into the glasses and green shirt. Genelle’s got her costume on and Robbie’s got his machine gun and after two helpings of Grape Nuts with medium cream ail around, away we go.


  It’s Saturday and the state heat are out in force but with my California plates and tourist trip they don’t even give me a second look. We stare straight ahead on the highway with semi-cretin grins on, just happy to be driving our motor home through the great scenic state of Penn’s Woods and what the hell, folks, if we happen to be holding 800 keys of grass—tonight your children will laugh at the TV shows.


  First stop is Lewisburg, home of the federal pen where they kept Hoffa and assorted war resisters, but, more important, Bucknell College. I pull the Yacht into the center of town and drop Genelle off, then drive back to the state park and squeeze in among a bunch of other trailers, campers, mobile homes, what have you. As Mrs. Walter Knauch, she rents a Dodge Polara and heads out to a pay-phone and calls the local person we are dealing with. This one happens to be a two-year relationship so there isn’t a whole lot of paranoia. Still, she drives around for about two hours with an eye on the rear-view mirror and even passes my spot a couple of times so I can check what’s coming along behind her. Robbie and I watch a little TV, he plays by himself, is generally a good kid to have along.


  When I see on the third pass that she’s cool I give her a sign and she pulls into the picnic area. Back in the Yacht it’s off with the wig and back into jeans and T-shirts that say “Jefferson Airplane” on the front. Local people like to think they’re dealing with somebody like them so that it’s a little more than “I sell—You buy,” and we change costumes to oblige them. I pack up a suitcase with 35 kilos of grass and 1,000 hits of the acid. Away we go in the Dodge, taking Robbie and locking up the Yacht.


  It’s one of those days in Pennsylvania when it’s hotter than hell and the sky is dead white, like a fishbelly. All along the little roads, corn is pouring up out of the ground. I suppose it’s all full of chemicals but it still is great to look at. I used to think about buying a farm, but I’m no farmer; my great grandfather tried that in Russia a hundred years ago and got a sickle in the neck for his trouble.


  Pretty soon we turn down a tiny dirt road with berry bushes and trees pressed right up against the sides, cross a little stream, wind through some old second-growth trees and into a weedy front yard. There’s folks hangin’ all over that porch and I freak a little, but when I get to countin’ there’s just four, like it’s supposed to be. They are nonchalanter ’n hell, but they are waiting for the candyman with a good little bit of anticipation that I’ve learned to recognize.


  We pull in next to a VW van with a splotchy impressionist cow painted on the side, there’s a goat tethered just beyond and a whole army of cats peering around the comer of the house. These folks are living the good life. We stroll on up to the porch and say “Howdy.” “How are y’all doin’?” says the tall guy with long blond hair and muttonchops. He works in the Admissions Office as some kind of counselor and calls himself The Dean of Dreams.


  Genelle says “Pretty good, how’s it goin’?”


  “Good. Been lookin’ forward to seein’ ya.”


  All this mock-tough semi-country talk confines itself to dealers and clients, as far as I can tell. You wouldn’t talk to your dentist that way. But this is one of them thar highly stylized relationships.


  “You want some iced tea? Made fresh.” That’s the willow hanging on the porch railing. Closer looks reveal a young woman, sexy in a modelish sort of way. Boobs like fried eggs. But I prefer my talent like Genelle, built a little closer to the ground, wide-tracking. From the mists inside my head emerges a name: Joyce Quarterly. She does something or other in the English department, from the name anyhow. God only knows what her real name is, Ethel Grumple probably, or some such. Shit, I’d rather be Joyce Quarterly if I didn’t feel like an Ethel Grumple.


  We’re all silent for a space. People assume that all dealers are californiated, silent and a wee bit mystic on the inside, and that the last thing they want in the world is a good schmoose. It takes both girls to get the iced tea. The other one is called Sister Mary Metaphor and writes poems, or so they tell me, because she doesn’t speak to strangers.


  Through the oldtimey sounding screen door comes a sweating pitcher of iced tea; you can hear the ice and see the lemons and, what’s that, a stray frond of mint swimming around in there unless my eyes deceive me. Sister Mary Metaphor is smiling gently and in both hands is holding a bowl of, yes, now I can see, (ugh!) granola cookies—hippie food, nutritious grains and nuts. They’ll have us all into being stoned chipmunks with big, white, grinding teeth eventually. I smile, fey as anyone from Great Neck can manage, and take one.


  Aaaaarrgggghhhh, I can taste the grains in my teeth, this thing is loaded with hash, and I’ve got all kinds of dollars to count, all kinds of miles to drive, all kinds of produce to get dealt yet today, as well as keeping my tender Joosh ass out of jail. I give Genelle a look, meaning “Dope in the food, hang onto Robbie,” and with a smile as good as Sister Mary’s she’s got him interested in patting the goat. I follow on over, look back over my shoulder and say “Y’mind?” and the Dean smiles “No we don’t” and I feed the cookie to the goat. He’s been there before in this household, I can tell, ’cause he looks me right in the eye with his spacey yellow slices of pupil to say: Thanx Mack. When you’re tied up in the yard, getting ripped on Granola/hash cookies is the next best thing.


  Laying back, feet up on the porch railing and not saying anything, is the honcho dealer in the crew: Professor Plum. You remember him from the CLUE game, “I accuse Professor Plum, with the rope, in the conservatory.” And you opened the envelope and a cute little miniature murder weapon fell out. Professor Plum isjust watching this whole scene going down and smiling away, just a hit nasty maybe, ’cause he knows the whole game. He’s on the faculty somewhere, and dealing to him is just another outrageous trip to lay on his head, and somehow I suppose he manages to prove this, is valuable enough to the whatever department that he’s able to justify lifestyle of choice. Surely he deals to the hip faculty, to students and local parasities at what I expect are Nova Scotia Salmon prices. “How’s it going, Professor Plum” I say.


  “Stayin’ high” he smiles.


  “Good thing. How was the last load?”


  “Fine. Turned every last little seed.”


  “I oughta put you on television, with a dog.”


  “I oughta go on television, with a dog.”


  “It would surely stimulate business.”


  “Hi there friends, this is Professor Plum of Professor Plum’s Used Dope Lot right out here on the Miracle Mile in the friendly city of Lewisburg. Right now we’ve got to clear out our inventory to make room for the 1971 harvest and I assure you that no legitimate offer will be refused. Here’s a 1970 lid previously owned by an old lady who only got stoned for church on Sunday. This lid is extremely clean and there’s miles of good smokin’ left in there. We can now offer you this previously owned, executive lid, for $14.98, that’s right I said $14.98 plus your old roach, dealer rolling and state taxes extra in some areas.”


  We all laugh, and Professor Plum leans back in his chair and smiles. “Anytime you’re ready,” I say, “I’ll buy the air time.”


  “Well,” he says, “maybe it’s not so far off.”


  “Hey man, this is one business I wouldn’t mind being out of.”


  “Bullshit. You love it, friend. You’re the main bearing of counterculture.”


  “No man, I’m a salesman, and this gets to be biz pretty fast.”


  “So does anything. Had me a friend in Pittsburgh one time, big tall fucker with blue eyes, perfect vision, blond hair. This guy was making two yards a week as a sperm bank contributor, went in and jerked off into a test tube every morning. By the second month, he was tired of it, took to reading dirty magazines and finally couldn’t get it up for the test tube anymore. He asked them for a pretty nurse or something and they just about told him he was a pervert. Everything gets to be biz, even the professor biz.”


  “I imagine it does. I do like being self-employed.” “Are you self-employed?”


  My eyebrow goes up a little on that one—we’re back to the old Schmafia number. “My name ends with a consonant, baby.”


  “Aw c’mon, I’m just playing.”


  “That’s all right, everybody works over private enterprise. I’m just a little guy, tryin’ to make a buck.” “Waaal, let’s have us a look at the merchandise.” “Gosh, I thought you’d never ask.”


  By now Genelle is yacking with Joyce Quarterly and the Dean of Dreams, Robbie is still playing with the goat, whose eyes have narrowed up a good bit more since that hash cookie hit home (goats not only digest a lot, they digest fast). I can hear typewriter keys clacking on the second story of the house, so Sister Mary Metaphor probably got a poem out of our visit. Plum and I stroll over to the Polara and open up the trunk. I see him getting an eyefull of the license plate; that’s why we rent. Everybody loves a good dealer story and if they knew we had that Yacht the story would be all over town and into the narcs’ ears in no time at all. I throw open the trunk with a big motion and haul the suitcase onto the porch. It’s a big bugger of an old leather suitcase—almost a wardrobe trunk—’cause I’ve got 35 kilo compressed bricks in there. I fiddle with the straps and by now everybody has gathered around and, hocus-pocus diplidocus, there it is, all nestled in its shiny baggies, packed in tight. One brick at the end has a big dead grasshopper stuck in on top, and that little accident is just fine, ’cause it means that this grass is or-fuckin’-ganic, brother, righteous.


  “Wow,” says the Dean. “All that smoke.” “Abracadabra,” I answer and like a magician whip the thousand hits of acid out of the toilet articles section of the suitcase. It’s packed side by side in two big sheets of tinfoil, and it’s still cold from sitting in my icebox. I peel back a comer of the tinfoil and there are the vitamin C tabs.


  “How many mikes?” Joyce asks.


  “Figure about 250 Sandoz mikes or what’s called 600 in street acid. If you take one alone, it’s gonna get you somewhere pretty cosmic. Split one with a friend and it’ll be a nice laid-back afternoon. There’s just a tiny little bit of speed in there to help you get off.”


  “And the grass?” asks the professor, one eyebrow up just a touch. He wants the story. All dope has a story. If you aren’t told one, well, you just have to make one up. Nobody wants anything that doesn’t have a pedigree. He knows all about this but he likes the whole thing, the deal, the dope, the high, so he wants the story.


  “It’s from Guatemala.”


  “Un-hunh.”


  I don’t know where the damn grass is from. I haven’t smoked any of this batch anyhow. But I’ve done a considerable amount of it in the last year, and I’d say that Essegian gets his grass south of Texas somewhere, probably Central America and South America and Mexico. One time completely by accident, I met another guy who deals through him, and the guy told me he heard from one of the pilots that Essegian has a plantation in British Honduras. In the end, it’s just like growing any other money crop—either you always want it to rain or you’re afraid that it will, so what’s new.


  “And what about the acid?” asks the Dean. I look him in the eye: “I don’t really know, maybe California.” Ah, that magic doper’s name, in the east, anyhow. Out west, you say “made in New York, by crazed Rabbis in a basement in Brooklyn” and they all look wasted with that news. For all I know one of the chemical companies made it and the sales manager gave it to his wife’s Uncle Hymie to sell. It’ll get you high, whether it’s made by monks in Tibet or teenagers in Omaha— it’s a chemical.


  Professor Plum knows how to lighten up. He says “Waiter, the bill please.”


  “For you, 4,500 bucks.”


  “Do you take Diners Club?” asks Joyce Quarterly and everybody laughs.


  “ ’ Fraid not,” I say. But as a matter of fact I have done business with a credit card. I got myself certified as a restaurant when I was in college and people bought a whole lot of fifteen dollar meals. Made me nervous after a month to have it all on paper and someone burned the hell out of me with a bad card, so I went out of the restaurant business. My parents still get a letter for me every now and then from the Diners Club.


  Professor Plum goes in the house and comes back with a fistful of money, a few hundreds, mostly twenties, and even about 100 singles. We sit on the porch steps and count it out together. Actually, it turns out to be 22 dollars over 4,500 and that he gets back. They’ll make out on this deal; I sell them a kilo for 100 bucks, they can turn it over for $200. Or they can lid it up, about four-fifths of an ounce to an honest lid, not clean but with all the real big sticks taken out, and sell that for $15 or $20 depending on the market and the time of the year. The acid costs them a dollar a hit, in quanities of 1,000, and they can sell that for two bucks and sometimes even five, again depending on who they’re selling to. Of course, just like me, they have to discount for quantity. The cops always figure the biggest way when they say “street value” in the papers, so that 35 kilos comes out to be 77 pounds times 16 ounces equals 1,232 ounces, four-fifths of an ounce to a lid makes it 1,478 lids times $20 or somewhere over $29,000 bucks but that has never happened as far as I know. Just like my 2,250 turned into their 4,500, they should score out about ten grand—minus expenses in both cases.


  And that, folks, is alternate culture.


  



  



  “Ask not what your country can do for you. Ask what it can do to you.”


  Tom Lieberman


  



  It used to be said that the people you took acid with the first time were imprinted on you and you on them—just like a baby animal is imprinted with the first thing it sees—if it’s you, you become mother, father, friend. A lot of these folks have stayed together, taken on new names and personalities, seeing their lives as histories all wound up together, become a kind of family, or nation. I suppose that all depends on who you took your first acid with. I took mine with a very dark, Sephardic Jewish kid who was called Spanish Murray, and Warren Accardo, John’s younger brother.


  We were fifteen and hid out tripping all night under the football stands at Great Neck High. We listened to Spanish Murray’s little portable, the Fresh Cream album I remember, especially “I’m so Glad,” and The Doors, who did some tremendously good shit before Morrison got all fucked up behind being a juicer. We peaked about five in the morning, and it was beautiful at dawn under those stands. But Spanish Murray spent all night saying he was different animals, one minute a bear, and he’d walk around like a bear, the next minute a snake (a garter snake, I thought that was original in a half-assed way), and he oozed along the grass for us, then a giraffe and he’d lope along the cinder track. But he wasn’t on my trip and frankly he was sort of a pain. I can’t imagine being holed up in a farmhouse in Pennsylvania with Spanish Murray for a very long time. Warren Accardo and I always were good friends after that. He was a nice, quiet kid, less out front than his brother John, who was half hood, half early hippie. I’d call Warren when I got to Long Island every once in a while, and we’d get high and watch a little TV and eat some Pork Lo Mein at the Canton Inn. Warren was killed in Nam about two years ago.


  But the Professor, the Dean, Sister Mary and Joyce Quarterly seem pretty tight, into the group vibrations without vibrating too much on each other. I couldn’t tell you who is fucking who or what those arrangements are, but they are together and seem happy. I don’t like to hang around big lots of dope and other people’s houses too long, so I give Genelle the high sign and Robbie says goodby to the goat and we drive back to the Yacht. We take showers and change back into the uniforms and I follow Genelle into the car-rental place where she pays cash, there being only a minimal sort of legal personality constructed for Mrs. Walter Knauch. There are a lot of things you just don’t get around to doing.


  In three hours we are two towns from Meridan State College, our next drop-off point, and we find a Best Western and snug down for the night.


  I wake up at six the next morning with a bitch of a cold. One tonsil feels like it’s in flames and swollen twice its size, my ear itches, I’ve been breathing through my mouth all night and my throat is covered with whatever covers throats. Also, it’s pouring down rain but that doesn’t seem to have lowered the temperature any.


  “Oh no,” says Genelle when she wakes up, ’cause she sees what kind of day it’s going to be. Robbie is crying as soon as he’s awake ’cause he’s got the same damn bug that I do. We patch up best we can, on go the costumes, and we drive through that goddamn rain for two hours, mostly looking up the ass-end of trucks creeping up hills and tearing down the other side. It’s one-thirty when we hit the outskirts of the town and find the Terrible Camper People in their secret enclave. They’re all goosey about the rain what with screwed-up vacations and we won’t get to mother’s by Wednesday, and a little snoopier than usual. Some old bag in pink pedal pushers wants to trade bean recipes with Genelle and won’t take a hint. To make matters worse, our connection here isn’t answering his phone. So we sit in a public campsite, Robbie and I snuffling and honking, with our nest egg, which is annoyingly large even in the middle of our giant turtle house.


  At seven the next morning Villegas answers his phone. His name is truly Anthony Villegas, he made a point of telling me that, and I checked it in the campus directory. We make a vague sort of signal and he calls our payphone back from another payphone about a half-hour later (I’ve got fifty bucks in dimes in the glove compartment) and we set up a meeting at a drive-in movie that night. So we kill another day watching Sunday movies on the portable. Genelle and I could screw away the afternoon, but Robbie is up and about and there’s not even a chance of sneaking one. Finally it gets to be near dark and Genelle does the car-rental business again and the security^ spin and by 8:20 we’re off in our rented Impala to see five (count ’em) Clint Eastwood movies at the Nite-Lite drive-in. Villegas and I meet at the refreshment stand at 9:45. The rain has stopped but there are big puddles in the gravel and some ferocious flies whizzing around the fruit drinks and dead pizza. I’m now running, I’m sure, a fever and all my n’s come out d’s. Villegas nearly breaks my thumb by shaking hands revolution style. I usually go very loosely at a handshake ’cause you never know what kind you’re going to get. But my cold is making me stupid and I shoot out a straight Dale Carnegie


  Howareya and he hooks my thumb in his at the last second. He’s strong, with cordy arms coming out of a cutoff denim shirt, taller than me and I’m an even six, and wild blue eyes that pin you to the wall. He is, as we say, heavy. A Nam vet, a Chicano from East Texas, and political as hell. He says “How’s it going, brother?” “Not too well, I got a awful cold.”


  “That’s too bad. You oughta drink soup and stay in the bed.”


  “Pretty soon, I’m gonna do just that,” I say. It’s getting a little weird talking to this guy, ’cause over his left shoulder Clint Eastwood is blowing away Mexican ban-didos by the carload. Villegas has a big Zapata mustache and I’m sure Clint Eastwood never tangled with him ’cause they’re both still around.


  He says “I’m sorry about having to meet here, man, but I got to be careful about who I see, so I like public places, you understand?”


  “Sure. That’s okay.”


  “I don’t know if you’re hip to what’s going down here, but there are a lot of people in this valley real pissed off at me.”


  “Oh yeah?” Which is a “tell me more,” ’cause I’m real cautious all of a sudden.


  “Me and some people who were in Nam. Chicano, black, white, it don’t matter; we’re tryin’ to help these people in the valley who pick the crops.”


  A little light dawns. “In Pennsylvania?”


  “Hey listen man, stoop labor doesn’t just happen in Texas and California. There must be six thousand of us around here, livin’ in shacks.”


  “You mean migrants?”


  “Used to be migrants ten years ago, then some people started to settle down here, try to make a home. Next thing is a union, a sell-out with the teamsters. Along comes Chavez, and the people get their own union together. The farmers here aren’t that bad, but some rednecks in town got into it. Now some people can’t get credit. When you’re pickin’ in the summer, you got to have credit in the winter.”


  “Goddamn.”’ I can’t think of anything else to say. I’m sorry for the people, but right now I got my own problems, 100 keys of grass sitting in the trunk of the Impala.


  “This dope I sell, man, some of the money goes to those people. For lawyers, you know? The people in town got it figured that the money’s cornin’ from me but they think I’m gettin’ it from China or Cuba.”


  “So you got to be careful.”


  “Brother, I got to be real fucking careful. I disappear into that county jail and maybe there’s an accident and Villegas don’t come out.”


  “You got a point.”


  “You don’t know. My brothers from Nam, we’re all in the college but that other shit you don’t just forget, y’know. Something happens to me and somebody’s gonna get hurt. There’s gonna be fucking war with these people.”


  “Alright. I’m careful, Jesus, don’t worry about me being careful. You just don’t know how careful I am.” “I’m glad you say that, I’m glad to hear that.”


  “Where do we go?” I’m beginning to have visions of coming face to face in the woods with Villegas’s brothers, Chicano, black, and white, all waving M-16’s at me and my stash.


  “There’s a brother with a house in the woods. You take twenty-three south to Krupptown and turn left at the traffic light. You come to a dirt road, take that, don’t continue on the curve. Go about two miles up and you’ll see a house on the left with a big Great Dane on the porch, that’s the one.”


  “I’ve got a kid with me.”


  “Don’t worry, the dog’s cool.”


  “Okay, you leave, I’ll wait ten minutes and follow you. There’s no heat on me.”


  “For me I can’t say. If you see two tail lights ahead of you on the dirt get the hell out of there. One of mine is busted.”


  “Okay, see you in a while.”


  Villegas vanishes in the rows of cars, and I buy a small pizza, take one bite and throw it in the garbage. I go back and get a grape soda for Robbie and hunt around ’til I find the Impala. Genelle is asleep, but Robbie is watching cowboys full blast and is a little pissed-off we have to leave. Genelle promises him a rerun back in NYC. I explain the drill to her, give Robbie his grape soda, wait five minutes, and it’s off to the woods to sell a little grass to La Raza.


  We pull out of the drive-in and it starts to rain in sheets. I think I see Villegas somewhere up in front of me, at least there is what looks like a panel truck with one tail light gone. We get to Krupptown in about a half hour, find the town’s one and only traffic light, swing left, and in about three miles the dirt road pops up dead ahead as promised. I fiddle with the Impala dashboard and get the lights down to parking lights. But the rain is pouring down and the road is ruts and holes so bad the front of the car is dipping way in and the back wheels are spinning in the mud. I’m maintaining about twenty m.p.h. and come sliding around a curve and suddenly a few hundred feet ahead of me are the biggest fucking taillights I ever saw. I flash that it’s that Ford with the wraparound jobs that blind you when the brakes are hit. I think “What car do cops drive in this county?” and I realize I haven’t done my homework ’cause I don’t know. But those taillights are big and brash enough to be law. I hit the brakes, off the parking lights, throw the car into reverse. I’m halfway screwed around in the seat and driving about thirty-five by the red glow of the backup lights. About fifteen seconds of this and I trash some kind of tree with my right rear. I throw it into forward, and I can hear Genelle swearing quietly. She’s on her knees reaching over into the back seat to hang onto Robbie who’s woken up saying “Wazza matter mommy?” The car moves a liitle, stops, thows up some mud and moves forward. I go ten feet and fling it back again, this time I get the other side. I can hear the glass tinkling and I lose one taillight. I’ve also got metal on rubber on the other side but the wheel is turning, just. It takes what seems like an hour to get back out to the paved road. Nothing’s after me that I can see so I get out and have a look.


  There’s chrome sticking out all over the place and the trunk’s gonna be opened only with a crowbar. Various lights and flashers are splintered, missing, or hanging out on little wires. One side looks like some metal-loving dragon chewed on it awhile.


  I take a two-hour detour in the opposite direction from which we came, moving pretty fast while Genelle grumbles over the roadmap. I’ve got the metal pulled up off the tire but things are making horrible noises in the right rear and my goddamn nose is running. After about eighty miles of farm and county road, we’re headed in the opposite direction into town. We park the Impala about half a mile from the picnic ground and leave the keys in it. The walk back to the Yacht, with Robbie in my arms and the rain pouring down, I won’t describe except that I jammed my gas-pedal foot back on that dirt road. We get into the Yacht, stop by the busted Impala, pry open the trunk to retrieve the goodies, and take off due north, putting a hundred miles between us and Meridan State College before we stop. Along the way Genelle tears that driver’s license into little pieces and floats them out the window. Goodby Mrs. Walter Knauch, I’m glad I didn’t bother to make you very real. The rental agency will probably get its Impala back eventually, but I’m just as glad I won’t be there when they do.


  We sleep in the Yacht for the rest of the night and I’m afraid that Robbie and I are both going to have pneumonia in the morning. Problem is, when you’re carrying 700 keys of dope, you can’t call off your trip and go back home. There just isn’t anywhere to stash that much stuff and remain anywhere near sane.


  But in the morning I feel better. The sun comes out pretty strong and Robbie is all better, except for a small sniffle. Genelle is getting her period and spends the morning in the shotgun seat of the the Yacht with a heating pad plugged into the cigarette lighter. I call Villegas from a payphone, wait twenty minutes, and he calls my payphone back.


  “Hey man, what the fuck happened to you?”


  “I came up on a pair of big fat taillights and split.” “Oh shit, that must have been Charley, he came by just before you were supposed to get here.”


  “Well look, how about we do some other things and get back to you in a week or so?”


  His voice is tight. “No way, man. I got people’s money. You do that, a whole lotta shit is gonna come unglued.”


  “Okay, look, you hang around that payphone for awhile, I’ll get back with you in twnety minutes or so.” “I gotta go to a math class.”


  “Screw math class. We do this my way or no way.” “All right, calm down.”


  “I’m calm. What are you driving?”


  “A panel truck. GMC. Painted green.”


  “Okay. Wait for my call.”


  I find a place I like, another roadside rest, about three miles away. I collect the dope order, get out and walk into the woods about twenty yards, and tell Genelle what to do. She drives the Yacht back to the payphone and calls Villegas at his payphone, describes the spot and tells him to drive past her twice and go around again a third time. If she pulls out behind him, it’s okay. If he doesn’t see her in the rear-view mirror, keep on going and tell his friends to get high off Jesus.


  That little place in the woods is pretty nice. I have a couple of hours to wait for Villegas, the birds are carrying on like crazy, and sunlight filters down through the trees real delicate. I get comfortable in the pine needles and light up a cigarette and eat a fudge Space Stick I find in my pocket.


  In a way I have to sympathize with Villegas. I remember my own college days. Things that look small outside grow very big in that atmosphere. I don’t doubt that Villegas’s sympathies are real, I guess his parents might have been stoop labor. But dealing off that much grass in a small college town, when you’re already goddamn noticeable, to pay legal fees yet, is goofy. The reason the college kids got into Nam being so bad is that the working guy doesn’t think about that shit. His boss is hassling him, his old lady is hassling him, his kid needs a coat for the winter, the dog needs shots, and the parakeet is moulting. What the fuck if a bunch of slants get themselves killed. For him it’s survive, today and tomorrow and forever. He can’t see the end of his street, let alone Saigon. But in college now, it’s like a long, long vacation. You got what to eat and grades are no problem one way or another, so you start thinking about the World, and figure it should be as good as your World, which is some little town with elms.


  I tried liking it, I really did. But the professors either coughed at you or cleared their throats—lots of phlegm in that college town. A lot of them were incredible wimps and lames, but there were corporate-type sharks cruising around there that would put the worst middle-management butcher at IBM to shame. The students were about the same, half of them trying to climb up somebody’s back, the other half trying to climb down off their parents. But how do you grow when the greatest demand anybody makes of you is that you read some books?


  I dealt dope for two years, low-level chippy stuff, lids and pills, and that became a niche. Some people are impressed by even the littlest bit of balls-out operating, so prit’soon I had a little group that was letting their hair grow and lighting matches with their thumbnail, wearing cokespoons around their necks—advertising. Some YAF narc must’ve dumped me ’cause one night I was peddling a little shit around a dormitory hall and here comes a kampus kop, six-three and wide at the hips with mean acne on his face and thick glasses. He must have been majoring in law enforcement or some nasty shit like that, ’cause I could see from the elephant stride he was taking that he was gonna pinch him a dealer that night. “HEY” he says, one hand on his little belt radio, and one big meaty paddle reaching toward my shoulder. I saw out of the comer of my eye I wasn’t gonna get any help from the customers—about ten sophomore long-hairs were in the process of melting into the walls—so I sapped him upside the head. It was a reinforced sweatsock I carried in my jacket pocket, with lead fishing sinkers and sand in it. I didn’t catch him right the first time ’cause he started back-pedaling like he was on a unicycle, saying “hey-hey-hey-hey” which meant: “I’m only trying to put you in jail for selling weed—students don’t hit, they ‘come-along-quietly’.” I came along alright, frustrated with the whole college thing and the assholes I did business with and myself, and I fetched him a good one on the bridge of his nose which sent his glasses in two directions and he sat his fatass down on that cold dormitory linoleum and covered his head with both arms. I bent down, ripped that radio off his belt, and threw it out a closed window, “Calling all birds,and got the hell out of there, out of my room, and out of that town forever. I guess I wasn’t ready for college.


  But Villegas is. He’s caught going two ways, really, half of him dreaming that American Dream, ready to go back to Brownsville with law degree in hand and straighten some of those assholes out. The other half knowing where it always started and where it always ended and that made him a stone revolutionary—after he learned in Nam that dying wasn’t that big of a deal.


  Here he comes too, chugging along in his panel truck, looking paranoid as hell. I let him sit in the picnic area for a minute, then Genelle comes steaming by in the Yacht and I thrash my way out of the woods, lugging the suitcase with me. I stop dead just at the edge of the forest, ’cause Villegas is resting an automatic on the window, pointing in my general direction ’till he sees who it is and puts it away.


  “What’samatter, ain’t I worth killing?”


  “Sorry man, I didn’t know who was comin’ out of there. I got to be careful.”


  “Well, you can have too much of a good thing.”


  “Shit, you just don’t know what is going on around here. I’m getting vibrations, all the time downtown. These people are crazy and Mexicans just make ’em crazier.”


  “You can do time for weapons, you know.”


  “This is registered. They know I have it too, better believe it.”


  “Anthony, I ain’t here to give you advice. But I have never known people who were holding heat who didn’t get around to using it sooner or later, some way or another. Never.”


  “I’ll use this, baby. Some redneck messes with me.” “Aw shit, this ain’t Texas.”


  “Everywhere is Texas, all over the world.”


  I open up the suitcase and Villegas looks it over. We’ve done business before and he doesn’t have to taste, anything—he knows I give value. He does the tooth trip with the cocaine, though, and I don’t blame him, ’cause more people are burned in coke deals than anything else. We count money together and he’s off, his parting shot “Thanks man, see you next month. Revolution’s gonna move right along this week, and those people in the valley are gonna be glad to see that new lawyer we got cornin’ in.” I give him a clenched fist—you gotta keep the customers happy—and he fires up his truck and scoots out of there. While I’m waiting for Genelle, a little old lady in a Dodge thinks I’m hitchhiking and asks me if I need a ride somewhere. I thank her and say no and wonder what she’d say if I told her I had 12,000 bucks in my jeans pocket.


  The next two weeks went by prettv fast. The three of us are getting tireder and tireder, and it’s getting harder and harder to be Cosmic Charley for every goddamn college hippie in Pennsylvania who has money or friends enough to buy grass in big lots. At Swarthmore we sell to the son of a senator. He’s got great big ears and fucked-up eyes and we have to listen to an hour’s reading of Winnie the Pooh before we can do business. A black business maior at Lafavette tells me that he’s going in with the New York brothers on a thing and to cancel the next shipment. A short fat freshman with a Corvette, in Indiana, Pa., comes on to Genelle so hard she practically raps him one in the teeth and he gets all pissed off and starts talking about free love. A chick buying in Harrisburg tells me that all dope should be free, and I tell her that when money is free, dope will be free. I never saw so many people locked into so many prisons talk so hard about so much freedom. I’m sleeping five hours a night and driving 200 miles a day to be about part-free and I don’t think I could handle, very much more of it. Tbey’re blowing their fingers off every day with firecrackers and screaming for dynamite. There’s a few good ones, people who are themselves and just in it to get themselves and their friends stoned, make a little bread and have some laughs. But too few, too few, and too far between.


  Seventeen days after our little treasure came sailing down out of the sky, we can see the end. We’ve been driving around and around inside Pennsylvania, with a few dips over into Ohio and West Virginia, and we’ve got two more stops, about 30 keys total left to turn, and then it’s a well-earned vacation and a bonus for Genelle. Inside the door panel of the Yacht is about $50,000, of which $26,500 equals initial outlay, working capital, and another $15,000 for expenses of various kinds (I keep an incredible lawyer in New York on permanent retainer. That costs.) and about $9,000 is mine. I’ll do this trip about four times a year, so now you know what I make. Thing is, except for a little shit like my ten grand in the Fullerton National Bank in old Jim Adler’s name, very little of it will ever earn any interest. So when I retire, I’ve got to have enough principal to live on, forever. The FBI is nothing compared to the IRS—the King’s tax collectors know where the peasants are stashing that extra bushel of grain and if you’re showing a heavy lifestyle, you had better be prepared to explain things to your local agent. There’s lots of money turning over and cleaning itself in Miami and Vegas, but I don’t know those people and they don’t know me. So I got to figure on a $300,000 stash—cash money every penny of it—and then $10,000 or so for the next thirty years and I don’t think I get to have social security. Of course there are always opportunities for someone with a little bread, but they don’t come along often, and you’re either in this business or not in it. John Accardo has two beach houses on the Med in Morocco that he rents and I might do something like that. And you can forget about Switzerland—that’s crime novel stuff, or for people who make their bucks unethically rather than illegally. In America one got nuthin’ to do with the other.


  So I’m thinking all this over and deciding that Paris might be nice after the summer tourist season is over and all the Europe-On-Five-Dollars-A-Day people go back to their high school teaching jobs, and it’s about eight and just getting dark and misty and Genelle and Robbie are watching Archie Bunker on the tube and all of a sudden I see that red gumball machine flashing in my mirror. “Oh Jesus,” I say, and start to pull on the shoulder, and I look at Genelle and say “We’re busted” and she shrugs. Don’t bother trying to flush 30 keys of marijuana down a chemical toilet. We pull to a stop and Genelle tugs her shirt down a little so her tits stand out and sits Robbie on her lap and that’s about as ready as we can get.


  Levin’s Law: The cop who finally gets you is the kind of cop you’re most afraid of. No exception this time. He is tall and rangy and kind of slithers out of his natty black and white cruiser. He has high cheekbones and no lips anywhere I can see, Buck Rogers mirror-reflecting sunglasses where his eyes should be, and every twill inch of his uniform hangs clean and steady. He is county fuzz—the loosest, freest, wide-rangingest of American enforcement types.


  “Good evening folks,” he says, “like to see license and registration.”


  I pull it and hand it through the window. His gumball machine is still whirling around and the whole scene gets played out in red-black-red-black highway extravaganza lighting. I note the button flap on his holster is undone and I don’t know what’s in there but it’s plenty big and I don’t think he’s gonna ponder any supreme court decisions before he decides to put an auxiliary navel in somebody’s forehead. I’ve got the fat half of a sawed-off pool cue mounted under the dash with friction tape around the handle, but this ain’t no kampus kop. He reads a while, Genelle is sitting there and I can hear her breathing—it can get very tough on chicks in county-type calabooses. Robbie is very quiet, he knows something is going on and he’s bumming on all that fear coming off his mom.


  “Mr. Adler,” he says, lots of tension in his voice but I don’t figure where it’s coming from, “I’m going to take a look inside your vehicle.”


  We both pause what seems like a long, heavy pause. He can’t legally come into the Yacht and he knows he can’t and knows I know he can’t, but knows that I can bitch or not at him and knows that I know that if he presses, in he’s coming.


  “Mrs. Adler, please step out on the pavement and stand in front of the vehicle.”


  “That isn’t Mrs. Adler,” I say, and here we go, “I picked up this person by the highway a few miles back.”


  ‘That’s right, officer. My name is Genelle Fournier and I was hitchhiking with my child.”


  “Please get out of the vehicle and stand in front.” And in he comes.


  The last dope is stacked in the comer, about half a box full. He goes right to it, opens the flap, tears the plastic around one of the key-bricks, smells, rolls a little around in his fingers, and gestures at me with the brick:


  “This is a controlled substance. Please get out of the vehicle and place your hands on the side.” I clamber out and he and the brick are right behind me. His right hand is free and I can hear that holster leather flap as he walks. Genelle and I got to spread our feet and lean on the side of the Yacht, and Robbie just stands there. He gets to frisking us, pat-pat, with that brick straddled between his legs. Meanwhile, Middle America is rushing by in Campers and Toronados and Airstreams and it’s el gawko all they way: “Look at that, Harold. The police are arresting someone with a Winnebago.”


  I’ve seen the tag above the shirt pocket and the cop is named Byszka. He takes out a thumb-worn card from somewhere and reads us our rights and I say yes I understand, I want to call my laywer, and no, I have nothing to say. He takes out plastic cuffs and does my left hand to Genelle’s right hand and Robbie rears back and punches him in the knee. Byszka gives Genelle a long look, I can see her reflected in his sunglass mirrors, and she reaches out her free hand and says “You hold onto mommy, Robbie.”


  We get in the back of the cruiser, no handles on the doors inside and a grille between us and Byszka, and I feel Genelle poke me in the thigh. I turn as the car takes off around the Yacht in a great spurt of gravel. She gives me a very strange look: it says ‘what’s going on here?’ And I curl my lip at her, ’cause it’s obvious to me what’s happening—we’re either busted or shook down and either way it’s very bad. My head is pretty blank, except for a bit of hunting around for my lawyer’s telephone number, which ordinarily I can rattle off, and the beginning conciousness of a deep desire to pee.


  The county jail is in Webersburg, Pa. It’s that plastic modem kind of building built with the money that came pouring out of the federal government the first time Senator Hushpuppy found his daughter getting stoned in the family room. A “clean modern facility” if I ever saw one. Inside it’s all laminated blond wood and fancy electric communications shit and business-like officers storm-trooping around on the subdued linoleum. Who’da thought that there was such a crime wave in Meridan County pee-ayy?


  We get sat on a plastic bench that looks like it was ripped off the newest laundromat in town and Byszka walks on over and starts conferring with a young redheaded guy behind the desk: chubby, short, executive glasses and as neat a set of teeth as I’ve ever seen. Occasionally, he leans around Byszka’s shoulders to have a look-see at what the cat dragged in. Robbie says, “Mommy, I got to pee.”


  Genelle and I exchange glances which agree that she is to be the hitchhiker. She says “Officer,” and fourteen guys turn around, including Byszka, “my child has to use the bathroom.” Well, they can’t have piss on these floors, so our cop, looking half annoyed, unlocks Genelle and marches them to a bathroom somewhere down a corridor. Redhead says to me: “Doesn’t he go by himself yet?”


  “I wouldn’t know, man, I just picked up the chick an hour ago.”


  “Oh yeah, man, I see how it it.” and he flashes me a really warm ivory smile.


  “I’d like to call my lawyer. Have I been arrested or what?”


  “Oh, we’ve got papers and things to fill out. Everything in time.”


  “Nice little place you got here.”


  “We like it.” And he’s back to shuffling forms for a while. After a time he looks back up and says “Answer me a question?”


  “Anything I say may be used against me?”


  “Oh we have you figured for a punk dealer. One level up from the hippies. So don’t make a federal case out of it, I’m not taping you.”


  “So what’s the question?”


  “What do you get out of it? Money Thrills? Prestige?” I recognize that style—it’s the epilogue from Dragnet, vintage 1957 TV.


  “Out of what?”


  “Out of pushing pot?” Pot! Maybe they hadn’t found the real goodies yet. Where was the Yacht? My 50,000 hard-earned? What were they doing to Genelle in the bathroom while Robbie peed? Pot? They must have some fucked-up people writing their training manuals. “I don’t push pot.”


  “To us—you know we see you guys more than you see each other—you’re just small-time hoods with educations.”


  “I’m not even a small-time hood.”


  “Just a thug.”


  “Don’t knock thugs, man.”


  “Why not?”


  “Thugs built this fucking country.”


  “You think, hunh?”


  “I think.” At which point Genelle and Robbie and a less composed Byszka appear. He must have had to stand in front of the urinal while Genelle helped Robbie unlimber his little league cock for a piss. Maybe his cheekbones aren’t so high after all.


  Genelle sits down and positively acts out the drama of avoiding me. Though Byszka has us cuffed up together again, she is, by will, creating an observable space between us. I know this will be better for me because if they let her split she can call Lieberman, the lawyer in New York, and the anonymous little lady by a telephone in Dayton, Ohio, who will call the other Adler in California and tell him he’s part of the protest generation again and to get his ass headed in the general direction of Vancouver, B.C. All this I want to happen. Yet somewhere in me is a little string that keeps reaching out to tie onto her. So far I’m not as scared shitless as I thought I would be—believe me I have lived out this scene in my mind a number of times—and like with a lot of other things, what happens, when it happens, isn’t as terrible as you thought it would be. But we’ve been occupying the same space for a while, and balling here and there, and something in me is really looking for a hook to curl around, so that astral slide down the bench causes a twinge I didn’t think I’d be twinging.


  Byszka and redhead are still deep in conversation. Redhead I figure for a D.A. watching the boys in the shop run their machine, or a plain clothes guy with a B.A., the “new policeman” no doubt written up in Cop Monthly, or maybe just a civilian dispatcher, or maybe somebody’s brother-in-law, ’cause although he’s standing behind the counter (there are in-front-of-the-counter people and behind-the-counter people in the world of civil service) not one goddamn cop who’s been truckin’ through there for the last half-hour has so much as looked at the guy. Now if that last is true, if he’s civilian, what the fuck is the confab between him and Byszka?


  If you’ve ever driven a fifties automobile, you know what an idiot light is. It’s that little red light on the dashboard that comes on when something is not right. More often than not, though, when the thing goes on, you think not that the oil is low or the heat is high, but that the light itself is screwing around—the warning is warning you that it broke itself. In my head I have an idiot light. Mostly when it goes on I just tell myself that I’m being paranoid, hearing people in the living room. But, as they say, just because you’re paranoid doesn’t mean that somebody isn’t following you. Anyhow, at about this point, my idiot light goes on, and even though I think it’s “a short in there somewhere” as the pump jockey always finally tells you, I start hunting along my mental highway for “mechanic on duty 24 hours a day” signs. Of course there aren’t any.


  Here comes Byszka, all professional, striding towards me.


  “Come with me,” he says, and uncuffs me.


  I think “here it is” and begin to squeeze myself together inside ’cause I suddenly got the idea they’re gonna take me “behind the station house” and beat me up. We go back through a long hall and into a small room; one desk, three chairs. Indirect lighting in the ceiling so at least it’s not the old gooseneck lamp turned into the eyes and “Where were you on the night of the murder?” number. Maybe they’ll make me stare at that indirect lighting until I confess. A subtle torture from the new hip psychologists in the Pentagon? Byszka motions me to a chair and sits at the desk and begins unlimbering a giant deck of snap-out forms, IBM cards, and black ink questionnaires with ‘Do Not Write Here’ boxes on them. Shuffle, shuffle. There is absolutely no temperature to the air at all, they must have the thermostat regulated to perfect mean skin Fahrenheit. Sensory deprivation? What’s coming? And the idiot light glows even brighter. Then in comes Red, with the air of one who just finished a task of some sort. Without being out of breath, he is breathless.


  “Mr. Adler,” Byszka starts in only after redhead is seated, “we are going to lock you and your girlfriend up for a long time.”


  “I wanna call my lawyer,” with more whine in it than I intended.


  “You’ll get your call, or you can cooperate with us and save us the dime.”


  “Cooperate, how? I haven’t done anything, I don’t know anybody who has.”


  “You know Anthony Villegas.”


  That hurt. I could do more time than I thought. I get images of getting my old dignified dentist in Great Neck, Dr. Pignatero, to be a character witness. “Your honor, this young man has always had very clean teeth.” '


  “Anthony who? Could you spell that?”


  “Villegas and you know who he is.”


  “You can’t interrogate me, I don’t have counsel.” The indignant citizen appears at last. Pretty soon I’ll start threatening to sue the mayor. I’ve seen my Uncle Max do this trick with headwaiters.


  Red chimes in. “What we can and can’t do, my friend, at this time in history, is regulated by necessity and by the two of us who have the keys to the handcuffs.” Who is this guy? First Jack Webb, now Karl Malden as a vigilante.


  “You can’t do any more than kill me, man. So kill.” “Don’t bet the rent.”


  “What’s that supposed to mean?”


  “It means that you’re more important to us than most punk dealers we pick up in this part of the country.”


  “I’m not important to anybody. Nobody loves me.” “Good. I like comedy. You’re important because you know Anthony Villegas.”


  “Care to spell that?”


  “Yes. I spell that this way: y-o-u c-a-n w-a-l-k your ugly hippie asshole out of here free if you cooperate.”


  • Oh Christ, he’s trying to turn me. The old thing.


  Give us Villegas and you can take a walk. I saw people turned by narcs in Great Neck. Part of me keeps saying “Biz is biz, go along with the program,” but another part is gathering itself up, tired and afraid, to say: “That you cannot do.”


  But I sure am curious. How much do they know? Have they been following me the whole trip? Has Essegian gone down and fingered me? Why don’t they want the guy above me in the chain of command? If they know anything, it’s asking the bigger fish to get the littler fish, asking Jeff to bust Mutt. That doesn’t make any sense.


  I say it cautiously, like I’ve risen to the bait, and I suppose I have, “What do you mean, cooperate?”


  “That we can’t talk about here.”


  “Why not?”


  “ ’Cause it’s not within the jurisdiction of the local agency.”


  It takes me a second to get this unraveled, and then my inner voice screams “Oh Jesus no, the FB-fucking—


  I. Oh God I’ll never do it again just let me go this one time.”


  “I don’t understand.”


  “Here’s the program. We have your tentative approval to cooperate. Officer Byszka stays here. We go somewhere else. I ask you to do something, something which nobody will ever know about. You and your girlfriend and your kid get to walk away with what you’ve got on you, which is 188 bucks and change. We hold the trailer, the contents, and whatever else we find in there.”


  I think “Whatever else, hunh. Shit, I just landed on Park Place and you’ve got six hotels on it. I’m finished, nothing to mortgage, out of business, out of the game, and I’ve probably turned fucking narco to boot. And furthermore, it’s not a trailer, it’s a motor home, you asshole.” But my mind is spinning pretty good. And something Accardo once said makes sense all of a sudden: “If they ever catch you, don’t agree to anything but don’t make them put you in the slam.”


  “Okay” I say, “let’s go.”


  ’Cause the wheels are really ratcheting now and what I want is time. If this is the FBI, and it must be, that’s a long stretch, Federal time. But I’m not going to turn Villegas for them. Maybe I can give them screwed up information. Maybe I can get a little running space. In the woods on a friend’s potato farm on Long Island, although he doesn’t know it, there’s $66,000 bucks of accumulated profits buried in a potato chip can and visqueeen plastic. My nest egg. If they let me off the string for a while, and I can get there, I can blow the country and cool down. Morocco, Nepal, Afghanistan. There are places where their arm doesn’t reach if you can buy in with the local people. But first, I got to have time.


  Red and Byszka exchange a look and we get up and leave the room


  We walk down the hall and Red motions Genelle to come along and I nod at her and she follows quickly with Robbie. This Red looks a little saggy around the middle, maybe I can muscle him, I think. But just as we get to the door there is another one. A big mean looking fucker in a metallic blue suit and a blue tie with a horse’s head on it. He looks to be a well past fifty, with thinning gray hair cut short and little gray hairs growing out of his nose, but he’s six feet six if he’s an inch, and wide, wide at the shoulders. They take Genelle and Robbie to a blue Ford and me to a gray Ford. Red produces plastic cuffs and does my hands up behind my back, then helps me in. I can see the other one putting Genelle into his car. She’s got Robbie gathered up real good. If I get out of this I’m gonna buy him a whole freightyard of electric trains.


  Red starts up the car and, driving like a civilian, cruises through the downtown streets which, even at ten thirty on a Saturday night, ain’t real lively. We leave town and that surprises me because I keep thinking we’re going to the FBI office building or something. But here we are heading out the strip in the right lane, and this car has a plain old AM car radio in it, original equipment, and don’t tell me the Federal Bureau of Investigation does that for its agents. Pretty soon we’re just about in the countryside when Red cuts the wheel hard right and we go sliding right up to the Sleep-Tite Motel, Pool and Color TV, No Vacancy. He slams on the emergency brake, leans his arm across the seat in a friendly way, realizes that I’m cuffed and can’t shake hands. “Hi,” he says, “my name is Ed Roosevelt. I’m employed by an agency of your government the name of which I don’t care to mention right now.”


  I practically gag, thinking, like my father, “I didn’t think it could get worse. It got worse.” I say, as firmly as I can manage, “Take me back to that cop station and bust me for dealing grass.”


  “Too late now, baby,” says he.


  We split up. The ogre in the metal suit, who’s introduced as Clyde Moss, takes Genelle and Robbie into one room, and Red takes me into the adjoining one. He cuffs me hand and foot to a big, heavy chair and goes out, and I just sit quietly ’cause I can hear Moss clomping around in the next room, and pretty soon Red is back with a giant bag of deathburgers from a fast food place down the road. I know now how it feels to be an animal with a nervous zookeeper, ’cause I've been cuffed and uncuffed so many times my wrists are beginning to chafe from the damn things being on and off.


  He feeds me, a bite at a time. I’m looking directly at a print of the exhausted Indian hanging over the horse’s neck, “The End of the Trail.” I know how he felt, that Indian.


  “Is it alright if I call you Jim?” he says.


  “Yeah. That’s okay.


  “You got to understand one thing: our department, the people we work for, believe that this country isn’t gonna survive unless certain measures are taken. Now I don’t think you really believe yet that you’re gonna do what we ask you to do, but I know that that’s exactly what you’re gonna do. Now I’m a nice guy, I really am, and Clyde over there with your girlfriend is real religious y’know? Basically a very ethical guy. But we believe, because the people we work for believe, and I know you understand this, that to achieve certain goals, you do whatever has to be done. You know what that means from your Poli Sci courses in college.”


  “How do you know I went to college?”


  “I guessed.” And it’s hard to tell whether he’s being sarcastic and he really “knows all about me” or whether he just guessed, like the jelly beans in the jar. He goes on;


  “Now the people I work for, who believe in what they are doing, they are very smart people. They’ve read everything you have and maybe more. They know about Clyde being religious and me being nice. But they have this incredible personnel department. Jesus, I don’t know how these guys do it. They find, ’cause I’ve worked with them a time or two, some of the most miserable fucking people, people who have real bad problems, kinky type people, who like doing some of the things that have to be done. We’re only human, nobody even likes these people where I work, ’cause you’re always on the edge with them. So they make a very good wage, these people do, you’d be surprised, and they mostly keep to themselves. Now you’ve seen Clyde, he’s a big strong fella, comes from a farm in Montana originally and he can make a sculpture out of a beer can with three fingers, just like that. And I don’t mean these aluminum beer cans, either. Now even Clyde, when he worked with these people, was impressed. “Mean as cougar shit and twice as nasty.” That’s what he said about them I really like that.”


  “Okay, okay. So you know some terrible people.”


  “It’s just I don’t want you to know them, ’cause then I’d always have to think about that. You like that girl in there and the kid. You don’t want anything to happen to them, I know you don’t. You aren’t that hard to read y’know, and I can tell you like them a whole lot.” “Will you for shit sake say what you want me to do? I got the message quite a little while ago.” But did I? I’ve been thinking CIA, of course, for a while. Who wouldn’t? But maybe they are from the Treasury Department, Secret Service. Maybe the Justice Department. Maybe special White House investigators. The DIA, though they don’t seem military. Department of Agriculture? Grass is, after all, a cultivated crop. The zap squad from the Department of Agriculture? No, that doesn’t sound right. Commerce? Labor? HEW? Bureau of Indian-fucking-Affairs? Some department nobody’s ever heard of???


  The idiot light is practically on fire it’s glowing so bright, and the paranoia wheels are grinding so hard I can almost hear them. A little man inside me says: “Breathe deeply, you are an ant in a limitless universe, look through the wrong end of the telescope, stress kills,” all the things you say to yourself on an acid bummer. A long sigh slides through my nostrils and things quiet down a little in my head.


  “Yep,” says Roosevelt. “I can see you’re beginning to understand me. And there isn’t any place to run. We are very very international type of people. You’re going to walk out of here if you agree to what I say. You’re going to walk right out of here with nobody around you but you aren’t going to be free again until we tell you you’re free.”


  I take a long look around the room, but there’s no inspiration anywhere. The green-stamp renaissance decor just looks right back at me and says “I am America. If you fuck with America, America fucks right back with you.”


  “And if I don’t agree? I go back to jail?”


  “Now that you know about this, jail isn’t an alterative. And if you refuse, really refuse, jail is gonna look mighty good to you.”


  “What happens?” I’m stalling.


  “Well, this is my job, and I got to call people and say ‘This person won’t do what we ask of him’ and my job is to wait for them to make a decision. Now my boss, or one of them, might say ‘Ahh, what the hell, he’s a good kid, let him go, give him his pot back.’ But he is a boss and that isn’t how you get to be the boss where I work. That isn’t results. No production there. No, he’ll probably say, ‘That’s too bad. Guess I’d better call the special people and send them down there.’ And you know a funny thing?”


  “What’s funny?” I manage to get out. By now I’m completely gray inside with fear.


  “What’s funny is that he doesn’t even know those people. Doesn’t want to know them, ’cause he has to make the telephone call.”


  “Okay, okay. I’m convinced. What do you want?”


  He takes a sip of Coke from a straw he’s got punched through the special hole stamped into the plastic lid. I hate people who always use things the way the manufacturer tells them. And I am beginning to hate this carrot-topped prick.


  “Good. First I want you to confirm that you know Anthony Villegas.”


  “Yes, I know him.”


  “And he knows you.”


  “Yes.”


  “And he trusts you.”


  “Up to a point.”


  “You have been alone with him in a protected setting.


  “What?”


  “The two of you have been alone somewhere away from other people.”


  “Once.”


  “But it could happen again.”


  “Maybe it could, I’m not sure . .


  “It could happen again.”


  “Yes, if I . . ”


  “It could happen again.”


  “YES, goddamit.” I know I’m not in control any more. The little people inside my head who usually help me have gone to the beach for the day, and there aren’t any lights on the dashboard at all; there isn’t even a dashboard.


  “Good. We know Villegas is a dealer, that doesn’t concern us. We know Villegas is organizing the Chicanos who live in the valley, that doesn’t concern us; we know he’s using money from the dealing to hire Jew lawyers to protect these people and that doesn’t concern us. What concerns us, and I mean it really bothers us, is that he’s involved with people much heavier than he is, oh much much heavier, and they are using him for their special purposes.”


  “So you want me to turn him for you. He takes a fall, goes in the slam, I go free. That’s what you want.” “No, that isn’t what we want.”


  “Then what?”


  “Well, you see we really aren’t permitted to operate here. Our guidelines, guidelines can be such a pain in the ass, keep us away from domestic operations. So you have to do some things for us, and if you get stopped, ’cause there’s so much enforcement around they keep tripping over each other’s feet and we can’t cool everything, then it’s just two dealers getting in each other’s way. We’re clean.”


  “If you can’t cool things, how’d you get all this past Byszka?”


  “Well, old buddy, don’t go whispering this around, but Byszka is my brother-in-law. He’s doin’ me a favor, ’cause he sees me as real successful and there’s maybe a little advancement in it for him. Like a new job maybe.”


  Shit, I made this guy for somebody’s brother-in-law an hour ago. A few of the little men start coming back from the beach. Sunburned, but okay.


  “So you don’t want him in jail. What do you want me to do?”


  “We want you to kill him.”


  It’s like a huge wave sweeps over me: nausea, dizziness, pain in the chest and a powerful need to take a crap. The whole room is tilted sideways. Roosevelt keeps going:


  “Y’see he’s a real hard guy to get close to, to get isolated with. And we want this done quietly and we don’t want any publicity or investigations or anything. We want him dead and vanished and we don’t want any of his friends involved. We just want him gone.”


  “Kill?” I say weakly.


  “Aw Jim, you can do it. I’ve seen guys five times more pussy than you’ll ever be grow up to it. They have to, and they do it.”


  Suddenly I’m feeling very weird indeed. This guy doesn’t know me at all. One minute he seems to and the next minute he’s way out in left field somewhere. I’m suddenly reminded of a joke: This Jewish guy is in the army and his company is in battle. He’s firing his gun up in the air and the Sergeant comes running over and says “Not there, you asshole, over there.” The Jew says “What are you? Crazy? There are people over there.” I’m not killing a bunny rabbit, much less a human person. Let him sic the blue meanies on me, I’ll hide under the bed. I’ve got fourteen driver’s licenses stashed in New York and three passports and eight birth certificates in that potato chip can with my nest egg. I’ll be so goddamn many people they won’t know where to look.


  “Well,” I say, looking for an opening, wits miraculously restored, “you want him to disappear.”


  “No, we want you to kill him and bring the body to us.”


  “How am I gonna kill him?” Even talking this way gives me chills, but I’ve got to rip this fool off somehow.


  “With this,” he says and takes a gun out of his inside pocket. “It’s a Police Special .38 calibre revolver with six bullets in it. It’s a very dependable, very untraceable weapon. You are going to use it from less than six feet away and you are going to use it six times and on that sixth time he’s going to be lying on the ground and you are going to put number six right in his brain by inserting the muzzle of the gun in the hole in his ear.”


  “Can’t I get a sniper rifle with a scope? One that goes in an attache case?”


  “Jim, Jim, you see too many movies. No, you are going to get next to Anthony Villegas somewhere where nobody will see and nobody will hear and you are going to shoot him to death with this pistol.” He puts it on the table next to him.


  “How long do I have?”


  “As soon as possible.”


  “I have to set up a meet and make sure everything is cool; better say two weeks.”


  “We’ll be around during that time. You won’t see us, but we’ll be there.”


  “How do I know you won’t bag me for murder?” “You don’t.”


  “Fuck it then.”


  “We don’t want you in jail. We don’t want you talking to people. We want you out of the country. We’ve arranged a neat little job for you as an administrative assistant in an oil company in Mozambique.”


  Sure, I think. It happened to Jerome Johnson, the guy who shot Joe Colombo at the Italian-American Day Ralley. It happened to Lee Oswald. Set up your target and set up the assassin immediately afterwards. Mozambique my ass.


  “What about the girl and the kid?”


  “Their destiny and yours, baby,” and he holds up two fingers tight together.


  “Okay.”


  “We’re all agreed then.”


  “Yes.”


  “Here’s a number.” He hands me a piece of paper with a number typed on it. “When you do the job, put the body in the car, drive to a phone and call this number. Somebody will tell you what to do.” I stuff the paper in my pocket without looking at it. “I’m going to leave this gun on the table. It’s loaded. When you’re ready to use it, just pull this little thing here back, three clicks, see that?”


  “Yes.”


  “Okay, Clyde and I are going to walk out to our cars. We are going to have the girl and kid with us. We’re going to drop them off a block away just so you keep that gun pointed where it belongs until we leave.” He unsnaps the cuffs and puts them in his side pocket. I rub my wrists. Suddenly, he smiles his beautiful smile and sticks out his hand: it’s freckled on the back among the little red hairs: “Kid, it’s been good talking with you.” I am shaking his hand, though I can hardly feel anything with mine. “I won’t ever see you again. Please don’t have too many hard feelings about this. It’s my job, and business is business and I know you understand that.”


  “Yeah,” I say vaguely, and he walks quickly out the door, slamming it behind him. “Business is business, you’re goddamn right” I say out loud, racing to the window. I push the curtain aside a hair and thank somebody or other that his car is at an angle where I can see it. Virginia BGS-244. I hear the cars starting up as I run over to the California Modeme night table and start searching frantically for a pencil. I find one next to the Bible and start, out of habit, patting my pockets where I feel the slip of paper he’s given me. Out it comes and I carefully print the plate number on the blank side. Then I turn it over. And when I turn it over I sit down on the edge of the bed real fast.


  ’Cause it’s the number of my little old lady in Dayton, Ohio.


  



  "I’d rather light a candle and curse the darkness.”


  Roger Levin


  



  I don’t live anywhere.


  No address, no place to find me, no knocks on the door in the middle of the night—more important, no thinking about knocks on the door in the middle of the night.


  In a general sort of way, several kinds of police know that someone named Roger Levin deals dope in the East under a whole gang of names. This is a cost of doing business. A few times my parents have been visited by cops. They really don’t know where I am, so they don’t have to lie. We aren’t estranged. I see them about four times a year, calling them at friends’ houses (their phone might be tapped) on Saturday night. I just check with baby-sitters until I find whose house the gang is gathered at, call them there, and ask them to meet me for week ends in the Berkshires or Las Vegas or somewhere. We all stay at a hotel when they come and I pay for everything except their tickets to wherever it is we get together. They know I’m an outlaw of some sort, but I think my father must be hip to things, ’cause he’s very indirectly told me about his own problems: IRS, unions, political contributions to both parties, payroll taxes, a little bit of this with the books, and a little bit of that. He considers us both self-employed businessmen. So when one of my customers gets picked up or some stoolie is trying to play past a beef and whispers my name in somebody’s ear, all the police get is shrugs from my father. They think the shrugs mean “Ah the younger generation, where did they go wrong?” but I know they mean “Officer, who the fuck are you to me that I should tell you anything about my family?”


  So I live here and there. Friends’ apartments, couples’ summer houses, girls’ places. And for their favors, for holding whatever permanent crap I might want to acquire and leave some place, I keep them in beautiful dope. It works out. But when I really have a problem to think out, or want to be alone, I always call Henrietta. Henrietta runs an agency that specializes in subletting nice furnished apartments to corporate types that the company brings into NYC for six months or something. It cost about $150 a week but it beats motels solid.


  We rent a car for cash, using Genelle’s name, and I call Henrietta from a phonebooth on Route 80 and ask her for a place. She says she has one on West 57th, I say fine, make sure there’s linen on the bed and towels ready and a coffee pot. Can she wait a few days for the bill? I’ve always fronted cash to her before so she says fine.


  We get back to New York at 12:30 having stayed right at the motel for the night, and I drop Genelle and Robbie off at a friend’s house. I haven’t told her much, except that she shouldn’t be around her apartment and to keep Robbie close. I’ll get her some cash when I can. The problem is gonna be solved one way or another in two weeks.


  “Take care of yourself, man,” she says when I drop her off, and she leans across the seat and kisses me. A very nice warm kiss on the lips. I say “Thank you,” in an odd sort of voice, and then she is gone. I return the car and go to the apartment and sleep for ten hours. I want to let my subconscious get into this and let my little men work on it without any interference from me. Typically, I am a great meddler in their affairs.


  When I get up I’ve got lots of questions, and a few plans. First call is to California where it’s eight-thirty on a Sunday morning.


  “Hello, Jim?”


  “Yeah. Who is this?”


  “Jim, I want you to call me from a payphone.” And I give him the number and probably a good case of the scoots. In ten minutes my payphone rings. “Who is this?”


  “It’s the other Jim Adler.”


  “You weren’t ever gonna call me. Some lady in Ohio was suppose to do that.”


  “I know, but that’s uncool right now.”


  “How bad is it?”


  “I don’t really know, that’s the problem. Look, can you take a vacation or sick leave at work on short notice?”


  “If someone’s hip to me, I’ve got to run or otherwise it’s gonna be a long, long vacation.”


  “I don’t know how bad this is. Better not to blow the whole thing yet. Take two weeks off and hide. Stay in the States, but hide. Like at a friend’s house. Don’t call that number in Ohio. Just keep things on ice.”


  “Can I reach you some way?”


  “No, but when you get somewhere, send a phone number in a general delivery telegram to, uh, Steven Kane, at the Columbus Circle Post Office in Manhattan. I’ll check with them from time to time.”


  “Okay. Uh, this is a good arrangement, for both of us. But even so, I appreciate what you did. You know and I know that I don’t wanna get burned, that’s a Leavenworth trip, y’know, but anything I can do, really anything that I can do at all, I’ll do. You decide how safe it is.”


  “That’s pretty good to hear. I can’t think of anything, but if I do, I’ll yell.”


  “Good. Do that. I appreciate what you did.”


  “You take care.”


  “You too. Good luck.”


  Next call is to Kenny Velez, my man in the New York City Department of Welfare. “Hello, Kenny?” “Yeah. You just caught me, I was makin’ it out to the park.”


  “This is Roger.”


  “Roger, for chrissake. How you doin’?”


  “I got a few little problems.”


  “That last pound was beautiful. What do you need?” “Is there some form or other for tracing people? Like fathers who don’t pay for child support?”


  “There’s fouteen million forms like that. Each one in quintuplicate.”


  “Is there a possibility that if you were looking for a father, and all you had was a license plate, that you could put through a form and find out the owner?” “Might take a few days. See what I’d have to do is put it in the case record that Miss Jones now says that Mr. Smith was the father of her kid. So we look for Mr. Smith. Then I got to write in the case record that Mr. Smith’s neighbor at his last known address informs me that Mr. Smith drives a car with the license plate XYZ. So we send to the state and ask for the name and address of the guy who drives license plate XYZ. Now I can do all that in a day, ’cause it sounds to me like time is important to you.”


  “Real important, Kenny.”


  “But the state takes a long time answering unless the special investigations unit is involved; they just get on the phone. Hey, how bad do you want this?”


  “Bad.”


  “Can you score any fancy weed? Vietnamese maybe?” “How much?”


  “A half-pound oughta do it. I know just the guy for you, he’s on that unit, but his favors cost.”


  “Okay. I’ll get it to you tomorrow. Can you stay in the office and wait for a call?”


  “That’s easy. See you later.”


  I go back to the apartment and walk my little men around the brain a few times. First a list:


  1. Go to the farm on Long Island and get the money and the passports.


  2. Rent a safe deposit box and keep it there for a while.


  3. Call Lieberman.


  4. Call Leon and score best Vietnamese for Velez.


  5. See Velez and find out who owns that car.


  6. Send the lady in Ohio a final payment?


  7. See about selling the dealership for cash.


  8. If buyer found, get in touch with Essegian.


  9. How to keep Genelle safe?


  10. Somehow get in touch with Villegas.


  What a list! It’s like picking the flyshit out of the pepper.


  But motion is what I need. First thing is get in a cab and drive all over New York collecting things from people: African masks, Navajo turquoise and silver jewelry, a hand-made sheepskin coat from Pine Tree Trappings in Cle Elum, Washington, Morrocan copper trays, Kurdish hashpipes, and Wes Wilson original plates for Fillmore posters: all the goodies a head picks up in his travels. These are the equivalent of a straight businessman’s art objects, hedge against inflation, the market nose-diving, or the shit hitting the fan. Next, take that same cab back the other way and sell, sell, sell. On some things I get burned pretty bad, others I make out on. By the end of the day I’ve got about 1,808 and change and one or two things I can’t bear to part with and these I stash with a friend.


  Up bright and early the next day and down to the hydrofoil boat people that run the swank service to Long Island for Wall Street types. How much for a private ride? A private ride is crazy. So I’m eccentric. It’s a thousand bucks. So here’s a thousand bucks, when do we leave? Whenever you say. How about right now? And I sit in the back of that thing like Jean-Paul Getty and look back at Manhattan and say out loud “Follow this, you hot-shit spies!”


  Out to the farm by 1:15. By 2:00, with blisters on my hands from the shovel and no explanations to an old high-school friend whose ground I just dug up, I’m at the local cab company. Cab to New York is 50. Let’s go I say. I’ve got 66 thou in my pocket so what the hell. Dropped at Manufacturers Hanover Trust on 57th and Eighth just before the bank closes. Rent a safe deposit box. How long? Ten years. Officer escorts me down, I’m all paid up in cash. In go passports, licenses, registrations, certificates, and money. Ten g’s I keep with me. By 4:30 I’ve located Leon and scored the best Vietnamese and called Kenny and told him to hang tight at the office. I’m there by six. Dope changes hands. He gives me a Xerox copy of a welfare department report from the special investigations division.


  And looky here, the father of that little girl in Canarsie the state of New York is supporting is none other than “Edward Hugh Roosevelt, 20 Crestview Lane, Arlington, Va.” Which proves? I don’t know and I’m moving too fast to think about it, because that’s when the nutty problems usually solve themselves. Like when you get the soap dirty, you just wash it, and yoji don’t get into trips about soap to wash soap that falls on the floor. You want to do dishes and you cut right through the cosmic impossibilities. Happens every day.


  Suddenly I realize I’ve been running my ass off for two days and I’m exactly at item 6 on the list. I go home, watch Cavett, and fall asleep.


  If they had an Olympic Games for Jewish overachievers, Tom Lieberman would do the dash events but not the distance. He started like wildfire: All-League guard on the Princeton basketball team of the early sixties, top of his class at Columbia Law, Administrative Assistant to one of the swingingest representatives in Congress. He had the Omar Sharif mustache, the bushy black hair, the flare pants, and he gave me the most dynamite grass I’ve smoked yet. Then one day he picked up some little chick in a singles bar and she took him out to a little house in upstate New York, in the mountains, and fed him some acid like you just don’t see any more. Away back in the beginning, around 1964, before the summer of love in the Hashbury and Life magazine and Woodstock and Radical Chic, some very tight and righteous people had a lovely little psychic revolution bubbling along on the back of the cultural stove. Like any good thing, America ate it for breakfast finally, burped once, and went on about its business. But back then some folks made some real Sandoz LSD25 that was gonna change your life if you took it. You were, as they say, gonna climb that mountain.


  Well, Tom Lieberman and this girl spent about twenty hours hovering around in the ether, and, like you can never step into the same river twice, you never land exactly where you went up from: the balloon floats east and the world moves west. So here was this Tibetan Lama, this holy spirit of the Ganges, schlepping around the personality of a hot-shot political lawyer. He wiggled, he surely did, worked with the poor, spent some time in Mexico, a year above Taos, New Mexico, getting a land thing together with some people from California, and finally ran out of money. He dragged his ass back to New York, reinstated himself with the Bar Association and went back to work. But you never come all the way back. Administrative assisting was through. So he fetched up five or six clients like me, handled their problems, gave them financial advice, and became something of a specialist: working for people who managed to accumulate large amounts of “dirty” cash without the killer instincts to go with it. He takes a retainer from me of $12,000 per year, so you can do your own addition, and he lives on the top floor of a building on the lower West Side, looking right across the Hudson. He’s got all the interior walls removed, incredible plants everywhere, and a floor-to-ceiling window through which you can see the lights of all the apartment houses on the shore in Bergen County where people pay to see the bright lights of the apartment houses in the city. It’s traditional stuff in waterfront real estate: I twinkle for you, you twinkle for me, and we’ll both look out at three in the morning and say “I wonder what those people over there are thinking.” This also works for trains and little houses by the tracks. I once crossed the Atlantic on an ocean liner. Midway across, we passed the sister ship going the other way. People took pictures, waved and got all excited and the boats tooted at each other. Six days on mother ocean and the sexiest thing folks saw was their own mirror image.


  I arrive at Tom’s. His hair is short, his mustache is gone, he’s been lifting weights, and he’s wearing a freshly washed white T-shirt and faded khaki pants.


  “Have you had breakfast yet?” he asks.


  “No, I came in a hurry.” So he pours us out two big bowls of Grape Nuts, puts a stoneware pitcher of cream on the table alongside a crock of sugar.


  “I’ll have coffee in a minute.”


  “Good, I need some.” And we commence to talk, all the while eating Grape Nuts and making a marvelous amount of crunch.


  “You seem to be in some very strange kind of trouble.”


  “I guess I am, but there are a lot of things that don’t fit together.” And I tell him—everything. Always tell your lawyer everything, just make sure you got the right lawyer.


  “That sounds odd,” he says when I’m finished, “very odd. I don’t say it can’t happen. Could your friend Villegas possibly be that heavy?”


  “He’s not my friend.”


  “One way or another he’s your friend now—he’s gonna have a place inside your head forever, you just have to decide what sort of place.”


  “I’m gonna try and get in touch with him. That’s the feel of it.”


  “Be careful. If you’re both under surveillance, and if it’s professional stuff, it’s doubly hard to evade.”


  “This guy Roosevelt keeps changing his numbers. One minute he’s Sherlock Holmes, next he couldn’t find his asshole with a full set of mirrors.”


  “That might be operative behavior for the CIA.” “You think he’s the CIA?”


  “I can find out.”


  “How fast?”


  “Not fast, that’s the problem. Not fast enough to do you any good. ’Cause see, if he is, you have got a real problem. I’m not telling you to commit murder, but I want you to know where it’s at.”


  “Okay.”


  “Historically, everybody that came to America was hiding out from somebody or other. I suppose a lot of people had right-on reasons, religious persecution ya-di ya-di ya-di etc. But the hustlers knew a good thing when they saw it. People with debts, impossible old ladies, a fight that got a little too serious, shitheaded landlords, rip-offs, family stuff—anything you can name. ’Course paradise made everybody uncomfortable so now we’re livin’ in the biggest, most deluxe privy-hole in recorded history. You know the joke about ‘Don’t make a wave, don’t make a wave’? Well, that joke is getting truer all the time. Anyhow, when we hired people to punish us for havin’ it too fucking good, FBI, CIA, you pick the initials, the genetic sets were right there. They can’t do foreign manipulation, intrigue really isn’t native to them, they aren’t as cold-blooded as they like to think they are, but oh boy can they ever find people. They are terrific at finding people, ’cause they are the descendants of the stone hiders.”


  “So don’t run.”


  “Run, but run fast and far and, most important, get about eight feet from the finish line before you start to run.”


  “Tell me.”


  “Well, I’m gonna start by finding out where Roosevelt works. I’ve got friends around on the old network. The other guy you say called himself Clyde Moss?” “Yeah.”


  “Meanwhile, you have to do two things. Your friend and her kid have got to be stashed, and I mean stashed. And you’ve got to see Villegas.”


  “You should see the list of things I have to do.” “Screw the list. Concentrate on those two things.” “Where can I put Genelle?”


  “I can take care of that with a phone call.”


  He picks up the phone and in a few minutes it’s set that Genelle, alias Monica Goldblatt, will be a counselor at Camp Ti-Ti-Ga-Wa in the Adirondacks, for what remains of the summer. Robbie can live in one of the bunks and they can both stay for a month after the camp ends. I’m paying the salary, but I can give the money directly to Tom, which I do.


  “Alright,” I say, “that handles one problem. How about the other?”


  “Well, go ahead and pretend you’re gonna kill the guy. Get him off alone and tell him what the story is. Maybe he’s got the key to this thing.”


  “If he just walks right back into his life, they’ll kill me.”


  “If ‘they’ are ‘them,’ yes. But if ‘they’ are ‘them,’ they’ll kill you after you’ve killed Villegas.”


  “I’ve got to persuade him to disappear?”


  “Exactly. Then you’ve got to disappear.”


  “I’ve got all kinds passports.”


  “Okay, but don’t take too many with you. If they’re found, that would make somebody very curious. And keep the hell out of countries like Greece, where it’s police-state time, and Nepal, where all the hippies go to hide.”


  “I was thinking I’d


  He cut me off. “I don’t want to know. Not for a while. When you get there, find an American and have him come to me here and tell me the story.”


  “You think you have help reading your mail?”


  “Who the hell knows these days? It’s not that Big Brother is watching—it’s that he likes to watch. Big Brother is a voyeur, write that down. Do you have a gun?”


  “Roosevelt gave me a gun. A .38 I threw it out the window on the way back to New York.”


  “Well,” he reached into a drawer, “here’s a teargas pen. Just unscrew the cap and a little jet of the stuff comes out the other end.”


  “This effective against snipers, or large groups of angry Green Berets?”


  “Don’t overestimate the enemy. Button men wouldn’t have that job if they could be head of IBM.”


  “What about the little old lady in Dayton?”


  “You’re not the only guy in the world who uses un-traceable telephone numbers or accommodation addresses. It’s fucking chic these days. Maybe you just patronize the same store.”


  “What about my supplier? I’m holding a dealer territory that ought to be worth twenty-five or thirty anyhow.”


  “If you can find a buyer.”


  “That’s gonna take some time.”


  “That you don’t have. Leave it where it is.”


  “I’m waiting for all kinds of general delivery telegrams. From Genelle, and a guy in California. Sent to Steve Kane.”


  “Oh, that comes with the service. I can run some errands for you.”


  “Okay. Thanks for the pen. When do you think I oughta go see Villegas?”


  “How about tomorrow? I can’t get anything on Roosevelt until three weeks at the max earliest.” “Tomorrow is very soon.”


  “Hold your nose and jump. I don’t see any other way out.”


  “Who’s got my motor home and my 50 grand?” “Off-hand, I’d say Biscuit the trooper.”


  “Byszka.”


  “Whatever. I think you can kiss that goodby. Maybe the rip-off is protected higher up and maybe it isn’t. It’s gonna be real hard to find out. On balance, I’d say you were ahead of the game not being booked.”


  “I suppose. Okay, I’ll call if I need you. Are you protected, by the way? I don’t want to land you in the shit.”


  “Not as protected -as I used to be,” he smiles a thin smile, “but enough, enough. Lawyers can do some interesting things that other people can’t. I’ll be okay. I’m gonna make an enquiry or two about turning your dealership. Very very tentative. Cost you ten points.”


  “You got it.”


  “Fine. Be careful, and try to keep your head together. You’ve got to be making some heavy decisions in the next couple days. And don’t worry about Genelle. I’ll make sure she gets up to that camp.” “Thanks for everything. Talking made it come a little clearer.”


  We shake hands, Dale Carnegie style. “Don’t mention it That’s what Mary Worth is for.”


  I decide to travel very light: my old dependable Justin boots, good for running and ass-kicking, jeans, a polo shirt with a pocket for the teargas pen, an old wind-breaker which has proved its rainproofedness many times. I take with me in a big paper bag extra underwear, extra socks, sun glasses, a carton of cigarettes, a jar of honey and Space Sticks. I decide against a compass, ’cause I’m not an outdoors type and that probably won’t be my best exit. I think, “This must be what every hit man does. Pack up the old overnight bag for his business trip.”


  Next I go spend some money. I decide to take passport and driver’s license and social security and credit cards for Howard Fine, one of my best-done fictional people. Done while I was new at the game and so done with considerable more care than some of my others. Worked right up from the birth certificate. Last time I checked, poor Howard, who was in my geometry class in high school, was still in that nice quiet little home in Greenwich, Connecticut. My mother told me, about three months ago, that recently Howard had said both “da-da” and “poo-poo” and the doctors thought he might start growing up again.


  Howie was an adventurous kid in high school and decided to make some of his own acid. He dropped some incredibly pure micage, and almost died from suffocation when his breathing reflex started - tripping off by itself somewhere. And he took a psychic journey, maybe an astral journey, back to about three months old, and there his cosmic tripmobile had some kind of flat tire and stranded him. So now he’s a perfectly healthy 180-pound three-month-old, gooing and gurgling. I’m not sure his mother, who I knew as a kid, is entirely unhappy about all of this. Mr. Fine, who pays the bills for the nice home, probably isn’t thrilled with it.


  But Howie lives on in me, as the Unitarians say, and after a good beef with oyster sauce at House of Chan he goes shopping at a Chevy dealership and buys himself, for 4,000 bucks, a Chevy Carry-all, built like a truck, but with a very hot 8 cylinder engine in it. When I tell the salesman what Howie wants, he sells me his own car right off the street, and probably makes out pretty good. I get fat tires with lots of tread in the back for dirt roads, and redone brakes, carbuertor and engine: about 135 in there he says, but don’t down-shift into second until about eighty-five. It’s very casual looking, ’cause the body’s about two years old. It’s meant to surprise people, the salesman says. I tape four of my current stash of five thou in plastic to the bottom of my battery, get a good night’s sleep, call Henrietta in the morning and tell her I’m leaving the apartment, and by ten, the time I call an early start, I’m on my way back to Pennsylvania.


  It’s an incredible sky all the way out on 1-80, washed out blue with lots of shapely clouds and the sun in and out and showing pink up back of them—solid album-cover stuff. My little men are having a half-time rest and my Zen Archer has taken over and I’m driving with the road and not thinking about anything. Somehow, the best thing I heard in the last two crazy days is that Lieberman is gonna make sure that Genelle and Robbie are okay. While it’s good to have a reduced target area, I’m sorry to have dragged her through the last weeks. She’s got a very up head and I wouldn’t want anything to change that. So I drive. And pretty soon it’s my exit, Einsteinian time floating by too too fast. There’s a phone booth right there and I stop and call Villegas. A girl answers and says that Tony’ll be back in five minutes. I wait for ten and try again and this time he answers.


  “Howdy Villegas, it’s me.”


  “Jesus, you just left, I’m not ready for a—a—a visit.”


  I recognize the overinventoried businessman talking to his good-as-gold chief supplier. “That’s okay man, this is a social call.”


  “You want me to call you back.”


  “No, I’d like to see you somewhere quiet.”


  “Well, all right. You sound funny man, is anything wrong?”


  “Unh-unh. Just to talk.”


  “ ’Kay. You remember the last place we didn’t


  meet?”


  “Yeah.”


  “Can you find that again?”


  “Yeah.”


  “So in an hour?”


  “I’m about an hour away so I can just about make it.”


  “Good, I’ll see you.”


  This part of the road, two-lane farm road down into Krupptown, goes even faster and all too soon I swing into that narrow dirt lane packed with trees. I go quite a spell and swing ’round an S-curve and the absolute same goddamn thing happens—only this time it’s a black and white county cop cruiser parked dead square on that road facing away from me. But I’d know that military squareback haircut anywhere, and when he hears the truck and goes into a fast profile it’s Byszka dead on. He reaches for a door handle and I slam the Chev into reverse, with a fast glance at neutral, and I’m heading back where I came from. But Byszka reacts fast and he’s into reverse and following me. Before I curl around to see over my shoulder, I get a good view of him hanging over the back of the seat, braced with the crook of his elbow, looking right at me through those mirror sun glasses.


  Thirty-five, forty, forty-five, fifty. I’m shearing off great bunches of leaves and twigs and nothing solid yet, thank whoever, but when I glance around he’s still right there with me. The whine of the reverse gear is really screaming but that cruiser isn’t losing a foot, he’s about twenty feet in front of me, and just waiting until we hit pavement, ’cause then it’s gonna be catchee-catchee time. I’m backing through my own dust of a moment ago and it’s getting harder to see, though if anyone is coming down that road it’s gonna be too bad for everybody, especially me ’cause I’m the filling in the sandwich. And no sooner do I think that than here comes guess who in a green panel truck at the other end of the short straightaway. I’ll give you a hint: it’s somebody who hung around his apartment a little too long and then pushed it to get there but arrived a few seconds after the guy he was gonna meet. Worse, he’s already seen the parade coming at him assfrontways and the only way he’s not gonna get creamed is by throwing his own truck into R. Which he does, but no way can he make my kind of time, ’cause all he’s got in back are those little windows so he’s doing his reverse navigating in the side-view mirror. Byszka makes up the space in nothing flat and now he’s hanging right off my bumper. And so the three of us dance.


  Until we go around the same curve I overlooked the other night. Villegas and I go through okay but the cruiser takes out a rear panel on the tree. I hear the crash and look around in time to see Byszka fly up off the seat with the impact, and through my busy mind runs the memory tape that Officer Byszka, with typical macho head, disdains the use of the seat belt. I spin round and frantically wave to Villegas to move it. He does and in a second or two I stand on the brakes, and whip the gear shift into first and tromp on the gas. Byszka is looking at me through the grille and I can’t see his expression but I’m sure it’s one of disbelief ’cause the rabbit is already in second gear and fast, fast approaching the stalled greyhound. My fingers wander nervously over my own harness and it’s tight as it was a second ago. Byszka now makes some kind of frantic motion, either unholstering a gun or grappling for the door handle, ’cause a certain synapse just swung open like a little electrical door and the impulse nipped in there and got on the horn to his neural receivers with the scoop that the old house of the spirit is about to get its back end whacked.


  And right quick it does.


  I take a hell of a strain on that harness and the window comes back at me for an instant and the nose of my truck suddenly wrinkles with about twenty-five m.p.h. worth of disgust and a taillight somehow pops up in the air dragging a wire with it and now I can hear the glass and metal complaining about Newton’s third law and then I’m stopped and the engine isn’t running. All I see up front is a trooper hat canted at a forty-five degree angle, probably caught between head and door, but the cruiser’s front window has melted directiy ahead of the driver’s seat. The impact shoved the cruiser a few feet ahead of me, to the top of a little rise, ’cause now, very slowly, it rolls back down. There’s a whole lot of silence and I can hear a few birds start up to sing again before Byszka’s car taps me a little supermarket parking lot ‘ting’ on what remains of my front bumper. Everything quiets again and the hat disappears completely. My hand is shaking in a wide arc, but I tell it firmly what I need it to do and within seconds it turns the ignition key. For a horrible instant I’m hanging out over the entire universe by one finger, and then slowly, and a little faster, the engine comes grumbling to life. It’s not what it used to was, but it’s running on some cylinders anyway. Good, class; lesson one, starting the car. Now we’ll try shifting into reverse. After a short meeting and discussion in the gearbox, the engine pitch changes and the wheels turn back an inch, and another, and prit’soon I’m rolling as sweat suddenly starts crawling over my body.


  The rest of the road unwinds quickly and when I get to pavement I make a fast calculation: Did Villegas run home? Or away? Away, I decide, remembering the gun and the wild eyes the other day, and turn left, astounding some local Krupptown folks as my smashed front end snuffles by them at seventy m.p.h. In five minutes I’ve got him, though he’s pushing the truck as hard as it’ll push. I get up next to him, make the old war-movie John Wayne follow-me-sign, and pull in front. In ten minutes I spot a state forest and a dirt road off to the right, and I slow way down and point big, ’cause I can’t say about my directional signals. I turn, he follows, and soon I see picnic tables. We stop. “Well,” I think, “we’re alone and nobody’s around to hear to see and if I was gonna do it, this is how and where.”


  We both get out quick and meet midway. Villegas has his right hand shoved in the pocket of his combat jacket and I can see he’s vibrating like a fucking guitar string.


  “Jesus Christ man, what in hell’s name are you doing?”


  “Calm down and let’s talk. I have got bad, bad news for you.”


  “You are bad news. Did you do back there what I think you did? That was a fucking COP you hit, man. That is felony, felony, felony.”


  “It is maybe murder, murder, murder. We’re gonna have to play past that.”


  “Play past! You jive-ass drone, play past accessory to murder one of a cop?”


  “It wasn’t a cop I hit.”


  “It wasn’t? Didn’t look like no dog-catcher truck to me.”


  “It wasn’t a cop. It was a brother-in-law.”


  That stops him good. But just for a second, ’cause now he’s getting the idea that I’m either stoned, loony, or both. “Look, we are in a very bad spot here. If I was heat and Byszka called up on the radio I’d find this little road pretty quick. Let’s sit down under that tree and discuss. Me talk you listen.”


  “Okay. This is gonna be good, ’cause right now you’ve queered my whole thing here. They are gonna nail my ass.”


  “You haven’t done a goddamn thing that’s illegal. You drove up a road, saw two cars coming at you, and drove back down. Period. Unless they got freakier laws than I thought in Pennsylvania that does not constitute a felony and knowing me does not make you an accessory, an accomplice, a co-conspirator or mother’s little helper third-class.” Lieberman should be here to watch, I think.


  We sit down under the tree and Villegas takes his hand out of his pocket and, both out hands shaking, we light up cigarettes. I take a deep breath and jump in. “Four days ago I got busted. By that same cop. His name is Byszka. He takes me into the station with a key brick right in his hand but he doesn’t book me. Instead, this red-headed fat guy and some assistant goon with a gray crewcut take me to a motel and tell me they’re from the CIA and they want me to get you alone and kill you.”


  Villegas’s eyes just about come out of his face and in one motion he goes after his pocket and tries to scramble away from me. He winds up on his back facing downhill and waving that automatic at me. I almost pee in my pants, some last little bit of self-control stops it, but I just keep looking right at him and don’t move a muscle. “You’d be dead already if I wanted, y’know.” “Sit tight. Sit real tight man. I offed a lotta people in Nam and you’d just be one more.”


  “I saved your fucking life you dumb shit, now sit up and help me figure out how to keep both our asses away from the alligators!”


  A long second goes by and Villegas does something or other with the slide on the gun and puts it in his pocket. “Okay. Let’s talk fast.”


  “Good. Number one, we both got to disappear.”


  “Not that fast. Why do these people want to kill me?”


  “Good question. They think it’s an international conspiracy.”


  “To help the farm workers? To deal grass?”


  “No. I’d say to them it’s more.”


  “There isn’t any more.”


  “Does it matter?”


  “No, I guess it don’t matter, I just guess it don’t.”


  “I wouldn’t go trying to, ah, explain to anyone, you know.”


  “No, you’re right. Once they pick you, you’re guilty.”


  “Okay. So can you disappear?”


  He thinks. “I can get out of the state and there are people who’ll help me out.”


  “Good. People you trust?”


  “I never really had to trust them. I guess I’ll find out.”


  “I guess you will.”


  “Why did you do this for me?”


  “I don’t know. I never thought about it. There was only one way to go. I couldn’t imagine killing anybody.”


  “You may have killed that cop.”


  “That cop scared me. My body did the rest.”


  “Wow. Whatta fucked-up thing. The chingadon CIA.” “Okay. Here’s the hard part. I’m supposed to get them a body. Your body.”


  “Right, so now we need a body.”


  “Must be.”


  “Well man, I’m fresh out of bodies.”


  “Think.”


  “I’m followin’ you just fine. All Mexicans look alike. Now find a dead Mexican with my fingerprints and you’re out from under and to the CIA I’m dead.” “Somthing like that.”


  “You know I was in the service. They have my fingerprints, blood type, everything.”


  “Do you think these are CIA people?”


  “How do I know? Did they show you a badge? Did they show you anything a printer couldn’t make in half an hour?”


  “No. They showed me nothing. I take it back. They showed me their teeth.”


  “A lot of people got teeth, and most of them are showin’ ’em at somebody.”


  “Agreed. But these guys weren’t that bright.”


  “So how bright does the CIA make somebody?” “Who knows?”


  “So we got to go ‘as if’.”


  “Really. Can you think of any way to fix this?”


  “Well, assuming we can find a body, maybe we can burn it and mangle up the hands.”


  “What about the blood type?”


  “Nothing. Have to be the same, but I’m A-positive and that’s the most common.”


  “So where do we shop for bodies?”


  “Assuming we don’t want to make one, at the undertaker’s.”


  “Know anybody?”


  “Sure. I know Rivera, the guy that buries all the Chicanos in the valley.”


  “Okay. Let’s get to a phone and try it. If that cop is gonna wake up it might be soon and he’s gonna have an awful attitude behind this.”


  “Right. I’ll follow you.”


  “No, get on in. I can make better time. This is as good a place as any for that truck. Now I want you to lay down in the back. If somebody connects up with me, if somebody is watching me, you can’t be sitting up here.”


  “Okay” he says, walks away from his truck, and gives it a little pat goodby as he goes.


  We find a telephone by the state park entrance. From what I can make of Villegas’s side of the conversation, the undertaker isn’t all that upset about the request. Maybe there’s a fast market in dead bodies, I’ve never shopped for one before. But there’s a problem: if the beloved is going to be seen by his family, we can’t have him. Villegas puts his hand over the phone at one point and says “How much?”


  “A grand,” I answer. What’s the going price? I guess I’m high ’cause right away the guy is offering to call a friend, and he’ll call us right back. In ten minutes the phone rings. Villegas talks for a minute and hangs up. The friend has a cousin who’s holding a dead Puerto Rican, about Villegas’s age and height, killed in a motorcycle accident. It’s in Phillipsburg, New Jersey, and we have to pick it up. So it’s back on the road for four hours. Our description may be on every cop radio by now, but what the hell, we’re doing what we can. By 7:30 we’re at Montoya’s Funeral Parlor in Phillipsburg.


  The undertaker’s nephew, who’s about sixteen, shows us the stiff. He came in from the hospital two hours ago so he’s not ripe yet, and it promises, thank weather, to be a nice cool evening. There’s no way to find out blood type so we’ll just have to not think about that. This whole damn thing is so silly by now that Villegas and I are getting into it as a kind of practical joke. For one thing, the guy doesn’t look anything like Villegas, and he’s clean shaven. Villegas excuses himself and comes out of the bathroom with his mustache hairs clumped in his hand. The kid, who’s starting to giggle along with us by now, gets some rubber cement from a desk drawer and we more or less get the hairs glued back into the approximate shape of a mustache above the guy’s lip, except that one side sticks up and the other down, so now it looks like I’ve murdered the friendly old organ grinder with the monkey who, if you remember, is always drawn with one mustache north and one south. Some conversation with the kid and we throw in another 100 bucks and the kid drags the stiff down into the basement and blows a few holes in him with Villegas’ automatic. When the corpse returns, some places where the hospital sewed him up have popped undone, so he’s leaking from several points. The kid throws in a canvas bag, and the corpse and Villegas lay down in back and we’re on our way back to Pennsylvania.


  We drive for about an hour and Villegas says “Okay man, this is where I get out. Just put me down by the bus station in Bloomsburg.” I swing off the freeway and into town. A block before the bus station I pull into a MacDonald’s parking lot. Villegas says “I guess I got to thank you for what you did, but right now I’m a little crazy. I had a good lady back there and my friends and maybe a career. I don’t want to be no underground hero. That life sucks. I got all my money back in that town, and my cat and my VA checks and my courses I was gonna finish. I had a whole life, everything.”


  “You made waves, Anthony. You got to know about making waves.”


  “I thought that was in the game. Where it really said to me ‘don’t go here, don’t go there’ I didn’t go. Some of the younger kids in the valley, they wanted to do some evil shit, but I said no. I was into lawyers and civil rights and fair day’s pay. Some people on that campus called me a liberal, y’know?”


  “Somebody went to some trouble to get you killed. They might have found someone else. You coulda been dead.”


  “Yeah, so thanks. Can I ever get in touch with you?” “There’s a lawyer in New York named Tom Lieberman, who lives on the top floor of an old office building on 19th street and Eleventh Avenue. He’s an okay guy and you could leave a number with him. But as for his phone, or mail, I can’t say.”


  “Can’t use the telephone, can’t use the mail. Shit, I don’t know who they are, but they sure as hell got us in their movie. The paranoia express.”


  “Well, take care of yourself. Be careful. Maybe this will come out all right and you can go back and do your things.”


  “Yeah, I wish. Oh, one thing, uh . . .”


  “I got about four thousand bucks left right now, that’s with me here. I’ll give you two which should leave me enough to operate with. I gotta get this thing fixed pretty soon.” And I lift up the battery and thumb bills off the roll.


  “Thanks. I’ll get it back to you, or I could give it to this lawyer.”


  “That would be alright.”


  We shake hands hip-style for a bit and then he’s gone, moving toward the bus station.


  I come very close to tripping out in that parking lot. Everything that has happened for the past week I’ve played past, said “Okay that’s the way it is” and tried to go with the flow. But now, well, my mind sort of throws up. What in the fuck am I doing? My mistake has been staying in this. The minute Red and his ogre left the motel I shoulda taken Genelle and Robbie and split for Big Sur or Europe or somewhere. They might of come after me or they might not. But here I am instead with a Puerto Rican corpse with a Zapata mustache glued on him, and glued wrong yet, whose fingerprints and blood type and even a little tag on his toe—the kid at the undertaker’s had just barely noticed it and tom it off before we put him in his bag—say he is Victor Escobar of Newark, New Jersey. Am I seriously going to try to fool the United States of America’s Central Intelligence Agency with this silly scam? Am I now going to tell them where I am so they can roll out their squads of blue meanies after me?


  Way, way in the back of my brain, of course, the truth is rolling around, trying to get out of there and get noticed by someone who runs things around here. They stole my Yacht, they stole my 50,000 dollars, they drove one of my biggest customers underground, they made me sell the few things I had, they put me out of business and took away the closest thing I had to a family. I suddenly start to see it like a small businessman hassled by the government. Well, what does he do when this kind of thing happens? Usually something strange. A gesture. I can’t run and I can’t fight. I can’t join the John Birch Society or write furious letters to the newspaper. I can’t refuse to pay taxes I already don’t pay or sit in at the Small Business Administration offices in D.C. I can’t kid myself that delivering this corpse in the truck with me is going to resolve anything. And I realize that Lieberman got me back here, somehow. He didn’t tell me to go, but he made it the only possibility. Why? Well, he has a bit of the old acid prankster in him and I’m sure he’s curiouser ’n hell about what’s going on. But I can’t get too pissed off at him. I’ve survived by taking everybody at my value and never their own, which is probably the only way to survive, but you got to be one cold sonofabitch to do that. When trusting becomes a luxury, when it’s the one thing you can’t ever do, it’s like a Jones, a smack habit. And when the shit starts coming down, and it always does, sooner or later, you got to want to lean a little bit. I leaned on Lieberman.


  And got what I deserved. Someone else’s fantasy. Someone else’s trip. In someone else’s trip you never know what comes next, so your reflexes are down to zilch. If you’re gonna lay back and let it happen like a Tibetan monk, you damn well better be a Tibetan monk. I have to get back in control, have to get that console under my fingers so I can turn some dials and see which lights light up. So what’s the best way to do that? I decide to make a list, take a piece of paper out of the glove compartment and find a pen in my shirt pocket. I realize a second too late that I shouldn’t have unscrewed that pen and stop breathing and shut my eyes. But I didn’t have to bother, ’cause when I look down, a piece of paper has fanned out of the tip. It’s all kinds of colors and has stars and planets and asterisks all over it and in the middle, in big print, it says “Lie down and cry, you’ve just been teargassed.”


  That fucker! Suppose I’d tried to snap that thing in the face of some murderous goon! But it’s okay ’cause Lieberman, without intending to, has shown me one way out of this. I check the map, gas up, have the man look over the innards of the Chevy which he pronounces screwed up but functional. Five hours later I’m where I want to be.


  I get a grade-b Chinese dinner in Arlington and spend some time in a movie. It gets to be four in the morning and I take a little ride out to a subdivision east of the town and wind around those streets ’till I find Crestview Lane; there ain’t no crest to view anywhere I can see, but number twenty rolls up just like it should and I don’t hesitate. I crawl into the back, drag Villegas’ stand-in out of his bag, give his goofy mustache a pat and roll him onto Red Roosevelt’s lawn.


  



  “Today, many people are preparing for tomorrow, so that when tomorrow comes, they will be prepared.”


  Edward Hugh Roosevelt, Valedictorian Address, Washington and Lee High School, Arlington, Va. 1952


  



  I’m in New York by 9:00 in the morning and snatch four hours’ sleep in the back of the Chevy truck and by 1:30 I’m up and mad and beating on Lieberman’s door.


  “Thanks a lot, you shithead,” waving the pen and it’s message under his nose. “That’s what I get for twelve thousand dollars? Phony tear gas pens? If I was going to 'the electric chair you’d probably give me a pooh cushion.”


  “I didn’t know. I swear to you man, I didn’t know. I bought ten of these things off a freak kid I know. I just didn’t know.”


  “Wiggle, baby. You shoulda told me that. Playin’ God behind that desk. ‘Here kid, the answer to your prayers’.”


  “Okay, okay, what happened?”


  “I tried to use the pen and they killed me and I went to heaven and they sent me back here to sit in your office and call you a shithead forever.”


  “Look, let’s try some of the others,” and he brings a handful out of the desk drawer. The first two pop out the little paper but the third one sends us around the comer to a coffee shop to let the office air itself out. Lieberman’s face has big teary streaks down it and he’s wearing a terrycloth bathrobe, so we must look pretty strange to the longshoremen sitting over their coffees. “Tell me what happened,” sob, sob, “did you call the Dayton number?”


  “No. We bought a body. A thousand-dollar stiff. We got a kid to shoot it and I threw it on Roosevelt’s lawn in Arlington last night.”


  “What?”


  “And I took care of that cop Byszka.”


  “Oh Jesus Christ, I’m gonna be in court for years.” “I don’t know if I hurt him or not, but I sure busted up his rear end.”


  “You did what?”


  “The rear end of his car. I hit it with my truck.” “Which is parked outside my fucking office, no doubt.”


  “Unless someone stole it.”


  “That’d be too lucky right now.”


  “And Villegas is hiding.”


  “Villegas is at this moment staying in the apartment of an old girlfriend of mine in Brooklyn, and if I read body language correctly, they are gonna spend the day balling.” For making you love him after you got set on hating him, this Lieberman is outrageous.


  “What about his friends?”'


  “Never went. He didn’t want to get them in trouble. If you’re a good guy, the time you don’t use your friends is when you get in trouble.”


  “So maybe he gets you in trouble.”


  “I’m always in trouble. See that TV repair van across the street? Well, for two months those people have been following me. Maybe the FBI, maybe State Attorney General’s office, maybe the IRS, who knows?” I’m practically under the table at this point, except what’s under that table is worse than going to jail right now. Do you have any idea of what happens to a prune danish when it dies?


  “Don’t go running for the men’s room,” he says.


  “This has nothing to do with you. It’s the nature of my clients. They want to know what a bright young man like me is doing with all these dopers. Radical clients they understand, but now they think I’m into the hippie Mafia.”


  “So I’m on film, hah? And Villegas?”


  “Yup. I’d say so. Been going on for two months. Don’t know who they are and don’t know what they’re trying to prove.”


  “Blech.”


  “See that longhair holding up a utility pole?” “Un-huh.”


  “That’s my friend Ernie. Ernie’s been trying to follow ’em home and see what office building they go into. But they keep going to a warehouse in Brooklyn. One day soon, Ernie’s gonna catch ’em.”


  “They follow you, Ernie follows them.”


  “Yup. What you gonna do now?”


  “Punt. Shit, I don’t know.”


  “Want a piece of lawyerly advice?”


  “Okay.”


  “Find yourself a hole and crawl into it. Get off your beaten track completely. And make it up to Times Square and get the Arlington Herald. If nothin’s there, maybe your bait got took.”


  “Can I go up to that camp where Genelle is?”


  “You keep away from there, goddamit. You’re pure poison just now.”


  “What if I went to Africa, or Europe?”


  “I thought about this. New York is where you can hide best. You’ll stick out like a sore thumb over there. X number of Americans in Paris, it’s no big thing to find one of them. Here you’re just another guy with black curly hair. You might just get lost for a few days.”


  “How long?”


  “That I can’t say. Oh by the way, you owe me 2,000 bucks. I found a guy in D.C. who handles the medical and pension plans for certain federal agencies. The two is his price.”


  “Okay. I’ll send you a money order. I got to go to the bank. I’m living off my principal right now.”


  “So get a job.”


  “Some day I’ll tell you that. Once you’re self-employed, working for somebody else sucks. And I don’t think I can get unemployment insurance.”


  “Well, I suppose the place has aired out by now. Sorry about that.”


  “Forget it. If you ever see the guy who sold you the stuff let me know. I can put my hands on a little something that guarantees 48 hours of pure mean bummer. That’s what karma he earned this week, I’ll just be the Lord’s avenging hand.”


  “Okay. Take care of yourself. Let me know where you are.”


  I leave, and I’m about to call Henrietta, when, like Ford, I get a better idea.


  Like all my ideas lately, this one requires a visit to Manufacturers Hanover and my ten-year safe deposit box. Christ, what I wouldn’t give to move that money about twenty feet from my iron box into their computer. I scoop another two thousand worth of yolk from the nest egg and get a cab uptown to 96th street after parking the truck in a garage.


  Leon is into some very protected dealing set-up, ’cause I always see some familiar face going into or coming out of his apartment—faces from magazines and TV and election posters. Here is where the elite score. I did Leon a favor a long time ago, so he gives me cut-rate prices on the kind of dope that only comes into the country in diplomatic attache cases. One hundred bucks for two spoons of righteous cocaine is a good market price in New York. This is top-of-the-line dealing. The college stuff that I do is one level, high school people are another, and last, meanest and craziest is the plain old street, where I’m about to market the coke for a little safety.


  A cab takes me to Nutty Joey’s, a juice bar. A juice bar doesn’t sell juice, it sells decor and walls. The decor, mirrors and whorehouse-red satin, and booths of the best Naugahyde, attract people too young to get into bars. They have Led Zeppelin-type rock on the juke box and people sort of dance—most of ’em are so high they are gyrating to some special little stoned rhythm inside their head, but the music playing while they twitch makes it dancing. The walls keep out curious eyes, ’cause here is where the drugstore fruit salad is really king, and dealers with bad shit can always turn it in a juice bar, a pill at a time for 50 cents or a buck ’cause these aren’t the kids with money. This is, to say it right out, working class underage freakdom, and for political or economic or chemical or whatever reasons, they are buying the margarine, the soybean burgers, the chicken backs and necks, the low end of the dope spectrum: Quaaludes, homemade methedrine with just a few impurities, acid that’s really animal tranquilizers, mescaline laced with strychnine (a terrific backache after your trip), hash that’s 70% Cana, a Moroccan cosmetic that the farmers there have long since learned they can sell to Americans, Methadone that’s been smuggled out of some clinic in a junky’s mouth, balloonsfull of glass-icer that the kids’ parents don’t keep in the house any more (you inhale from the balloon, slowly, or you ice your lungs and they decide not to work for an hour), Nembutols, Tuinals, phenobarbitols, little bottles of Paregoric that smack addicts use to kill the pain by injecting. So here’s where I can turn my two spoons of coke, and lovely coke it is, to excellent advantage.


  It’s dark in there, though half the people are wearing shades of some sort, and I grope my way to an empty booth. It’s nine, real early juice-bar time, but there’s plenty of people hanging out. A tall dude in a fur vest cruises by and flashes a handful of Sopors at me. I wave him off, but not unfriendly-like. A fat chick wants to know if the booth is taken. I say it is. Ah, here it comes, I’d say about seventeen, not too skinny but working on it, with straight-up little tits under a white sweater with about a million tiny little buttons on it, good legs and a tight rear in black shorts. Her face looms up out of the haze: straight hair in long loops everywhere, firm cheekbones, a clipped-off nose and tiny mouth bent in a downwards bow, complexion not too messy, maybe a little the color of New York’s air on a bad day, a mixture of dead white with lead overtones. Slight remnant of a recent acne battle, which the face won, this time.


  “ ’n I sit?”


  “Yeah.”


  “ ’Tsearly ”


  “Yeah.”


  “Meet anybody?”


  “Unh-uh.”


  “I been in three places tonight.”


  “Mmmmm?”


  “Yeah.”


  “Mmm.”


  “ ’Tsa hassle.”


  “Really.”


  “You’re older.”


  “A little.”


  “Kids in here.”


  “Yeah, mostly.”


  “You heat?”


  “No way.”


  “You ain’t tripping?”


  “No, I’m high though.”


  “Yeah?”


  “Yeah.”


  “On what?”


  “Good coke.”


  “Oh, sure.”


  “Really.”


  “Yeah, Coca-cola maybe.”


  “Want a hit?”


  “Sure.”


  I unlimber my plastic Bufferin bottle and in my lap roll up a new ten dollar bill into a tight tube. I get a pinch on the skin between thumb and forefinger and say “Come over next to me.” I’ve got my eye on the two enormous bouncer/enforcer types, but all I can see is size 91 back, yards of it. She slides in next to me and her hip slides just next to mine, touching, but not pushing. She bends her head, presses her left nostril closed with her finger, and with her other hand closed around mine on the rolled-up bill, snuffles up about 8 bucks right there. Cocaine is a rich man’s pleasure. She says “Faaaar out.”


  “Nice?”


  “Dynamite.”


  We watch the bodies bang into each other for a few minutes.


  “I got a couple spoons of this.”


  “I ain’t got any bread man, except to get home.” “That’s okay. We could do it up. But I wanna go somewhere private.”


  “We could go to Forest Hills.”


  “What’s there?”


  “My aunt’s apartment. But she’s in Vegas. I usedta live in Springfield, Mass., but now I live there.”


  “Sounds good.”


  “Don’t go away.” And she gets up and vanishes into the crowd, appearing again in a few seconds with another girl, this one maybe fifteen, if she’s seventeen, or sixteen if she’s eighteen. The face is broader and the hair dyed blonde. She’s a lot more solid up top and in the rear, maybe fat, I can’t tell, and her mouth isn’t so sulky, it’s wide and full and might even laugh if you said the right thing. She’s wearing the same outfit as her sister.


  “This is Mona, my sister; I’m Francine.”


  “Hi, I’m Howard.”


  “We’re gonna take him home. He’s got some fantastic shit.”


  “Far out.”


  We hit the street and there’s a huge crowd out front now, all the styles and all the looks and all the postures.


  They walk on either side of me, both about five feet six, though I don’t think Mona has stopped growing yet. Francine says “We gotta getta subway.”


  “That’s okay,” I say, ’cause a cab is letting someone out on the comer and, after a brief chase, we get in. Francine says “One hundred and eighty-seventh street and twenty-seventh avenue in Queens, please,” in her best talking-to-the-cabdriver voice.


  “I don’t go to Queens,” says the cabbie, a grizzled oldtimer.


  “Be a sport,” I say, “ten bucks over the meter.”


  “I’m goin’ off duty.”


  “Fifteen and I don’t give your number to the Hack Bureau.”


  “I got no pressure in the brakes; I got to go back to the garage.”


  “Twenty and I don’t call your boss and tell him you didn’t throw the flag.”


  “Long Island Expressway or 59th Street Bridge?” he says, starting the meter.


  My new home is four rooms, swollen with drapes and carpets, really a motel room that grew, an awful shade of lime green everywhere. Knickknacks all over the place. But it has air-conditioning that’s been on cold for a while and it’s on the ninth floor so nobody can look in the window, if they could ever see past those drapes. A cozy little nest. “Find me here, you bastards” I think. I’ve got to play this right. The way I feel now I’d fuck a snake if somebody’d hold its head, but I’ve got to get into being a plain old house guest at least until Auntie gets back, so I’m gonna feed these two the best dope they ever had, for a week or so, and then stick my nose out and see if something bites it off. Everyone goes to the bathroom, and Francine produces three big green-tinted glasses of what she says is Diet Pepsi, and a half box of Loma Doones. On go both the television, sound off, and an AM radio, sound on, playing a Cat Stevens song. I sit on the floor and Francine and Mona sit on the couch, kind of like the sisters in Gone with the Wind or something, being courted by the Colonel, suh. Which I suppose I am, in a way.


  The girls don’t own a coke spoon, but Auntie has a set of measuring spoons and we use the tiniest one and hit each nostril twice, and pretty good. The radio has got wicked little box speakers at either end of a bookcase which carries six or seven Reader’s Digest Condensed Books and a bunch of phony porcelain lords and ladies and little boys fishing—and the Grateful Dead song, “Uncle John’s Band,” played through tumed-up treble and turned-down base, is now banging around the walls. The coke has completely cooled me out. I’m the King of the Ice Palace, and every object in my life is seen at its proper distance: far, far, far away. It’s a very scientific high, draining the subjective heat out and hardening the lines of both pleasures and pains—whatever you got right then. I don’t rush exactly, but I do somehow get up above things far enough so that once again I’m the ant in the timeless, spaceless, universe/void. How can the King of the Ice Palace be the Universal Ant? Here’s how: Schn-u-u-u-rp, and schn-u-u-u-rp and away we go again. My eyes are closed, and on the lids my little men are projecting slo-mo replays of the last week: Villegas waving his automatic, Byszka’s car rebounding from the impact, the dope tumbling into the mountain meadow, Genelle putting on her wig, Roosevelt in the motel, Sister Mary Metaphor offering a granola/hash cookie, Robbie with his plastic machine gun, Lieberman trying to back away from the sputtering tear-gas pen. That’s enough of that, and I open my eyes and the Dead are about six bars further along into “Uncle John’s Band.”


  “Oh the first days are the hardest days don’t you worry any more ’Cause when life looks like easy street there is danger at your door.


  Think this through with me let me know your mind Oh, oh what I want to know is are you kind”


  Acoustic Dead, harmonizing their best, guitars pinging away underneath, on and off the rhythm, reasoning with anybody who’ll listen or the whole world. Now comes that little squeaky percussion thing in the background, in and out it goes, and in and . . . hmmmmm, I’m looking right at an ankle and that ankle is bobbing, well, restlessly, up and down, up and down. Attached to it is Mona, the younger girl, and when I meet her eyes she gives me one very high smile, comers of her mouth heading right through the ceiling and out into the Forest Hills night. Her eyes drift away, and I follow them to the television. Yeeks, it’s one of those Japanese horror films, one of the really bad ones, where you can see the zippers on the monsters.


  “Hey,” says Francine, “this shit is outrageous.” “Yeah,” says Mona, “outrageous.”


  “I got lots.”


  “Wow,” says Francine.


  The sisters exchange a look. Francine says “My sister has an incredible body.”


  “Yeah,” I say.


  “Like you don’t know.”


  “Looks fine.”


  “Yeah, it’s fine. Fine little thing.”


  “Uh-huh.”


  Mona smiles at me again, and brushes some hair back. Francine says “We have these, like, beauty contests.”


  “Yeah?”


  “Yeah.”


  “Her body is just so fine.”


  “Yeah.”


  “She wins the contests, not always, but she wins ’em.”


  “Who has the contest?”


  “Just her and me, man, we have the contest.”


  “Who’s a judge?”


  “She’s a judge and I’m a judge and you’re a judge and here comes the judge.” And we all laugh, a very tight laugh. There’s enough static electricity in this room to light the whole city of Denver for six months. The walls are swelling.


  “I’m a judge?”


  “Sure. Just like Bert Parks at A’lantic City.”


  “Here she comes, Ms Am-e-r-r-r-i-ca,” I try to sing, but my nose is so dried out it comes out more like a croak. Mona gets up, and with head held high, tits stuck out and bottom tucked in, walks slowly to the end of the room, turns, pauses in a fashion model still-life, hands spread out and face at a three-quarter exposure, and then she walks back and stands in the same pose.


  “Ya-a-a-y” says Francine and claps her hands. Mona tilts her head royally in acknowledgment. Then Francine gets up and walks over to her sister. She makes a fist under her chin, and I can see the phantom microphone she’s holding. She turns toward me, “Here she is folks, Miss Mona Rennick.”


  “Ya-a-a-y” I say, clapping lightly.


  “Miss Mona, do you think you can be number one?” “Maybe.”


  “She’s Miss America,” says Francine, and one hand still in the microphone pose, she starts unbuttoning all the little buttons on the front of her sister’s sweater.


  Mona is standing completely still, eyes wide in her pose, and smiling right into my brain. As the V opens, a little wider every second, I feel myself start to rush like crazy and I almost have to close my eyes. Almost but not quite. Mona dips her shoulders and off comes the sweater. Her tits are heavy, cantaloupes, but she’s fifteen and they are still standing proud.


  “Look, America,” says Francine, “aren’t they far out?” and she holds first one and then the other with her free hand. From six feet away I can see Mona’s nipples harden tight. With one hand Francine turns her around by the shoulder. She has a good sunburned back, broad across the shoulders and wide at the hips, swelling over the top of her shorts. Francine walks around her and stands directly in front, looking at me above her sister’s right shoulder. Her head is practically resting on the shoulder and she can’t be more than an inch away.


  “Miss America,” says Francine, “you’re stoned.” Mona laughs and shakes her blond hair yes. Then her body involuntarily jumps and simultaneously I hear the snick of an undone snap. “And here is Miss America,” says Francine and puts both her hands around Mona’s waist and lowers her shorts to her ankles. That ass I thought was fat, isn’t. It’s full and round and bursting through the back of red bikini underpants. Mona daintily lifts one foot and then kicks the other and the shorts go flying into the kitchenette. She’s still in her fashion pose, but I can see her back moving with her breathing and her ass is clenched, muscles holding it in a tight curve. Francine gets down on her knees and walks over to me across the carpet. Following her with my eyes, I suddenly notice the TV screen, where the Japanese Army is firing tracer bullets into a kind of Gila monster with an ape’s face. The thing shakes its head in rage and flaps its claws about furiously. The sound is off but I imagine it’s roaring pretty good. Francine gets about a foot away from me and leans way over so that her whole face is in my vision. I can see the blusher makeup on her cheeks and green shadow on her eyelids. She smiles at me real slow, not a ‘hello-there!’ smile like her sister’s, but a thin, witchy smile. Then her lips brush mine, I taste a little Diet Pepsi, and she draws back real slow and says “You’re far out.” I just smile.


  Quickly she turns around and walks on her knees back to her sister, stopping this time directly behind her. She turns her head over her shoulder and says, “What do you think of Miss America?”


  “I think Miss America is fine.”


  “Clap for Miss America.”


  And I clap, but slowly and not in rhythm, and she turns her head casually to the left, moving in slow motion now, and reaching up and peeling her lips back, she takes the middle of the top hem of her sister’s red underpants between her front four teeth and pauses. A rocket goes off inside my head and the whole scene changes color right through the spectrum. The underpants are red, then purple, then blue-black, then suddenly white, then yellow, then orange, and back to red. Francine sings through her closed teeth and red nylon: “Here thee ith, Mith Amer-r-r-r-caaa.” And slowly begins lowering her whole head, and her sister’s round ass, white against her sunburn, comes rolling out at me. Her muscles are still taut, but the cleft, now just thinnest of dark lines, looks incredibly deep. Francine keeps on going until she is at knee level, opens her teeth and the panties go the rest of the way by themselves.


  I’m still clapping but now I stop, ’cause Mona kicks her panties away and the motion sets off a new round of flares behind my eyes. Francine stands and moves in front of her sister and with two hands on her shoulders, pushes her down so that she is upright on her knees. My mind flattens against the back of my skull and there isn’t room for anything but what I’m looking at.


  “And now,” says Francine, her voice harsh and missing a little, “Miss America will receive her prize and she will be queen for all night.” She kneels facing her sister, who spreads her knees apart a few inches, and I can see Francine’s fingers start to move, rubbing gently, between her sister’s thighs. Then with her other hand she presses Mona’s back so that she’s on hands and knees, and says “Come on over here Bert Parks and give Miss America her prize,” and with both hands, spreads the whole thing apart.


  I squirm out of my clothes, and knee-walk over to the girls. I can feel the acrylic pile in that carpeting burning my skin and out of the comer of my eye I see the Gila ape taking huge strides and the Japanese soldiers abandoning their machine guns and fleeing in panic, watching terrified, over their shoulders, as the monster strips trees from the hill and hurls them into the sky. Then I’m next to Mona and Francine and they are breathing very hard and even in the air conditioning there is a light sweat on Mona’s back. Francine keeps her fingers moving and I can feel them pause against me as I slide in. With her other hand, she is undoing her own sweater and her eyes are fastened on her sister’s face.


  One minute she’s with me, the next with Mona, then with both, then herself. My vision starts to red-out at the edges, like the blood inside me is washing back into my brain on the outstroke and slamming against the inside of my head on the instroke only to turn around like a tide and flow out again in waves. This must be the coke, I tell myself, giving me play-by-play on all the chemistry and machinery roaring around my body, but nothing helps, and before I reach some unknown point where I’m sure I’m gonna sail right out of my body into zero-time, I come like a bandit, with a loud growl. Francine and Mona, quick to follow, make their own growls and the threesome collapses sideways right in front of the TV screen. I’m fighting for breath but I see in front of my nose the Monster, thrashing about in the Sea of Japan with huge billows of steam pouring off the surface. “That’s okay,” I think, “if you set the big fucker on fire, throw him into the sea to cool off.”


  We spend the next three days together. The couch in front of the television folds out and with TV and radio and bed and three human bodies attemping to get their holes, fingers and protrusions into new combinations, time passes easily. By telephone, I make arrangments with a Chinese restaurant on Queens Boulevard and a smiling waiter appears five times each day with dynamite Szechuan dishes, one pepperier than the next. For a ten-dollar tip, he is pleased to deliver. The chef, given a free hand, sends whatever he likes that day, and he’s got a touch and a half. By the end of the third day, as a matter of fact, cunts, tits and assholes are getting a whole lot less interesting than shrimp, chicken and pork. Also, the money flowing out reminds me that I’ve got to get some things settled so I can take up my old life again. So I leave Francine and Mona and, a little wobbly on my feet, find a telephone booth. Lieberman answers right away.


  “Hi there. Been stashed?”


  “Very.”


  “I’ve been grilling Villegas but he swears the worst things he’s done are agitate the local labor and deal dope.”


  “Is your phone cool?”


  “Had it swept this morning and it’s fine. My friends in the TV truck are still out there, however, so don’t come visiting if you don’t want your picture taken.”


  “I ain’t photogenic.”


  “I did some work for you, by the way. I’m reading from Friday’s Arlington Herald:


  A body was found on the lawn of Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Noonan, 20 Crestview Lane, early Thursday morning by a driver from the Lazzeri Refuse Disposal Company. The body, according to Arlington police, is that of a male, about 30 years old, possibly of Latin origin. The body remains unidentified and persons with information should contact Sgt. Roy Lewis of the Arlington Police.


  Mr. Noonan, an employee of NASA in Washington D.C. told reporters he had never seen the person before. Mr. Noonan said, “I’m dealing with the granting of federal contracts, perhaps this is a warning of some kind.”


  “Hmmmm,” I say.


  “I checked Roosevelt’s address with the information operator. He moved about six months ago.”


  “I got that information about 20 Crestview Lane from a friend at the Welfare Department. So six-month old stuff is about right, or maybe he hasn’t told the Motor Vehicle Bureau that he moved.”


  “Also, my friend in D.C. came through. There’s bad news and there’s good news.”


  “Gimme the bad first.”


  “Okay, Edward Hugh Roosevelt is an employee of the Central Intelligence Agency.”


  I feel my knees start to wobble, and I put out a hand to keep myself from sliding down the side of the phone booth like a snail.


  “Want the good news?”


  “Go ahead, but I don’t see how good it can be after that.”


  “Mr. Roosevelt is employed as a dietitian. He runs the employees’ cafeteria.”


  “WHAT?”


  “Sure man, the oldest story in the world. Being next to it wasn’t enough for him. He just had to be one of the boys.”


  “And the other one? Clyde Moss?”


  “Nothing.”


  “So what the fuck is going on? Did Villegas sell bad hamburger to the CIA?”


  “I’m pretty sure Roosevelt doesn’t represent the CIA.”


  “So who?”


  “Well, he wasn’t after any money on your end, unless he and Byszka were plotting to steal your fifty thou. That could be. But why on earth send you out to kill somebody and give you a gun to do it with? Why use his real name? Why not just hold you up beside the highway? I got one theory, Roosevelt has to be getting paid on the other end, or it’s political.”


  “Political?”


  “Crazies, left, right, or center.”


  “Birchers?”


  “Oh, this is a little too hairy for them. Have to be farther out yet.”


  “So where is it?”


  “Has Genelle been on your out-of-town trips for long?”


  “About eight months.”


  “And she lives in the East Village? Lives there regularly?”


  “Yes.”


  “Were you living anywhere in the last, say, six months on a steady basis?”


  “No, I live here and there. But I’d been staying with Genelle on and off.”


  “And when you came back into town with your trailer, that’s where you went?”


  “Pretty much.”


  “You got to go back there.”


  “Fuck no.” _


  “That’s where they picked you up. I’ll bet on it. And you got to hang around there until somebody tries to contact you and then we’ll bust ’em.”


  “Get serious, man, they’ll kill me. It happens every day in New York, the cops won’t even notice.”


  “You need protection.”


  “I need to catch the first flight for Paris.”


  “On what money?”


  “I’m holding.”


  “Don’t shit yourself, friend, you’ll be broke in three years, then what?”


  “I’ll go back to school.”


  “In a pig’s ass. You won’t be a free man until this gets worked out, and you know it.”


  “Or, you are the most curious sonofabitch in the city.”


  “Yeah, curious enough to find out about Roosevelt and your screwed-up corpse trip. You’re gonna have to trust somebody, your attorney is a good place to start.” “Okay, okay, what do I do.”


  “You’ll see a guy hanging around. Big guy, brown hair, about forty, wears sport shirts and slacks. He looks like heat, that’s ’cause he’s a former NYPD detective. Name’s Charley McGrath. You should get to Genelle’s about five tonight and he’ll be around and you’ll be paying him $150 a day and expenses to keep your ass out of a sling.”


  “Jesus Christ. You think I’m made of money?”


  “I think you’re make of snips and snails and puppy dogs’ tails, and healthy respect for the flesh.”


  “Goddamit Lieberman, I’m never sure if you’re getting me in trouble or getting me out of it.”


  “That makes two of us buddy, bye-bye,” and he hangs up quick before I can say anything, before I can tell him why I can’t go.


  So I go.


  



  "Everybody talks about death, but nobody does anything about it.”


  Grover Dill


  



  At five-thirty I enter Genelle’s apartment. It’s hot, and somehow oily dirt has managed to ooze in under the locked (and barred, and gated, and chained) windows and spread itself around. It also makes me a little crazy being around all her stuff and Robbie’s, seeing presents I gave her, and smelling her perfume in the bathroom. I flash a picture of her up in the Adirondacks somewhere, a coach’s whistle bouncing against those nice firm tits across which is written on a T-shirt: Camp Ti-Ti-Ga-Wa. What felt like an over-complicated life sure looks tasty now, Genelle sitting in the front seat of the Yacht and making sandwiches and Robbie watching the tube in the back.


  I peer through the window and don’t see anybody that looks like my expensive detective. There’s a crowd of fat ladies on the comer, which, depending on who they are slandering, looks either up, or down, the block. There’s lots of kids, all colors and ages, tearing an abandoned car apart. There’s one or two beautiful women walking through all that dogshit and garbage in the street, too goddamn good-looking to live in all this. Way down the block I can see a junky stealing an attache case from a new Buick Rivera and there’s a gang of folks playing conga drums and smoking dope on one of the stoops. Across the street a small guy with black hair and a gray summer suit is strolling along, eating what could be a pastrami sandwich. And there’s one old man in a canvas chair on the sidewalk, reading La Prensa and smoking a twisted cigar and ignoring the whole fucking circus. Him I admire.


  I rummage around for something to eat, find a can of tuna fish in the cupboard and a frozen bagel in the refrigerator. This makes something like a sandwich, a Jewish-Catholic sandwich. Genelle’s folks are French Catholic, from Lafayette, Louisiana, originally. What is my head doing to me?


  I finish eating and check the window again. The same action is going down, except the old man has gone inside, the ladies have moved about five feet just by shifting around in their conversation, the junky has disappeared, and the guy in the gray summer suit is now walking up the other side of the street at half-speed, eating an ice-cream cone.


  EEK!


  Right away I dial Lieberman, but he doesn’t answer. I find a kitchen knife that fits in my pocket and go downstairs into the lobby and hide behind a very pissed-on drape. Gray-suit swings by and ever so casually glances up, could well be at Genelle’s window, from my angle I can’t be sure. He!s about five feet six, real heavy beard shadow, tight black curly hair cut short, wearing a T-shirt underneath an orange silk sport shirt, with little black chest curls crawling over the top. He holds himself like an ugly guy at a dance in Brooklyn in the fifties—scared shitless but sticking his hands in his pockets to prove he ain’t. He’s in his late twenties somewhere, with hunchy shoulders from hanging out on street corners. I don’t know him personally but I know his type: the Neighborhood Creep, the guy whose profession is hanging around, preferably with people he idolizes, the guy the other guys tell their old ladies they’re with when they’re balling some chick. For this service they let him buy them a beer from time to time. I run back upstairs, telling myself that I’m bum-tripping myself.


  I watch a little TV, mostly summer reruns of stuff I’ve seen, and twist the dial and smoke cigarettes a lot. Five minutes short of the hour I promised myself I’d wait, I’m back at the window. The only thing that’s changed is now he’s eating a knish in a piece of wax paper. I have two questions: 1. Where’s he getting it? and 2. Where’s he putting it? All I can think of is running down into the street, finding my goof-off private eye, and firing him on the spot.


  At 2:00 a.m. I finally connect with Lieberman. “Life-Isn’t-A-Fountain Foundation” he answers the phone.


  “Lieberman?”


  “Some men call me that.”


  “Oh Jesus, are you stoned?”


  “Who me?”


  “Look, this is me.”


  “How nice to hear from you. This is me.”


  “This is ME, ME.”


  “The Maharishi believes you are holding too much ego. That’ll be fifty bucks please.”


  “Will you stop rapping off me and listen? Did you hire an Irish detective, or a Sicilian hit man?”


  “Oh, it’s you. Why did you say it’s me when it was you all the time?”


  “Where is my fucking detective? I got a creep hanging around and I think he’s gonna put a fuckin’ icepick in me unless somebody does something.”


  “Ah-HAH, the thot plickens.”


  “Did you really hire that guy or is this another one of your tear-gas pencil pranks?”


  “He’s there, don’t worry about that. He comes highly recommended, does McGrath. I suspect he’s following instructions, which are stay out of sight and put a tag on anybody who looks like a tag on you.”


  “Why?”


  “To find out who’s either at the top, the bottom, the middle, or any other place in this. Now cool it and lay back. This’ll happen just like nature, as the laxative people say.”


  “Are you in tomorrow?”


  “Tomorrow is a great television day. I will be home, in a state of highly altered consciousness, watching Laurel and Hardy with a young lady I know. That is the agenda for tomorrow. Now goodnight, Chet,” and he hangs up.


  What I get isn’t sleep. It’s rolling left and right, and left, and getting up and looking out the window. Jesus, the things that go down on that block after dark! Sometimes the creep is around, sometimes he isn’t. But by nine the next morning, when I decide to quit rolling and get dressed, he’s sitting in a beat-up red VW right across the street and drinking coffee from a paper cup. He’s got a sharp Adam’s apple which is in the act of bobbing up and down, my guess would be to slam home the remains of a pizza.


  I eat a few handfuls of Grape Nuts for breakfast and chase that with a cup of Oolong tea that Genelle keeps around—she’s a sucker for the tea rack in the market— and call Lieberman again.


  “Hello,” I say, “this is me again.”


  “Did I talk to you last night?”


  “You sure did.”


  “You don’t say? What did we talk about?”


  “We talked about money paid out for a phantom private eye.”


  “Oh, he’s around, you just aren’t helping him any.” “For $150 a day I’m supposed to help him?”


  “C’mon man. Why don’t you take a walk or a ride and see what happens?”


  “You are stoned. And worse, you are crazy. I’m gonna get under the bed. You should see this guy. I don’t even want to know what he thinks about.”


  “Well, if you went out, hypothetically speaking, and lost him, we would know if he telephones somebody, goes somewhere, or heads back to Genelle’s, right? If he’s operating alone, we can pick him off somehow, get him busted, I’ll think of something bright. If he goes somewhere, we’re in the end zone.”


  “Tom, I’ve been watching this goddamn street all night. And I haven’t seen anything resembling the guy you told me about. I don’t believe he’s here. I swear it. He’s goofing off somewhere, or on another case, or something, but he is not following the creep.”


  “Okay, tell you what I’m gonna do. I’m gonna come down there and find him and then I’m gonna call you from a payphone and tell you to take a little trip. Is that okay? I hope it is, ’cause I am gonna cancel a very nice afternoon to do this, and I hope you remember that when the bill comes in.”


  “Good. That sounds good. What are you driving, just so I know?”


  “An MGB, dark green, with the top down. I’ll be very visible.”


  “Okay. I hope this detective has wheels, you better tell me that too, ’cause I’ll feel a lot safer in a cab.” “Good. Talk to you in an hour.”


  Eighty minutes of thumb-twiddling later the phone rings.


  “Jesus, you ever try to find a working payphone down here?”


  “Well?”


  “Okay, I saw McGrath. He’s up on a roof. He’s driving a telephone van. I’m gonna stick around and watch the action. So if something happens, I shouldn’t be too far behind that telephone van.”


  “See you later.”


  I put away the kitchen knife and find a beer can opener that fits a little better in my pocket. Genelle has a whetstone hanging on the wall and I hone down the edges of the church-key until it’s good and sharp. If someone hassles me I’m gonna tear him a new face ’cause I just hate to be scared.


  I go downstairs and start walking east. In a plate glass window I see the VW edge out and come chugging along at less than walking speed. Just then a cab cruises by and I flag him down and get in. The driver is a huge black guy, with a big gray afro, and smoking an outrageous cigar. “Where to?” he says.


  “I feel like seeing the sights. How about St. Pat’s Cathedral for beginners?”


  “It’s your money,” he says and slaps down the meter and away we go.


  At just under taxi hurtling speed, we zip crosstown to lower Madison Avenue, and I slide around in the back seat until I can get, by seeming to be tired and sort of slumping down, a good angle in the side-view mirror. This driver is enjoying himself, it’s mid-morning and the lights are set for twenty-six m.p.h., and he’s humming away to himself around that cigar, more a rhythm than a tune, “Ruh, ruh,—ruh, ruh,—ru-u-u-u-h, RUH,” and as we slide around busses and tourists with white knuckles clutching their steering wheels, he always moves out on a ‘ruh-ruh,’ sweeps by on ‘ru-u-u-u-u-u-h’ and cuts back in on ‘RUH.’


  "In the mirror I can see a red VW clunking away through traffic, usually hanging half a block back and at forty-five degrees off our left rear bumper. Way back, I get a glimpse of the flat front of a white GMC telephone van, but that’s all I can make out. No sign of Lieberman. At 38th Street, the VW suddenly pulls up on our left and the creep looks over at me for a long second. I see he’s got one eyebrow running directly across his forehead, and his mouth is open: it’s the kind of face where the mouth is always stuck open. He drops back again to his quartering position and a shiver runs through me. My eyes meet the driver’s for an instant in his rear-view mirror and he says “Cost you 20 for me to shake that guy.”


  “You got it,” I say, feeling vulnerable as hell all of a sudden.


  “Oh, I had guys like you in the car, ain’t nuthin’ new to me. You fuckin’ somebody’s old lady or somebody fuckin’ your old lady and somebody goes on out and hires hisself some private fuzz. Or gets a guy and says ‘you beat the shit outa this guy and I’ll pay you 500— move over fool—and pretty soon everybody’s into it, yeah, they get right down into it. Where’s that 20?”


  I float it into the front seat and he glances at it and lets it lay, like in a poker game.


  He ‘ruh-ruh’s’ right on past the turn for St. Pat’s and we’re in the sixties by now. All the fairies are up and out with their silky Afghans and the early art gallery people are gathered here and there in knots tattling with each other.


  “Yeah,” he says, “I got married a coupla times. I was just a kid. Jesus! What them women put me through. One day this old man tells me, ‘Son, sometime the screwin’ you givin’, ain’t worth the screwin’ you get-tin'. So I spent a few years in Detroit. Growed up some. I’ll tell you this, I ain’t done any marryin’ since then. Okay let’s us lose this fool.” He tromps on the gas pedal and lays the cab over into 69th Street. I get a flash of a blue-haired old lady jumping back onto the sidewalk and a second later, attached by a leash, a Schnauser sails upward and lands by her feet. Like ran-nin’ a movie backwards. I hear a powerful lot of squealing tires and some infuriated honking going on behind us, can stand it no longer, and stick my head out the window to watch the pursuit. The old lady is now back-pedaling from the curb and that Schnauser is right behind her heels, skittering away from her feet but trying to keep her between it and the action. And the action is furious. The VW corners okay, but here comes the telephone van right up behind it, its boxy body swaying with the turn; right up on its tail is Lieberman, wearing a cowboy hat and sliding the MGB around the comer like it was Watkins Glen or something. I’m just about to stick my head back inside when, holy-moly, I see behind the MGB that TV repair truck, rear end swinging as it takes the comer, and lo and behold there’s Ernie, the longhair Lieberman hired to tag his tag and discover its source, on a big hairy Norton Atlas coming along after. Great.


  The driver has watched all this in his mirror and about the middle of the block that twenty comes sailing back over the seat and he says “This ain’t no divorce. What’d you get me into? Half the fuckin’ city wants to talk to you. Where’d you say you were gettin’ out?” I look in the mirror and the VW is tailing us hard now and I can make out that he’s driving left handed and his right hand is inside his jacket pocket. I grab up a wad of bills from my pocket and fling them over the seat, “That guy’s gonna shoot me, man. Do something!”


  Now he’s muttering around that cigar, which is standing up at a high angle, like a tail on an excited cat. “You, mumble, mumble, muh-fuh, mumble mumble, som-bitch, mumble, how much on that seat right now?” I hang over the seat and there’s 3 twenties, a ten, and a pack of singles, “About a hundred bucks.”


  “Hang on,” he says and the cigar rises another halfinch. He plows that cab into Fifth Avenue, scattering a bunch of ladies with white hats wearing carnations on their lapels. The rest of the gang follows right along, scree! scree! screeee-uhhh! (that’s Tom) scree, and the Norton gears down and takes the turn with peg brushing along the street. The cab turns again, into 64th Street and this time we go to Park Avenue and turn right, headed downtown. When I turn around, we’ve still got all our inventory. Park Avenue runs both ways, north and south, and in the middle of the street is an island, which has flowers in the spring, lighted Christmas trees in the winter, and bushes the rest of the year, courtesy of the Park Avenue Improvement Association. So we go down to 62nd, and after the whole procession stops for a traffic light, swing around into the uptown lane, so now I get to see all the other folks. Lieberman waves, the guys in the TV repair truck are both wearing Mets baseball hats and USAF sunglasses and looking pretty grim. Ernie, however, looks ripped, and he’s obviously enjoying the hell out of all this. We hook around again on 63rd and head downtown and I see what looks like a pistol in the creep’s right hand. I sink down in the seat and say “Dig on outa here man, that guy in the VW is gonna do a number.”


  “Not now he ain’t” says the driver, and I inch up far enough to see that an NYPD cruiser has moved in front of us, and the cabbie is hanging right on his tail. Immediately, everybody drops back into orderly formation, like kids caught with a hand in the cookie jar, ‘who, me?’ But now I see the cop isn’t interested in us, he’s interested in Ernie’s motorcycle, which doesn’t happen to have a license plate on it. From the back, and the occasional profile, these cops are swingers, mustachioed, east-side, debutante-fucking cops—“There was a burglar there lady, but I chased him up on the roof and my partner got him. Hey lady, yer robe is open.” So now we’re locked in a circle, Ernie following the crowd following us and us following the cruiser following Ernie. “Dig it,” says the driver, “Sally go round the fuckin’ roses.” Twice more around the island and Ernie gets nervous and pulls out. The cops follow him, we follow the cops, everybody else follows us, all keeping their distance now. Pretty soon I realize they are gonna pull him over and bust him for no plates and lord knows what else, so I say “This is good for me man, I can make it down one of the wrong-way side streets and get lost.”


  “I can’t say I ain’t glad to be rid of you. You watch your ass now, son,” and he pulls abruptly up to Park and 46th and I skedaddle out of there, sort of bobbing and weaving into the side street. Nobody comes the wrong way into the street after me and I relax, keeping close to the buildings, and pretty soon I think “Whew, that was too high. I got to get the hell out of all this” and a steel-springed arm closes my neck between forearm and biceps and I am moved weightless into a hallway and I feel a knuckle forced into my neck just below the ear and that hallway gets fuzzier and fuzzier and disappears down a celestial hole into nothing.


  I wake up thinking that there are bees around me. Then I realize it’s my ears buzzing. When I sit up, something is not right in my back and my left ear has a very tender knot grown up underneath it. I can’t focus for a second, then something clicks and I’m underneath a staircase in an unlighted hallway. If I’m dead and this is heaven, this must be God’s mop-room ’cause the door in front of me has stencilled on it “Janitor Only. Keep Out.” I start feeling around for other problems but I can’t find any. Neither can I find my money, my wallet, my cigarettes, my keys or my sunglasses. Well, I think, if that was them, they can’t want to kill me. Maybe they just want to smoke my cigarettes and wear my Foster Grants. I get up okay, though my ears get to singing again, and I think, “Shit, I’ve been mugged. Followed around by a Mafioso hit man, a private eye, my lawer, the FBI, a brother on a motorcycle and the NYPD and I get away from them and some asshole mugs me. Maybe I oughta move to Maine.” Then I figure out that he got the can opener too. And I don’t feel quite so goddamn virginal any more. Well, if this was a plain old NYC mugger, I know where to find the wallet.


  I look both ways before I go out in the street but there’s nobody special around, and I walk over to the nearest garbage can and sure enough there’s the wallet. There’s no money in it, but Howie Fine’s ID is all there and that makes me feel a better. I haven’t got a cent on me, so how to get back to Genelle’s where I’ve stashed 500 bucks—the mugger got about 900. I walk about a block and here comes a great big guy in a flowered shirt and a beard .with a skinny chick hanging on his arm. He’s got a few hundred worth of camera around his neck and he’s talking and gesturing and the chick, long straight hair and dangly earrings, a city version of Joyce Quarterly I think, is soaking it all up. I approach them and say “ ’Scuse me folks. I just got mugged back there. Could I get fifty cents to make it back home with?” Beard looks at me for a second and then blows himself up like a dirigible and says “Get out of my way you spare-change cocksucker or I’ll kick your teeth up your face.”


  Peace and love, folks, where have all the flowers gone?


  I walk home.


  By the time I get to Genelle’s I don’t care if they kill me or not. I started out tired from Francine and Mona’s and didn’t get any sleep last night and now getting mugged (very tiring) and walking umpty-ump blocks to here has finished me off. I used a spare key stuck on a magnet two floors above the apartment, let myself in, and collapse on the bed and sleep, sleep, sleep until the phone rings.


  “Yun?”


  “Howdy, it’s Tom.”


  “Time zit?”


  “Eight thirty. At night.”


  “Somebody mugged me.”


  “What?”


  “That’s right. I ran down that side street and somebody pulled me into a doorway and ripped me off for 900 bucks.”


  “You see who it was!”


  “Nuthin’ man. Never saw him. He was real good, got to say that.”


  “You okay?”


  “Yeah. Listen, are you home? I’m gonna clean up a little and I’ll call you back. I wanna know what happened at that rally after I left.”


  “That’s cool. I’m home. Talk to you later.”


  “Later.”


  I take a shower, maybe the best thing that’s happened since the dope fell out of the sky, shave, eat some Grape Nuts with evaporated milk I find in a closet, and do dishes. I pause a second, I think I hear somebody at the door but figure it’s cats or rats or junkies doing one of the apartments on the door, and go back to work. Pretty soon I got the apartment cleaned up and I take a bag of garbage out to the hall. As I leave I grab the empty milk can and sort of balance it on top, ’cause the bag is wet on the bottom and I’m holding that with both hands out away from my body. Opening the door is like a trick on that old TV show, Beat the Clock, where hubby got sprayed with whipped cream or folks had to use their teeth to get Ping-Pong balls under a doormat. In fact I’m going “Tick-Tock Tick-Tock” and cracking myself up as I take out that garbage, imitating the clock they had on that show. I get right up to the door of the little closet in the hall where the garbage cans for that floor are kept, and the milk can rolls off onto the floor, leaving a little yellow trickle on the worn carpet. “Shit” I say and put the bag down carefully. I bend down to get the can and reach up with one hand and open the door. There’s a sharp crack and air riffles in the space I occupied a second ago and a small chunk of plaster explodes out of the wall. Reacting, my body hits the floor as my foot kicks that door shut ’cause whatever came, it came out of there. Immediately there are two big splinters of wood chewed out of the door, accompanied by two slightly muffled cracks from inside. Like a fish, I flop myself across the hall and into the apartment taking the door shut with me as I go in. Outside the garbage closet door opens and someone goes running down the hall. Looking down, I see I’ve pissed all over myself. When I get some control I open the door a sliver and look out. There’s plaster dust all over and wood splinters and garbage and that milk can right where I left-it. I look down the hallyway and two doors are open an inch, each with an eye peering out. They see me and the doors slam and I can hear all manner of locks and bolts being shot home and chains hooked up as folks get back in their fortresses. I’m betting no-one’s even gonna call the cops.


  Somebody, I figure, was in the hall when I thought I heard noise out there, they heard me coming, thought I might be going out, and jumped in the garbage closet and squatted on top of one of the cans. They could have stepped out after I went by and put a couple in me and I never woulda known a thing. And odds were way against the residents on that floor taking out after somebody carrying a gun. Odds were against them taking out after anybody, period, ’cause who knows? Judo, Karate, Kung-Fu, one James Bond el choppo in the neck and you fall down dead, broken like them bricks in the demonstrations. But I didn’t go out. I went to the closet and opened the door and they blasted away, and if I hadn’t been bending over to pick up that milk can ...


  I sit on the edge of the bed and treat myself to a good shaking fit. Wise-ass who sharpened up a can-opener a few hours ago is no more. This is gonna be a matter of survival and now I got to think a whole new way. When I’m shook out, I take another shower and change underwear and pants. I light a cigarette, wishing it were a J, and dial Lieberman.


  Who doesn’t answer.


  I look out the window but the creep isn’t around and I don’t see any red VW’s around, nor, come to think of it, do I see a telephone van. God I’d like to get a little stoned, maybe I’ll get a flash and figure out what’s going on. Where the hell is Lieberman? He said he’d be home. How the hell is that private eye, or the guy that Lieberman says is a private eye, gonna stop something like this? Whoever came in and right up to the door of the apartment, came in fancy free. For all I know he’s hanging around down in the street waiting for me to step out the door. There’s people around, but so what? There must be twenty murders a year on this block. All witnessed. All unsolved.


  Genelle has got a stash in here somewhere, I think, and check the toilet tank, and up inside the closets, and in the cereal boxes and inside the refrigerator. I even take the fridge door off with a Phillips screwdriver but there’s nothing in there. Wait a minute, why not just call Genelle and ask her? I get the information operator who handles the Adirondack section where the camps are and ask for Camp Ti-Ti-Ga-Wa. I get that number and dial it up.


  “Hello, can I talk to Genelle Fournier please?” “Who?”


  “Genelle Fournier.”


  “Hey Harry, we got anybody here named Genelle Fournier? Is this a camper?”


  “No, a counselor,” and then it hits me that she’s using a false name and for the life of me I can’t remember what it is.


  “What camp do you want mister?”


  “Camp Blue Lagoon.”


  “Blue Lagoon? This is Camp Ti-Ti-Ga-Wa,” she says, in her voice the message “how could any fool mistake Camp Ti-Ti-Ga-Wa for Camp Blue Lagoon?” “Oh,” I say and hang up. Jesus I hope I haven’t blown anything for Genelle. I try Lieberman again but he still isn’t in. I find myself calculating the time between this apartment and his place and then stop myself ’cause I can’t think of any reason for that, and I don’t want that to be true. I put a chair up under the door, though I know this won’t stop a determined person, and put all kinds of glasses and ashtrays on top of it so that if anybody does come in they are going to make a hell of a lot of noise. I put pillows in the bed to look like a


  person, get a kitchen knife and a hammer, move the couch out of the line of the windows across the street and, weapons at my side, try to go to bed on the couch. Toward morning I get a little sleep.


  I try Lieberman at ten. “Hello?”


  “Where’ve you been?”


  “Around. You sound a little ruffled.”


  “Well, you know how it is.”


  “You try me last night?”


  “Yeah, once or twice.”


  “Met the most incredible lady. Got home about four.”


  “I’d like to hear about it sometime. I want you to do two things for me. First, I want to know the name Genelle is using at that camp.”


  “Sure. It’s, uh, uh, hmmmm. I seem to have forgotten.”


  “What?”


  “I told you. Don’t you remember?”


  “No. How the hell can I get in touch with her?” “Well, I can talk to my friend who set the thing up. He has it written down. But he’s somewhere out west climbing mountains, and I don’t think he’ll be back for about a week.”


  “Great. Well, the second thing I know you can do. Call off that detective. Get him the hell away from here.”


  “Why?”


  “Don’t ask why. Just do it.”


  “Hey, you can fire me anytime, y’know. There’s lots of lawyers in town. The Bar Association should recommend you a nice sympathetic one.”


  “Bullshit. You’re not fired. Just get that guy away, I don’t want him around.”


  “Okay. What you got in mind?”


  “I’m gonna start solving my own problems as of today. I don’t need any more protection.”


  “All right. I hope you know what you’re doing. I’ve got a wire for you from someone named Adler in California.”


  “That’ll keep. I’ll call you soon.” And I hang up.


  The next call goes to the New York State Employment Service, Casual Labor Office.


  “Casual Labor, Miss Mueller.”


  “Hello there, my name’s Jack Lewis. I got a small trucking company in Brooklyn.”


  “Yes. And you’re hiring unloaders?”


  “Right. I want them at five-thirty tomorrow morning at Pier forty-eight, Twelfth Avenue and 49th Street.” “I see. And what is the salary?”


  “Oh, let’s say five bucks an hour. I know that’s generous but I want to make sure they’ll show up.”


  “How many hours will this be?”


  “Oh, about eight hours. Yeah, at least eight.”


  “I see. And how many men do you think you’ll need?”


  “Four should do it. Make sure they’re all there by five-thirty, they’re on salary even if I’m late. That’s very important.”


  “I’ll try to pick dependable ones. Can I have the address please?”


  “The address of the company or where they’ll work?”


  “The company.”


  “That’s 1340 Fulton St. in Brooklyn. Jack Lewis Trucking,” I say, reading from the phone book.


  “Very good Mr. Lewis. I’ll have four men there at five-thirty a.m. tomorrow, that’s Thursday morning. Thank you for calling State Employment.”


  “Thank you.”


  While I’m on the phone, I’m watching the street and who do I see but Mr. Creep, eating another deli sand-wish and walking up and down the block, just a citizen taking the air. Good, I think, stay right there and I’ll get with you later.


  I take the stairs up to the top. The door to the roof is locked to keep out the junkies (who come in through the front door anyhow) but I go back down to Genelle’s and find a small hacksaw and cut through the chain. On the roof there are two young Puerto Rican kids, a boy and girl about fifteen, smoking a joint and drinking red wine. “Don’t mind me,” I say and cross to the edge. It’s about three feet. I’d been hoping for just a step. But as the kids watch I take a run at it and land far beyond the edge. The next building over is close, but about ten feet lower than this roof. I try the door but it’s chained inside. So I hang down and drop the four feet. No problem. This time I’m in luck and I open the door and walk down the stairs. On the landing is a Puerto Rican man in his forties wearing an undershirt and holding a meat cleaver. He says “You just passing through, keep right on going and out in the street. I be right behind you.”


  “It’s cool,” I say. “I’m owing some people some money and I don’t want to see them right now.”


  “I know how it is,” he says walking behind me down the stairs, “but the fucking fire department won’t let us chain that door and this place gets like Penn Station.” I come out one street over from Genelle’s and nearly walk right into the creep. But his back is to me, and, lo and behold, here is where that goddamn delicatessen has been hiding. I knew he was getting that stuff somewhere. I lay in the cut for a minute and he goes round the comer. I go the other way and in a few blocks grab a cab up to Manufacturers Hanover.


  To my way of looking at it, I’m still traveling very neutral. Gray polo shirt, black khaki pants, Justin boots, not too scuffed. My hair isn’t crewcut but it isn’t too long and I’ve shaved this morning. But the guy at the bank isn’t all that pleased and is vibing away “hippie” all the way to the vault. That’s my problem: businessmen think I’m a hippie, hippies think I’m a businessman. But I’ve been in and out of here several times in the last week and they’re getting tired of seeing me.


  Renters of safe deposit boxes can get in to see their stuff, that’s okay, but why is this freak going down to look at his birth certificate every other day? I don’t even count the money I have left, it’s been drain, drain, drain for a while and I’m getting farther away from early retirement every day. I take out $2,000 more and a special license I’m gonna need and hope to hell this is the last. Next I go by the garage where my Chevy Carryall has been sitting, pay the parking tolls and ask the guy to fix the front end. From 57th and Eighth I walk over to 44th and Madison. It’s a cool day for August, and people look absolutely human. They don’t look happy, of New York you can’t ask that, but they look human. That doesn’t make my errand any easier.


  The clerk is too tall, too slim and too graceful, with gray hair that looks dyed to me. He says “How may I help you?”


  “Well,” I say, “my father has been asked to go deer hunting this fall. I don’t know anything about deer hunting, but I’d like to buy him a new shotgun for his birthday.”


  “What price range were you considering?”


  “Oh, not too expensive, but good, you know, dependable.”


  “I see.” He turns and gets a gun out of a glass case behind the counter.


  “This is a popular model. It’s not too dear, but many of our customers are quite pleased with it. Why don’t you hold it?”


  I take the gun, it’s oily and smooth and brown and polished. I stick it in my shoulder and aim at a ski mannikin in the comer. “This way?”


  “Yes. You sight on that little nubbin on the end.”


  “Ah-hah. I see, yes.” ,


  “And for a new shell, you simply pull that round piece of wood on the bottom back and then forward, and there you are. If the deer hasn’t ran away in the meantime,” and he chuckles a bit. “But how silly,” he says, “you did say that this was for your father.” And he gets this cute little smile, and I think “Christ, he knows. Maybe all the rich types buy their weapons here.”


  “I guess this’ll do fine.”


  “It’s a Remington 12-gauge model and it sells for $138.50.”


  “Good, I’ll take it. Oh one thing, I’d like to buy some things to go along with it. Like, oh, like a deerhunter’s cap and some, er, oh yes, some ammunition.”


  “Very good. The hat you get in the roughwear department, the ammunition we sell right here. What kind?”


  “Ah, well, what’s good for a nice big deer?”


  “We recommend the double-aught buckshot pellets.” “Fine, two boxes of those please.”


  “Shall I wrap it?”


  “Yes. For a birthday.”


  “All right, be back in a jiffy. Meanwhile here’s a card.”


  I’m trying to play this right, like that shit about the hunting hat and all, but here is this card in front of me. So I write “Happy Birthday to Dad with all love, Jimmy.” He comes back in a minute and gets the card and puts it on top of the gun which is in a long box of red and black stripes. He folds the tissue paper over the gun and then just slips that card in neat as can be. He’s got long slim fingers to go with the rest of him and they fly about making a nice black bow in the red ribbon closing my package. “And do we have all our proper papers?” I hand him a very kosher-looking license which he slips into an envelope and says “Will this be cash or charge?”


  “Cash. Are the bullets in the box?” I say, paying him.


  “No. I’ve put them in a separate bag for you.” He hands me the bag and I go up to roughwear and buy a red hunting hat which I throw in the garbage can as soon as I get to the comer.


  I find a car rental place about six blocks away and rent myself, as Howard Fine, a Chevy Nova. Now I got free time until tonight, so I stop for a Chinese lunch before the rush, and see two movies. By that time it’s five o’clock so I have a Chinese dinner—incredible Duck Chow Fun with noodles in a brown sauce, at a place I know in Chinatown. So far I’m carrying my long red package everywhere and nobody seems to notice. At eight I drive uptown and check into the Holiday Inn on 57 th Street near Tenth Avenue. I go out and buy a pair of scissors at an all-night drugstore.


  Back in the room, I very carefully unwrap the package. I wouldn’t want to spoil that salesman’s artwork, and get that shotgun out and play with it. Point it at things on TV and the lamps and the toilet paper roller, whatever I can see. Next I read the instruction booklet. It looks like it was written by technical people and then re-done by some ad man. So it comes out about half engineering, half he-man in the woods. But it’s pretty clear. I manage to “place the shells in the magazine” and “place the shell in the chamber” and “release the safety” and “cock the hammer” and “now I’m ready for big game or skeet.” Ready indeed. I take the scissors and cut a small square out of box and paper directly below the trigger, just big enough to get my finger inside the box and around the trigger. Then I rewrap the gun, card and tissue paper and all, and find that if I carry the box in the crook of my left arm, my right hand isn’t actually visible. It’s better yet, in the mirror, if I put both arms around from the front. The left hand is outside, the right in the box. If I tilt the business end of the box around, my right hand and what it’s doing disappears, ’cause I can cover it with my left hand. I look maybe a little bit like someone with a nerve disease trying to carry a big package, but I sure as shit don’t see “a guy with a gun” in that mirror.


  I set the alarm and lie there for a couple of hours watching Cavett and then the late movie and the late, late movie but I don’t fall asleep. At 4:00 a.m. I move.


  It’s deserted in the streets, and I’ve given myself too much time. New York is still heaving and groaning like it does, but even the night people seem to have given up and gone wherever they go. I wonder, as I drive, where all this began. Because in college, dealing a lid here and there, it always seemed like a basically okay thing to do. Against the law was against their law and they, what with Viet Nam and black folks and a million other fuck-ups, they never seemed to be right about anything at all. The best they had was that kampus kop I slugged— a few maggots crawling around looking for a little spiritual protein to see them through the long night. I had got, over the last years, pretty good at stripping away beards and hair and seeing the complete face underneath. I had to do that, for survival, ’cause hair’ll grow on anything. And I could take those faces and see two kinds of people: distinct winners and distinct losers, never much the middle mass. Some people got good at sports and got good at school and got good at, well, say “revolution.” Though there has to be a better word, spiritual or political, it all came down to the willingness to say no. I always knew there was a niche around for me if I wanted it. I could of worked for my father, maybe been a lawyer or a straight business type—a little grass in the evening and maybe a mescaline party once a year with old friends. But I suppose I had to say no a little louder than that. Also, the higher I got, the sillier they seemed; the sillier they seemed, the more they yelled and shrieked and carried on and busted people; the more they did that, the more people said “Well, I’m not physical, y’know, but scare me enough, push me hard enough, and you’ll eventually turn me pig-side-up.” Funny, but the losers were the same, kids ugly in high school found that with freaks, you could be a freak, period, and if you were just the least bit righteous and the least bit generous and you didn’t get high off of bringing people’s heads down, well then welcome brother.


  And then there weren’t winners or losers any more, which seemed to make both sides real, real happy. The media got into it and all that changed. Of course, with Nixon and his pals, the media’s karma came right back around pretty quick. Once it got mediafied, though, it wasn’t the Emperor’s New Clothes any more (we used to get stoned and yell, “fuck man, that king is naked, naked”) it became a style. The papers and TV never said much about the feeling, ’cause I don’t think a media can feel anything; it only puts out, it don’t take in.


  I envy people like Professor Plum and his crew, and even Villegas, ’cause they feel a whole lot. They wouldn’t feel it so much without me, of course, since I’m the man that brings the disculturating goodies around.


  Accardo used to say that once it got out what was going on, once all those cogs and gears and wheels that run the big machine found out what the engineer was doing at night when he went home, they were gonna scream blue murder. ’Cause they didn’t feel like they could ever have that shit, they’d been educated out of heavy wanting and into heavy survival a lotta years before. No, they were gonna scream “put those people away officer, if I ain’t got it well by God they can’t have it” and the cops did what they were told. You want to find a group of people who really don’t believe life is all that straight, just get with a bunch of cops for a while—they know what those cogs’ll do when they get crazy with coggin’. So here I was, going to do something I could hardly believe, but having to do it. Bein’ a little bit ready to join the survivors who do what they have to do, and also to join those folks who say “get your fuckin’ hands off my life, I ain’t ever hurt you at all.” Funny thing, a dealer, he’s got to survive, and he’s got to stay righteous, and those two don’t mix so goddamn well.


  I get to Genelle’s street about four-fifty and start tryin’ to get followed. I don’t see the creep anywhere and I’m not real anxious to get out of the car and walk around, that’s a little too exposed for my purposes. Then I see him, he’s down at the end of the block. Just before he sees me looking at him, I manage to get out of the driver’s seat and start adjusting the mirror. Here he comes on the trot, but I get into the car real fast and he reverses his field—al! of which I can see in the mirror. I take my time about starting the car and spend one move more than necessary getting out of the parking space. I pull out just as the VW comes coughing around the comer. I get it moving pretty fast, ’cause I don’t want anything to happen until I’m ready, so I zip crosstown, once almost losing him, and get on Eighth Avenue uptown just above the Village. All the way to 49th I manage to keen a car or newspaper delivery track between us. When I take my cross street he manages to get up on my bumper for a moment, but I out-accelerate him and lose him at Tenth Avenue. Since turning I’ve been disregarding lights, after a quick check for cops, and I charge right across Eleventh Avenue in front of a tractor-trailer I don’t wear a watch but my guesses are real good about time and I think it’s around five-thirty, probably a few minutes after. Once on the piers, he just hangs about ten feet back off my bumper. The docks are deserted, almost, there are a few trucks and one or two groups of longshoremen shaping up, drinking coffee and smoking cigarettes. But there’s a whole lot of space down here, and the pillars of the elevated West Side Highway overhead keep everything in shadow from the street lights. In the paper I’d seen that Pier 48 had a freighter leaving a day ago and the Michaelangelo pulling in in two days. That meant to me that it would be clear. It is, and for a moment I panic ’cause my little reception committee isn’t around. But then I see them. They’re huddled in a little knot under a street light. There’s a few tracks around, but I’m not worried about them ’cause the drivers are either asleep inside or tied up from being highjacked, that not being an unlikelihood in this little part of the world.


  The creep hasn’t noticed my receiving line ’cause that VW suddenly fills my mirror and there he is, one hand reaching inside his coat. He must figure I’ve played right into his hands. He is about to try pulling up with me on my right side, when I stamp the pedal and veer right toward my group. He sees them the instant I turn that way ’cause he hits his brakes and swings over to my other side and backs off.


  Very quickly I hit the brakes and stop about five feet away from my employees. I’m out of the car in a flash, and from the corner of my eye I can see the prank worked, he’s out in the middle of a wide space with me and four guys. So he just stops and sits with his car idling about ten feet the other side of my car. I approach my unloading crew. I’ve got three older guys, pretty hefty, but with busted nose veins and puffy eyes, making a stay on the Bowery at some point a probability. The last guy is Puerto Rican, about twenty, and all muscles, probably a body-builder. I say in my best imitation Brooklyn-Italian accent “You guys did good,” and I hand each of them twenty ten-dollar bills. They are blinking at it and scratching their heads and looking at each other and maybe just thinking about starting to smile at their incredible luck when I turn around and reach in the back of the Nova and take out my gift-wrapped box. Through the rear window I can see the creep is watching all this, trying to figure out what’s going on, ’cause, depending on who he works for, seeing all this could mean some kind of points. I move around the back of the car, gift box cradled and slip my finger in the little square hole. This is getting nuttier every second to the creep, I figure. First I drive like crazy to the docks, then I make a meet with a bunch of guys and then I’m walking right at him with a Christmas present. His left hand is loosely on the wheel, he’s facing me three quarters and his right hand is down below the level of the window. If he knew who those guys were and what their reaction would be, he’d blow me away right now. But I’m smiling at him and at about two feet from his car I can hear his radio playing “Ah woman, when I loved you be-fore.”


  I say “Hi there, have you been following me, you little prick?” I see his right shoulder move, maybe to bring the gun up, angle my gift package the rest of the way and pull the trigger. It jumps in my hands and the top of his body flies up and back and something hits the ceiling of the car. I hear the shotgun sound coming back at me off the concrete, a muffled boom, and a huge swarm of pigeons takes off from up in the highway pillars and there is the pitty-pat of feet running across pavement. My crew must have figured it out. Quickly, box still held crossways though one end has disappeared and the air is full of little cardboard shreds, I go around to the driver’s side of the VW. One arm and what’s left of his face are hanging backwards out the side window which he shattered as he went through. There’s glass all over the ground and blood running down the side of the VW and making droplet noises as it hits the ground. I go back around the other side and suddenly a drumming noise makes me jump halfway out of my skin. But looking down, I see it’s his heel banging rhythmically on the metal floor. I start getting frantic and my fingers go after that ribbon in order to pump my shotgun and get another shell in the chamber when the foot stops. His other foot is up on the front seat and it’s wearing only a sock. The shoe is down on the floor and that’s what must have hit the car ceiling after I fired. It’s a black loafer with a tassle. Next to it, there’s a revolver of some sort, not unlike the one Roosevelt gave me. I put my box down and lean in the front. It smells awful in there, but I don’t figure out what I’m smelling until I put my hand in his back pocket. I almost pull it out, but don’t and reach into the other pocket and come up with a wallet and keys. I unfold the wallet and see he’s got everything I want in neat plastic envelopes that flip like a little book. I pick up my box and get back into my car, which is still running. I make myself take four or five breaths, slam the door, and take off.


  I drive south on the docks for about ten blocks until I find a completely deserted pier and throw the box into the water. Its blown-open end, edged with blackened paper, dips down, bubbles, and vanishes. Then I climb back in the car and head east until I’m on Seventh Avenue. There’s nobody around but early morning garbage trucks and pigeons. It’s just gotten to be grayish dawn so I can see pretty good.


  His old tan wallet has a change purse which closes with a little snap button and those flip’em envelopes. I find the license right away. My Sicilian hit-man is named Norman Gulich. And he lives at 318 West 103rd Street. I figure the cops’ll identify the guy pretty fast, but I’m betting against bureaucracy that I’ve got a couple hours’ start. Nobody on those docks is in any hurry to call the cops about anything, and it’ll be a while before a patrol car finds him. It doesn’t matter what anybody saw down there, ’cause that’s keep-your-mouth-shut country—if you don’t do it, somebody else will. My actors in the conspiracy scene are by now spending that $200 and forgetting what they saw, ’cause if it was what they thought they saw, a syndicate rub-out, they aren’t going to be in any hurry to act like citizens.


  I move pretty fast up to 103rd St. I park the car and head upstairs. I knock several times. No answer. Apartment 5B is in a tenement that someone has carved up into small efficiency apartments—efficiency in 1949, anyhow. He’s got several locks and it takes me a minute to figure out which keys open which locks. The door opens and someone has sprayed some awful pine-perfumed room deodorant in there.


  It’s small and dirty. About ten flies are having a witches’ sabbath around the ceiling light bulb. There’s a bare-boob calendar on one wall and a big stack of Playboy and Penthouse in one corner, and some Times Square porno books and magazines: Danish Nude, Going Down for Treasure, Ball Five, The Bottom Line and Abreast of the Times. On a night table is a picture of the creep in a tight bathing suit at the beach with his arm around a fat blonde girl who’s at least two inches taller than he is. Across their legs is “From Flossie to Norman with All My Love.” Also there is a comb with a few tight little curls in the teeth and a magazine called Sunbather’s Weekly. I open one of the kitchen cabinets and there’s about twenty packages of Oreo cookies and a half-bottle of reds. The other one is empty. The bathroom cabinet has two electric razors, a regular razor, a can of shaving lather and two or three bottles of cologne—terrible sweet stuff ’cause I smell it—called “Scottish Heather” and “Brawne,” Preparation H, two bottles of nose-drops, orange-flavored Tums (I’m not surprised, with all the crap this guy ate), a styptic pencil and a box of pink-colored Band-Aids. On the sink is dandruff shampoo, all-day all-night forever and ever deodorant (probably take the pits right off you), clove mouthwash (I wonder how a pickle tastes, heading through the mists of this clove mouthwash and chased with an orange-flavored Turn), a toothbrush, and toothpaste—the kind girls will want to kiss from across the room. A double bed takes up one wall of the living room. I throw back the blanket and the sheet looks like a fifteen-year-old’s the morning after a high school dance. The bureau has white T-shirts and Jockey underpants and black stretch socks, the kind made of phony silk, some purple and white and pink shirts and a ten-dollar bill in the comer. I put the ten in my pocket. There’s striped pajamas in the other drawer and that’s all. The suits in the closet are from the early sixties or late fifties; there are four of them, gray and brown, all with little black threads wandering through the material. Fourteenth Street stuff. Black loafers, a knee-length carcoat, and several thin leather belts. Poor Norman somehow never made it into the sixties. He got a foot stuck back there in the fifties and couldn’t get out. I probably oughta call the Smithsonian Institution and tell them I’ve got an exhibit for them: The Vanishing American Fifties Slob, an endangered species.


  It’s about seven now and I can hear the neighbors stirring and coughing and trying to get themselves out to work another day. Let’s see, where would this guy stash? It takes me a half-hour to find it ’cause he’s been pretty clever. It’s in the top sill of the window; the wood has been dug out to make a little pocket, and in that pocket are a bunch of papers that mean nothing to me, scribbled numbers and letters, which could be initials, and one page with phone numbers. This I take. Also a bankbook from the Dime Savings Bank in Brooklyn. There’s an initial deposit of $100 made back in ’62.1 check his age on the license and that makes the hundred a high-school graduation gift. Nothing happens until ’67 and then there are three deposits of $20.00, a week apart. He must have been saving money from some job or other, but the fourth week he must have lost it ’cause there’s deposits of $300, and $400, and $375, and $330 with two withdrawals of $50 in about a four-month period. Then nothing until last week. Three days after I tossed a body on the wrong lawn, which would make it two days after it came out in the Arlington papers, somebody gave old Norman $1,000 and he banked it. He probably would’ve gotten another thou on the other end. A stinking little $2,000 minor-league hit by what looks like an amateur to me. I tuck the bankbook and paper in my pocket and walk out the door. There’s nobody in the hall and I get out fast and into the car and drive away.


  Now where?


  As Martin Lee, occupation salesman, I check into a motel on Rte. 4, just across the George Washington Bridge in Ft. Lee, New Jersey.


  



  “What goes around, conies around.”


  Street Saying


  



  I am getting tired of motel rooms. I wake up with an air-conditioned head, dried-out sinuses, and the feeling that I may never be able to walk even as far as the bathroom. I sort of feel around, psychically, for mind injuries, but so far, no reaction to last night. Not much feeling about anything, really. I’m half-amazed that it went off like I planned it, but since somebody tried to blow me away from the top of the garbage cans, I’ve been running in a single-gear. I manage to get myself into my clothes, which stink. I usually run around with three sets of whatever and stop at a laundromat about every other week. But since the Yacht got busted I’ve grabbed what I could and lived in it. Am I getting tired of it all?


  Breakfast at the grease pit next door goes quite a way to convincing me that I might just be. How could anyone do such a thing to a harmless egg? Back in the room I get out the list of numbers, written in thin black ballpoint and carefully blocked out figures, and have a good hard stare at it. Nothing I recognize. There are eight numbers, including four which by the exchange I can tell are New York. A chat with the operator confirms this. The next four are puzzles. My little old lady in Dayton does not appear and neither, thank fate, does any number I know about for Lieberman. So I try it in reverse and get off the first time. Information for Arlington Va. lists Edward Roosevelt as a new listing on Jamestown Rd. and there is his number, big as life. I call Lieberman, ’cause now I got to have help again. “Hello.”


  “Well, where you been keepin’ yourself?”


  “Out and around. Two things I need, one is a guy who can make fancy electric thingies and the other is Villegas.”


  “Villegas I can give you, but let me get him to call you. I promised him I wouldn’t tell anybody where he was.”


  “That’s fair. I’m at 599-0773, the Bridge-Vue Motel in Ft. Lee, New Jersey. He can take a bus across the GW Bridge if he wants and come right here. I’m in unit nine. You get all that?”


  “I got it. You want the telegram from California?” “Hold that. Is there a phone number?”


  “It looks like an order for shoes. But the digits would work for a phone. The area code is somewhere up north I think, around Eureka.”


  “Okay. Call that number and ask for Jim and tell him everything is okay, he can go back home.”


  “You sure of that?”


  “Sure enough. I’m just fillin’ in the details now.”


  “For the other thing, the only guy that comes to mind is Grover Dill.”


  “Who? You must be kidding.”


  “Nope. Grover is an electronic genius. He’s the one built my stereo and he sweeps my phone and does other goodies when I need him. He’s expensive, but good. Oh yeah, he’s also fifteen years old so don’t get surprised. He lives on East Broadway. 902. Top Floor. Doesn’t have a phone, you got to go see him.”


  “Okay. I’ll be back to you pretty soon. You working on Genelle’s alias?”


  “Yeah. But this guy is out mountain climbing ’till the day after tomorrow. I called his wife.”


  “Thanks man, for taking care of business. I’ll get back to you.”


  I watch a little daytime TV while waiting for Villegas. This only gives me an appetite for what I’m going to do. If Villegas hurries up, we can be back in business by the end of the week. About two horn's later, he knocks at the door. He’s lost quite a bit of weight and looks different without the Zapata mustache. “Hey man, how goes it?” We do the brother handshake. “Good. How’d you like to take a little trip?”


  “On the road or in the head?”


  “On the road. If it all works out, you can go home and see your old lady and your cat. Maybe even take your exams, who knows?”


  “No shit?”


  “No shit, but we got to scheme and connive a little bit.”


  “That’s beautiful man, I’ll do anything. I can’t stay in that fucking Brooklyn forever. This fugitive number sucks. The first coupla days it was about half-exciting, but it gets tired, it gets real tired.”


  “Tell me, you still holding that gun?”


  “Right in my pocket. We ain’t gonna kill anybody, are we?”


  You should only know, I think. “No. Nothing real crazy like that. We got to take a ride down the Lower East Side, I’ll tell you on the way.”


  Takes us a hailf-hour to get down there, and we knock on Grover Dill’s door. I tell him what we want and why and he says for 200 bucks he’ll do it while we wait. That’s fine and I cough up 200. After about an hour, he’s got it done. The kids who are heads and about fifteen or so now are really wild. Nobody knows what they’re thinking about. Dill is about six feet and awkward like a colt, with long thin blond hair, wire-rimmed glasses and an absolutely dead-white skin color.


  He’s ripped on something or other and chuckles and snorts to himself the whole time he’s doing our project. He keeps saying “You people, you people” and I wonder who the hell “we people” are? But the finished product is even better han I hoped for, dials, wires, alligator clips, a black metal box about the size of a stereo amp. Anthony and I grab some dinner, and with our little machine covered with newspaper we get in about 11:00 p.m. which is just right timing.


  On the way down, Anthony tells me a lot about himself. He’s about like I thought, his parents really were short-hoe farm workers in East Texas. He tells me that the army was the best thing ever happened to him, in a way. When he went in, he was bagged for auto theft— the judge said the army or the jail—he was eighteen. He knew that there was mostly bullshit in the world. But the army taught him how it all came down, who bullshitted who, how, and why. He knows I had goodies when I was growing up and that I put at least the straight side of it down, but he likes some fancy shit, and if he can shuck and jive his way through law school and still do some people some good, well, what the fuck.


  We stop once on the way down and buy a cassette tape recorder, a roll of adhesive tape, and a length of clothesline.


  Jamestown Road is hidden in a great suburban maze. When we find Roosevelt’s house I’d say he upgraded from his last property. Funny, every time I’m with Villegas we seem to go looking for something or other. There are signs of life in the house on our first pass, faces going by windows, dog and kiddie toys on the lawn, a smoking hibachi on the patio. Backed up to the house is a foundation with contractor’s toys all around, mixers and cement blocks and Do Not signs. There isn’t any place to park inconspicuously, ’cause somebody has got them mercury vapor lamps lighting up the world— no doubt in fear of the black hordes descending from D.C. to sodomize the poodles and scarf up the barbecued steaks. We find a singles apartment complex several blocks away and park there and walk back, circling the construction and stashing ourselves behind a cinder-block wall.


  The household is getting ready for bed. Toilets flushing, sinks running, Johnny Carson doing a monologue. “What now?” Villegas whispers.


  “We wait ’till he comes outside.”


  “That could be tomorrow morning.”


  “So we wait until tomorrow morning.”


  “These guys’ll come to work at seven-thirty or eight.”


  “Okay. Gets to be seven and he doesn’t show, we’ll try something else.”


  But it doesn’t get to be seven. Roosevelt walks out the back door with a small collie on a leash. He’s smoking a pipe and wearing yellow bermuda shorts and a madras sport shirt' and sandals. When Roosevelt gets about ten feet away, Villegas jumps up, automatic in hand and says “Freeze or you’re dead.” Roosevelt’s eyebrows go shooting up his forehead and his pipe flips out of his mouth and lands on the lawn. Villegas moves quickly behind him and says, “March.” The dog is jumping around trying to figure it out, but Anthony just moves it out of his way with a foot and Roosevelt says “Quiet, Soupy.” We crouch him down with us behind the wall. Suddenly he recognizes me and a little muscle in his cheek starts to dance. “Listen to me, Red, and get it right the first time,” I say. “Fuck around with us and we’ll kill you right here. And whoever comes out of that house to see what the noise was. You’re gonna tell your old lady you’re going out for a while and we’re gonna get in your car and go for a ride. Got that? You’re not gonna go inside, you’re gonna yell it in from the garage and take the dog with you. Clear? Tell me it’s clear.”


  “It’s clear.”


  We go single file around the house to the garage, entering through a side door. Roosevelt opens a door that reveals the kitchen and says “Honey, I have to go talk with some people. I’ll be back later. Don’t wait up.”


  “What?” comes from upstairs. We jump in the car, Roosevelt driving and Anthony sitting directly behind him with the gun in the back of his head. The door to the kitchen opens just as he starts the car and Villegas and I duck down on the floor. “Gee whiz, Ed, what you doin’ goin’ out like this so late?” He waves and backs the car out and we pop up again.


  “Good,” I say. “Now drive out the strip, we’re gonna find us a motel where we can talk, but take this street here about five blocks and stop at that singles apartment.” He does. I get out and pick up Grover Dill’s contraption.


  In ten minutes, we drive up to the Rest-Well Motel and I register and pay the sleepy clerk. We hustle Roosevelt into the unit and sit him down on the edge of the bed. Anthony and I pull up a chair and a luggage rack to sit on.


  “Okay my friend. Now we’re going to have a little talk and get this whole thing unravelled, but first I’m gonna tife your hands just so we can all relax and have a good talk.” His hands, which are pudgy and white with red hairs on the backs, I tie with clothesline.


  “You guys are crazy to do this. I suggest you call the cops and I’ll recommend that they take it easy on you.”


  “Balls. You’re not gonna call anybody. Do you know who this is?”


  “No.”


  “This is the great international spy Anthony Villegas.”


  “Oh. Hi Anthony, sorry I can’t shake hands.” Villegas and I look at each other ’cause we expected a big reaction. “Look fellas, if you keep me here any longer or harm me in any way, the Agency’ll be after you forever. You’ll never rest, and they’ll get you. No matter where you go, they’ll track you down and kill you or worse. So let’s just end this whole thing right here. You go back wherever you came from, and let me go home. Maybe I can convince my boss that this wasn’t such a hot idea.”


  “Who’s your boss?” Anthony asks.


  “Nope, fellas, you know I can’t talk about certain things.”


  “You can’t?”


  “That’s all secret stuff. I’m trained not to reveal it.” Anthony, who we decided in the car would play the heavy, puts his face right up next to Roosevelt’s and says “And we are trained to make you reveal it.”


  “Ah, don’t give me that spy movie crap.”


  “Hey man, I’m gonna go get our little machine. This guy needs convincing,” Villegas says to me. I press my lips together and look worried. “Don’t do that, he’s gonna cooperate.” I turn to Roosevelt and say “Now or later, man. They all talk when they feel what the machine can do. This machine, now this machine was invented by some very heavy bikers in California. If they get burned on any kind of deal or someone tries to turn ’em to the cops, they just use this machine to find out what’s going on. You don’t want us to do that, do you?”


  Roosevelt doesn’t say anything. He’s in a sort of funk, looking from me to Villegas and back again trying to figure if we’re serious or not.


  “What about it, Red?”


  “Cut it out,” he says, “now you just cut that out. You can’t scare me. You better let me go. You hurt me and you’ll be sorry. Now untie my hands, this isn’t funny any more.”


  “It never was funny. No, it ain’t been funny for about two weeks now. It’s been real serious.” Villegas stands up quickly and leaves the room. In a few seconds he’s back with the machine which he places, still wrapped in newspaper, at Roosevelt’s feet. I take the’ roll of adhesive tape out of my pocket and before Roosevelt can say anything more, I wrap it around his mouth a few times. He’s sweating like crazy now, his eyes open real wide behind his glasses. He can’t believe any of this.


  We unwrap the machine so that Roosevelt can see all the dials and voltage regulators and meters and switches on the face. We take the cord, a big thick one from a stove, and plug it into an outlet. Roosevelt’s eyes are getting wider and wider, he’s beginning to believe that this can actually happen to him. I turn up the left-hand dial and the machine makes a loud, loud, buzz and vibrates with power as the needles jump around. From the back of the machine comes a long black cord, the kind you use on headphones. At its top is a device about three feet long that looks like a stethoscope except it’s got metal clips where the ear pieces would be. And where the chest-listening piece would be is a little metal circle, about two inches in diameter, with an adjustable turn-screw on the outside.


  I turn down the machine to low buzz and clip the top pieces into each of Roosevelt’s nostrils. Then I unbutton his bermudas and unzip his fly. When he sees where I’m going to put that circle he starts going “MM-MMM-MMM-MMM” behind that tape. I say “Are you ready to talk now?” He nods “yes” violently. Villegas says “Ah man, let’s give him a little juice. After a coupla jolts he’ll be needle-dick the bug fucker for sure.”


  “Nah,” I say, “let’s try him out first,” and I rip off the adhesive tape, taking a good bit of red hair from Roosevelt’s neck.


  “Okay, okay. You win.”


  “Good,” I say and turn on the tape recorder. “Who’s your boss?”


  “Miles Gifford.”


  “What department does he run?”


  “Take this thing out of my nose. Please.” He’s pouring sweat down his face and his legs are jiggling like crazy. Most of him’s gaga with terror, but a small part is still trying to keep its dignity.


  “No, let’s just leave that there in case we need to convince you a little bit. Now, what department was that?”


  “General Administration.”


  “What’s that mean?”


  “Oh, you know, that everything gets done. Meals get served, grass cut. Toilet paper in the stalls.”


  “What exactly do you do?” He pauses for what seems like a long time. I just hope to hell the poor fat little bastard doesn’t start to cry, his face muscles are bunching up in that direction. Jesus! Why am I pursued by such pitiful fucking people?


  “I’m a dietitian.” He says it in a very tiny little voice.


  “Not a spy?”


  “I make sure the meals are balanced, that there’s a green vegetable, roughage, the right amount of starch. You know. It’s an important part of institutional food service.” He watches the tape recorder spinning away.


  “Let me get this clear. You are in charge of making sure that the men and women of the Central Intelligence Agency of the United States of America get their roughage every day?”


  “Yes. Vitamins and minerals. All that. It’s a very important job.”


  Villegas says, very quiet, “Your wife know you have this job?”


  He almost cries, snuffles a little past the clips in his nose, and says “Please don’t tell my wife.”


  “She thinks you’re a spy, huh Ed?”


  “Yes. I fibbed a little when I met her. I didn’t know I’d fall in love with her. Her brother is this big, tough cop, her father was a county sheriff. It was very important to her. I never got around to telling her the truth.”


  “That’s Byszka?”


  “Yes.”


  “Was this your idea? Killing this guy over here?” “No. Byszka asked me to do it. He set it up. I had to do it.”


  “Who’s Clyde Moss?”


  “Somebody Byszka knows. That isn’t his real name.” “What is his real name?”


  “I don’t know.”


  “Why’d you tell me your real name?”


  “So you’d call the Agency and check it out. They only say that somebody is an employee. They don’t give job classifications on the phone.”


  “How do you know that?”


  “Byszka told me. He checked me out before I married his sister.”


  “Did you hire a guy to kill me?”


  “No.”


  “You’re lying, Red. I think maybe you need a few words from the machine.”


  “Yes.”


  “How’d you find him?”


  “I got talking with one of the agents from New York. In the lunchroom. I sort of got around to talking about the Mafia. He said they drank at this bar. Scaduto’s Bar, in Brooklyn. I went there and hung around until I saw a guy and talked to him and he said he’d do it for $2,000.1 gave him a thousand.”


  “What was this guy’s name?”


  “He said his friends called him Johnny Solo. Said he always worked alone. He lives in a mansion in New Jersey. That’s what he told me.”


  Poor sad-ass Norman Gulich, I think. Johnny Solo who always works alone. Lord save the creeps from themselves. “Why did you do that?”


  “When I read in the paper about the body being thrown in front of my old house I thought It was Villegas. I thought you were going to blackmail me. I got scared. I just got really scared, so I went to New York and found a Mafia hit-man. I’m sorry. I’m really sorry.”


  “How’d Byszka know about me?”


  “I don’t know.”


  “Why’d you agree with Byszka to do this thing?” “Well, he said they had this problem. That it was a conspiracy. That there were foreigners involved.” “You’re lying Red. You might as well tell the truth.” “You’re a real smartass hippie, aren’t you? Whatta you know about real people?”


  “He found out, didn’t he? Found out that you worked at the CIA but that you weren’t an agent. Was gonna turn you in to your old lady. Maybe to your boss. That’s right, isn’t it?”


  “Yes. I could talk like them, act like them. I wanted to be an agent. I applied. I’d completed a major in college in Institutional Nutrition Management. I was working at a school district in West Virginia. They offered me that job instead. About a year later I met my wife. She was a secretary at the Commerce Department. One thing led to another and we got married. The first time I met Ray, that’s Byszka, she really laid it on him about me being a kind of super-cop. I just played along.”


  “See where it got you.”


  “What are you going to do to me?”


  “I’m gonna give this tape to my attorney for safekeeping. You better hope nothing ever happens to me, ’cause even if I get hit by lightning, it’ll go to all the right people. We’re going to see Byszka next and finish this thing once and for all. If you call him, I’ll fink on you, man. We’ll have your ass. You understand me?” “Yes. Please don’t tell anybody.”


  “That depends on you,” I say and take the clips out of his nose. I untie him and he zips up his pants. He just seems tired now. Villegas and I pack up the machine and the tape recorder and, with Roosevelt, we silently get in the car and drive back to the singles apartment. The dog jumps around in the back seat the whole way and Anthony pets it. He has his gun in his pocket. Roosevelt tells us the names of the different neighborhoods as we pass by, trying to be friendly, like we all got in this together so let’s be buddies. He drops us off and says “I’m sorry. There just wasn’t anything else I could do.”


  “Bullshit,” I say half out of the car, “you enjoyed it, man.”


  He doesn’t say anything, just looks ahead and as I close the door, he turns around and tells the dog “Be quiet Soupy, goddamit,” and the dog shuts up and he guns the car and drives away.


  Villegas and I stow the stuff in the car without talking. It’s very late and the stars are out and we can hear August cicadas and crickets by the road. I’m very tired, but I push myself in behind that wheel, start the car, and turn the radio on. Villegas says “Scary, man. Very scary.”


  “Really.”


  “You know, we’re all they have.”


  I’m just about completely out of places to go by now, and another motel would punch a hole in my sanity stash, so Villegas agrees to let me sleep on the couch of his hideaway in Brooklyn. His new friend, a very dark lady named Rochelle, fixes us bacon and eggs when we get back, and we spend the whole day lying around, reading newspapers, smoking a little weed, and eating up the ice box. Rochelle wants to know what the hell we’ve got wrapped up in the newspaper, so we show her the device, where it clips into the nose and encircles the schvontz. We turn up the dials and get it to buzzing and vibrating and whirling voltage meters. “Crazy,” she says, “what would happen if you clamped that thing to someone and turned on the juice?”


  “Not a thing” Anthony says. “The guy that made it for us built a fantasy torture machine for somebody with fantasies about torture.”


  “There’s an on/off switch here on the other side. What do you suppose happens if you turn that on?” “Whatta you know about that?” I say. “I never saw that.”


  “Turn it on, man,” says Anthony.


  I do.


  Loud and clear comes WBLD-FM, a heavy rock station.


  “Dig it,” says Anthony, “real torture.”


  “Well,” I say, “now I know who made some teargas pens for Tom Lieberman.”


  “They work?”


  “A paper came out and said ‘Lie down and cry, .you’ve just been teargassed’.”


  “Shit. That kid was born high. When they grow up, these people better get outta the way.”


  “Yeah. Us too, maybe.”


  I call Lieberman, who’s with a client, but he tells me briefly that the man from California has gone back home and says thank you. And that Genelle’s name at the camp is Monica Goldblatt. Rochelle says I can use her phone and she and Villegas go off into the bedroom to give me and themselves some privacy. I dial the camp and the same lady answers.


  “Camp Ti-Ti-Ga-Wa.”


  “Hi, can I talk to Monica Goldblatt?”


  “Monica’s up on the south field right now, we’ll have to yell for her. Is this important?”


  “This is her uncle. Her father is ill and I need to talk to her.”


  “Okay, hang on,” and I hear her walk away from the phone and then yell “MO-NI-CA-GOOOOLD-BLATT. TE-LE-PHONE,” and I can hear the cry extending outward in other voices. About ten minutes pass and then Genelle picks up the phone panting. “Hello?” “Genelle, this is Roger.”


  “Hey man, how you doin’? I was wonderin’ what became of you.”


  “I’m okay. A lot of very bad shit went down, but it’s gonna be alright in another couple of days.”


  “Great. Jesus, get me out of here. I’m a goddamn volleyball counselor. I play volleyball all day.”


  “It’s pretty hot in New York right now.”


  “How you mean hot?”


  “Both ways.”


  “Hunh. But maybe in a couple of days?”


  “Yeah. Almost for sure.”


  “Robbie’s been askin’ about you.”


  “Really? How’s he doin’? I promised myself I’d buy him a dynamite electric train when all this is over.” “Robbie’s a good kid. Funny, four years old and he kinda digs electricity, takes bulbs apart if I don’t watch him.” Oh Jesus no, I think, another Grover Dill coming on. Like maybe I’m getting too old for this, maybe I’d better get out before the fucking kids push me out. “Well, we’ll go to Macy’s when you get back.”


  “He’ll like that.”


  “I was worried about you. They knew about that apartment, y’know. I stayed there for a while.”


  “You’re welcome to it. You been payin’ the rent.”


  “I don’t think I want to go back there. How would you feel about moving?”


  “Oh, I don’t know, I’ve thought about it. That block gets a little weird sometimes but the people are pretty good. They know I’m alone a lot of the time and they kinda take care of me.”


  “Whatever you think. I want to see you when you come down. I kind of miss you. Crazy isn’t it?”


  “Crazy world. I miss you too, man. I’ve been worried somebody was gonna do a great big number on you.” “They almost did. I ducked.”


  “That’s the big secret. When it comes at you, duck.” “I’m tryin’. Okay, you get back to the volleyball.” •


  “Call me when it’s okay. This ain’t my thing up here.”


  “Will do. G’by babe.”


  “G’by. Take care.”


  My little men are having some kind of party in there. They’re dancing and singing for some reason, like they’re tryin’ to break the lease. “Quiet down” I say. “I still got work to do.”


  I go to the bedroom and everything is quiet in there. “Hey Anthony, I got a sudden desire to go to Pennsylvania. Want to take a ride?” Some giggles and then “Okay. I’m gonna take a shower and Rochelle is gonna pack us up a lunch for the trip.” Jesus. This is getting like an outing club.


  In an hour we’re on our way again, still using the Nova. I’m tired of driving so Anthony drives. We’ve got the tape recorder and Anthony’s automatic, but we’ve left Grover Dill’s torture machine in Rochelle’s apartment. It starts to rain near the Jersey line and keeps up for three hours until we get to Webersburg. There are a whole flock of Byszkas in the book, but Ray, if I recall Roosevelt’s using that name right, lives out on Branch Hill Road. After asking at a gas station or two, we find Branch Hill Road. It’s a winding gravel track that snakes up over the mountain. We pass a good bit of Pennsylvania Appalachia on that road. Tin-roofed shacks with rusty refrigerators and junked cars on the front lawn. Villegas calls it the land of the six-toed people and that damn drizzle doesn’t make it any more attractive. We stop at every mailbox and check names; Swoonover, Cziczic, Plopp, Hamdrum, Glovny, and McMoona. Sounds like a firm of lawyers representing Martians. We go around a long curve through the woods and there on a well-cut lawn with woods all around it is a small cinder-block house painted dark green. There’s a three-year-old Plymouth with an American flag sticker on the bumper in the pre-fab carport. The mailbox is black with light-up letters on it reading “Raymond Byszka.” Anthony stops the car and we sit there with rain scudding down the windshield.^ Finally he asks, “You think I oughta do some Viet Nam type shit through those woods and around the back?”


  “I could be wrong, very wrong, but I think the way here is to knock at the door.”


  So we walk up the gravel path and knock at the door, Anthony to my left with the gun sort of down by the side of his pants. Byszka opens the door. He is wearing a blue bathrobe over pajamas and felt carpet slippers. The entire right side of his head is swathed in bandages.


  “Well, sonofabitch, look what the cat dragged in,” he says. He doesn’t look very rangy or high-cheekboned now, as he moves into the hall light. In fact his face is very puffy and discolored yellow all along the right side. “We’re just here to talk man, but,” and Villegas waves the automatic “you see how things are. Let’s all just be cool.”


  “Sure Tony, I see you got a great big automatic there. C’mon in the talkin’ room.” The living room is bigger inside than the outside of the house led us to expect. It’s got new linoleum on the floor and a beat-up couch and several rocking chairs. On one side of the couch is a small refrigerator with a wooden lamp on it that looks like it got made in a high-school shop class somewhere. Byszka opens the refrigerator and says, “Beer, fellas?”


  “Sure,” I say, and he passes out small bottles of Rolling Rock. “Well,” he says, “I been expecting you. I just had that feeling. Before we start playing poker here I just want you to know,” and he gives me a good solid cop look in the eyes, “that I done lost my ear when you popped me with that truck. Went through the windshield and tore the sucker right off. I can still hear through that hole there, but if and when I get back to bein’ a cop, I’m gonna be a one-eared cop. So let’s just include that in this little negotiation.”


  “Look,” says Villegas, “maybe it’s a game to you, my friend, but this guy here, had he not been a half-righteous guy, might have blown me away with your little game. So this ain’t no game to me.”


  “Okay, okay, now let’s just stay relaxed and talk this over and see where we come out.”


  “Number one,” I say, “we spent a very interesting evening with your brother-in-law last night.”


  “And what’d you think of my pussy little red-head of a brother-in-law, the secret agent?”


  “That he ain’t no secret agent and you knew it.”


  “I did indeed. Yes I did.”


  “But you made him tell us his name.”


  “Well, I figured you might get around to checking that. After all, anybody can say they’re a CIA agent, and from what I understand, there’s a number of folks goin’ around doin’ just that. So I figured when you got back to New York you might just call down to Langley, Virginia, and ask them if a fella named Ed Roosevelt worked there. And they would have told you yes he did and that’s all they would have told you. ’Cause that’s what they told me when I phoned ’em about ten minutes after my little sister brought that wimp home and said she was gettin’ married. Later, I found out otherwise.”


  “How?”


  “My sister told me. She met a lady at the laundromat whose husband works for the Agency, and that lady mentioned all the dee-lishus meals that old Red was servin’ up and how her hubby was gettin’ a little lard-assed from it. Little sister never let on, of course, ’cause she knew she had him by the nuts for fair. Sis is one tough little lady; she comes from around here but she wouldn’t marry none of the local guys. Can’t say as I blame her. Hell, she’s got that house, around thirty-two five I’d say, the kids, the dog, the fridge that defrosts itself. She’s in paradise and she knows it. So her husband gets his rocks off bein’ a superspy, it don’t hurt her any. She keeps tellin’ him to be careful and shit like that. You wouldn’t believe the creeps like to nuzzle up to law enforcement types.”


  “Sonofabitch,” says Villegas.


  “How’d you find me, man?”


  “Aw shit Jim, or whatever the hell your name is, I was a goddamn good cop until somebody laid it on me. That’s what the whole Supreme Court hassle is all about. A good cop smells, man. He don’t need no warrant. He just looks at a bunch of people and one of them is doin’ some kind of shit. He just knows, don’t ask me how it works, it just does. So one day about six months ago this great big motor home comes through on a county road. I was drivin’ home from work in my civvies, in my Plymouth, and I took a look at this vehicle and my head said ‘Dealer.’ I don’t know why. So I followed. It wasn’t hard on Route Eighty, about five hours of drivin’, and you took me right to some place down in the Village, in a kind of slum neighborhood. I had a feeling you and the girl’d be back. I didn’t need you just then, I’d booked about four grand-theft autos that month, couple assaults, a hunting lodge break-in. See, a cop has got to produce every month, so sometimes he’ll save a little something, something he knows is going on, until he needs it, maybe the chief is ridin’ his ass or he’s up for promotion and he needs that little extra shove. Now I didn’t know you was dealin’, but what the hell is a trailer-camper guy and his old lady and kid doin’ goin’ home to a neighborhood like that? So the next time I saw you, about three months later, I followed you again, and you took me to Villegas, who we kinda had an eye on anyhow.”


  “Kinda” snorts Villegas. “You had more than an eye on me, man.”


  “Yeah, well, I’ll get to that. So about a week ago Red calls me shittin’ peachpits he’s so nervous. Do I know where you live? So I give him the one address I have. I assume he tried to send someone after you, and bein’ Red, fucked it up or you wouldn’t be here.” “You’re close. How did he know about the Ohio number?”


  “What?”


  “That number in Ohio he gave me to call after I did the thing. I was using that number too. It’s a litde old lady, you call her and give her a message and she calls someone you told her about before. Somehow, she’s got her telephone cooked so that calls don’t trace back to her.”


  “Well damn it son, who gave you the number? ’Cause Red found that number on somebody’s desk down where he works a few months ago and went and talked to that little lady. Hell, that’s a CIA accomodation phone unless I’m wrong.”


  I know who gave me the number. Tom Lieberman. And he told me that he got it from some freaky kid he knows. It’s that fucking Grover Dill again.


  “You look like you seein’ stars.”


  “It’s the competition. It doesn’t know it’s the competition yet, but that don’t matter.”


  “Hey Byszka,” says Villegas, sitting back and drinking some beer, “why’d you want to kill me?”


  “Now that’s the sixty-four-dollar question and that’s where we get to playin’ poker.”


  “Good. What’s the stakes?” L ask.


  “One motor home, a Winnebago I believe. And 50,000 bucks, and 30 kilos of marri-wanna.”


  “Okay, what do you want?”


  “I mainly want peace and quiet. Now you could lose me my job, that is unless you’re plannin’ to kill me cold right here, and my hunch is you don’t either of you have the stomach to do that. Shit, you already took off my ear. Ain’t that enough? Not that I’m so hot about my job right now. Seventy-eight hundred dollars a year and medical ain’t that much to get along on, and me and some fellows up on the mountain have been thinkin’ about opening up a Mexican food franchise down by the college. We got our eye on a piece of property right now.”


  Villegas and I turn simultaneously and look at each other. All the paranoia, all the bullshit, all the stuff we do to keep out of the way of them, comes down to a fast-food taco place? Villegas starts to laugh.


  “Oh yeah, I know, to you college boys that sounds just mother dumb, but I didn’t go to no college like y’all and Red, so I got to take care of my own business.”


  “It ain’t that,” I say, “we thought you were, like, a political cop.”


  “The Minutemen? Nah. I’m too independent. They’re all a bunch of fuckin’ thieves, left, right and center, near as I can see. Nope, just peace and quiet is what I want. You get a lot of civil liberties lawyers in here and start screaming conspiracy to commit murder by a police officer and the papers get here and we got us just a whole big mess. I don’t go to jail, but I don’t stay in this county either. And I happen to like it right here, though today I couldn’t say why.” We follow his eyes out to where the rain is still falling hard, blurring the forest around the house.


  “Well, somebody’s got to open the bidding,” I say, “but let me see if I got the stakes right. We promise to keep shut up, I get my motor home and money and grass back. How do you know we’ll keep our word?” “Oh, you will, I think. I got some nice long-range photos of you dealing grass to some hippies up around Lewisburg. You can see the bricks and pills and stuff. It’s not enough to put somebody in jail, but a grand jury might tie you up in court for one hell of a long time. Come to that, if you was to welch on me, there’s folks right here on this road that would shoot you down for five hundred bucks if they thought you was hurtin’ me. I think it’ll stay cool.”


  “What does Villegas get?”


  “Shit, he’s got his life. What more does he want?” “Someone wanted me killed,” says Anthony, “if I’m gonna sleep nights I got to know who it is.”


  “Well, that’s gonna cost you a little more.”


  Villegas and I look at each other. On the one hand, he’s only got my hard-earned to deal with. On the other, we’ve been together in this for what seems like a hell of a long time. We’re friends. He spreads his hands apart, ’cause he knows everything going on in my head. He says, “Forget it, man, I’m goin’ back to Texas. This ain’t the only college in the country. I can transfer credits. You keep the bread, it took you blood and sweat to put that together.”


  “Anthony, I’d like to do that. But you know I can’t do that. Not after we came this far. You’re gonna owe me that money, but you can pay it back to other people instead of me. You can do it in free legal service or give it to charity or something. But you got to pay it back, somehow, some time. I ain’t ever gonna ask you about it again.” I turn to Byszka, who’s smiling and opening up a new can of Rolling Rock. “You people stick together,” he says, “now that I admire.”


  “What’s the price and what do we get?”


  “The price is eighteen five which happens to be just what I need to buy the property that restaurant is gonna sit on. My friends got the start-up money and bucks for the franchise people. And what you’re gonna get for that is a name. If anybody ever asks me, and I don’t care who they are, I never told you. But you boys are smart enough to figure it out for yourselves if you got this far.”


  “Okay, you got the eighteen five.”


  “About three months ago, the county police chief decides he’s gonna retire. So everybody on the force starts to scramble real hard. One day this man calls me out to his home, which is incredible right there, and says: ‘Ray, I got some big plans, but these plans ain’t worth owlshit unless you can do me a favor; you do me this favor and you’re gonna be the next county chief. And I ask what the favor is, and he says get Villegas out of the way. Out. E-lim-in-ate is the word he used.”


  “So who is he?”


  “Mr. Lavem M. Stoller. One of our most foremost local citizens. Probably the foremost.”


  I look at Villegas. His mouth is tight and his eyes are pure black hate. He spits it out: “Queen Green Bean.” “That is kee-rect,” says Byszka. “Maybe you saw that new plant bein’ built out by the cutoff. Biggest goddamn cannery I ever saw. Well, Mr. Stoller owns about three-thousand acres of green beans out here. Used to sell ’em to other canning companies but no more. ’Bout a month ago this big billboard goes up, real purty little blonde girl with green eyes, and over her head it says Queen Green Bean big as life. I’m sure you know the rest.”


  “Simon Legree,” says Anthony. “Employs half the Chicano labor in the valley. Don’t want a new union contract.” He points his index finger to his head and says “bang.”


  “Now listen up fellas. That Winnebago is sittin’ about one hundred feet up the road from here behind a hunting camp. It’s the first left. The grass is still in there. As for the money,” he opens the refrigerator and pulls out a wax paper package, “there was actually $51,600 in your stash. So I owe you $33,100.” And he counts it out, gets up, and tosses it in my lap.


  “Byszka, what were you doin’ in the road that day?” “Well. I had Tony’s home phone tapped. When you called him and made your meeting place, I headed on out there to see what went on. That place in the woods is where they always met their dealers. I had it figured that you’d do the job and run like hell. Maybe go to Europe or something, figurin’ the CIA was hot on your ass. But I also had an idea that you might do just what you did, say yes and then try to screw around with us. It’s hard to tell with you people, one week you’re actin’ like country kin, and there’s no stronger tie than that, and next week you’re burnin’ each other right and left. I wasn’t sure which way you’d jump. So I figured you were both up there by the time I got there, and I was meaning to arrive last, take a little walk and see what went on.”


  “Everybody tried to get there last,” said Villegas. “Guess I won.”


  “What if you’d seen us decide to try to make out?” “Now that’s a silly question. Smart feller like you can surely answer that one and don’t need no one-eared, just-about-to-be-ex-cop to help you.”


  “Well, thanks for everything, I guess.”


  “Sure you should thank me. If I’d been a straight cop your ass would be in the jail right now and that little girl’d have to find herself another fella. I did you a favor.” And he laughs and stops real quick, ’cause all that swelling and whatever is under the bandages must hurt. He walks us to the door and shakes hands with Villegas and with me and says “Let’s remember our bargain. And don’t have too many hurt feelings, especially you, Tony. Business is business, after all.”


  And we go out into the rain.


  It’s damp inside that Yacht. The refrigerator door is hanging open and some electronic innards are hanging out of where the butterbox used to be. Most of the inside paneling is off and the area behind the dash has been gutted. There’s an alligator clip behind the ignition key and a fat yellow bunch of wires looping down and under. It starts and Villegas waves and yells me back down that dirt road onto the gravel. We caravan into New Jersey at about fifty-five, where Big Dan the Used Recreational Vehicle Man lays 6500 cash on me and I ride the rest of the way into New York in the Nova. R.I.P.


  



  "The law is strict with man or woman who steals the goose from off the common but lets the greater villain loose who steals the common from the goose.”


  Old English Street Saying


  



  We spend Sunday moping around Rochelle’s apartment, watching the first exhibition football of the season. We put the 30 keys of grass in a closet, like we are gonna do something with it, but I know I don’t want any part of handling dope right now and neither does Villegas. We don’t exactly say it, but the grass is gonna become Rochelle’s—a reward for being a den mother for a while and for taking care of Anthony. She’s got Nam deserters and draft resisters coming through there all the time, she tells us, and so maybe they can use it—if their heads will stand that. If you got to spend the rest of your life in Canada or Sweden, you might as well get high before you go.


  On Monday, directly to Lieberman’s office. He listens and says nothing for about an hour, his hands resting on top of his desk and his chin down on his hands like a hound by the fire. Villegas and I take turns rifling about the last couple days and when we’re done Tom just shakes and shakes his head like he has something in his ear. I leave out the part about Gulich, and the hole in the tale is obvious but nobody says anything. That has got to stay private forever. Finally he walks over to'the window, and looks out at the Jersey people looking at him and says “Queen Green Bean. Yeck. Didn’t want to renegotiate a contract. Figured if Anthony is out of the way, he’ll have happy Mexicans singing in the fields. No labor problems, new plant, fancy-ass new name, bill-boards. Hmmm.” He picks up the phone and shakes it a little, and finally dials a number. We hear only his side, but it’s enough.


  “Mr. Gelfand please.” He taps his fingers on the desk.


  “Andy? It’s Tom Lieberman.” He lights a cigarette. “That’s right. I knew you’d left the senator. Heard you were with SEC.” He winks at Villegas.


  “Un-huh. Lunch’d be great, I’ll call you next week.” He makes a mouth shape that says “yeah sure.”


  “Right now I need a favor. You got anything on a company called Queen Green Bean?” He looks out the window.


  “Thanks man. Who is the probity honcho on the SEC now?” He gets a felt-tip pen out of his drawer.


  “Well, like a straight arrow with a lot of clout.” He draws a valentine with a bullet through it.


  “N. Hamilton Hart?” He shakes his hand to mean “heavy heavy.”


  “Prefers to be called Ham Hart? I can’t call anybody Ham Hart.” Gives a suffering look at the ceiling.


  “Listen Andy, thanks a million. I’ll call you for lunch next week. G’by.”


  “Okay friends, I was right. Mr. Lavem Stoller has an application before the Securities and Exchange Commission to take his company public, in the growing and canning of vegetables, under the marketing name of Queen Green Bean. So now we are going to see Mr. N. Hamilton Hart and share our interesting new information with him, ’cause if he says “nay,” and never mind the excuse he gives, old Lavem ain’t gonna make it.” He’s on the phone with various secretaries and administrative assistants for the next five minutes. He’s like a great halfback, weaving, dodging, giving a fact and taking it away, implying, asserting, groveling, demanding, flattering, bullying and innuendoing. Anthony and I are completely blown out listening to the performance. When he hangs up the phone, we applaud.


  “Thank you, thank you, my fellow Americans. That is why I get 12 grand a year as a retainer. We’ve got an appointment with Mr. Hart in one hour.” Saying that, he places his hands together like a diver, says “One, two, three, GO!” and leaps off the chair and sheds his T-shirt and khaki’s. It’s like watching Superman. He puts on nylon boxer shorts, high black socks, garters, a brutally white shirt with tiny gold cufflinks and a red and gold silk tie, just wide enough, a dark blue light-weight-wool suit, with vest. He brushes his hair back with two brushes until it lies down in a McNamara sweep. Then he puts both hands in his desk drawer and starts fishing around. A soapstone hashpipe flies out, followed by a peace button, a stack of Polaroid snaps of various naked folks, a button that says “Fly United,” Grover Dill tear-gas pens, assorted roach clips, all inoperative, and, finally, as Tom says “Ah-hah my little beauty, here you are,” a Phi Beta Kappa key and chain that he strings across his vest.


  He gives us a last minute pep-talk, football coach style, and we grab a cab and head down to 2 William Street, enter a lovely funky old Wall Street-type building, ride an elevator run by a man three years younger than God, and pass through various antechambers until we are in the oak and oriental-rugged office of N. Hamilton Hart. Yeeks! N. Hamilton Hart, giving Tom and us firm handshakes and big smiles, is wearing the same suit, and shirt, and Phi Beta Kappa key, and hair-comb and, checking on Tom, smile, as Tom is.


  I don’t say very much, it’s mostly Anthony’s play in here. He talks about the Chicanos in the valley, how the migrants tried to settle there, the bad schools, the nonexistent doctors, the need for lawyers, the union-busting tactics, attempts to raise funds (he leaves out the dealing part), his Viet Nam experience, the GI Bill, the cops rousting and hassling him and his friends.


  It comes out about like a CBS news special. It’s passionate but reasonable, aggressive but proper, miserable but hopeful. He must have absorbed a hell of a lot of liberal news coverage ’cause he’s jumping those hurdles like a born winner.


  Tom doesn’t say much, orchestrates a little, making sure that Anthony hits the facts and suppresses the judgments. Hart is nodding, mouth sympathetic but grim. He knows at least he’s not seeing a delegation of radicals demanding that Wall Street immediately bum itself down. Where I should begin, Tom takes over.


  “Now, Ham, I’m not going to try to get around this. Mr. Levin here, who’s been my client for two years, was apprehended by a local officer for a felony involving marijuana.” One of Hart’s snowy eyebrows does a little dance. “He was, however, not booked, not charged, not permitted to contact his attorney. Instead, he was taken to a motel, handed a pistol, and told to kill Mr. Villegas or he himself would be killed. He came to me instead. Later, he contacted the arresting officer, who informed him that he was acting at the suggestion of Mr. Lavem M. Stoller, president of what is going to be known as the Queen Green Bean company. We feel that this story has a bearing on the disposition of the application for public stock issue by QGB.”


  “Mr. Levin,” Hart is looking right through me under a heavy shelf of eyebrow, "could you, I don’t say you will have to, but could you prove any of this?”


  I pause for a long minute. “I have a tape recording of a conversation with one of the people involved.”


  “I’ve checked on Tom here, and I know who he is. Neither of you stands to gain by this, and the information is pertinent. There are those who think it isn’t, who would exclude all but fiscal considerations from a decision on such a matter, but I’m not one of them. I am, as my daughter tells me,” and his pink face lights up, “one of the, er, ‘heavy people’ on this board.”


  “There is to be no court action on any of this,” Tom says. “But we feel you’ll know how to handle information delivered on an informal basis.”


  “I certainly will. And I thank you gentlemen for bringing it to my attention.”


  “Mr. Hart,” I say, “have you met Mr. Stoller?”


  “I have.”


  “What does he look like?”


  “Lavem Stoller? Well, he’s extremely tall, over six feet five certainly, doesn’t have much hair, and what he does have is gray, in a crew-cut. The day I saw him I recall he was wearing a tie with a horse’s head on it. Why?”


  Touchdown, I think, that mean fucker had to see it was done right, had to get right down there with his employees and watch them workin’. Self-made man can’t trust anybody. Can’t delegate.


  I go slow and careful. “Mr. Hart, I don’t know if you’re satisfied or not with what we’ve told you. It’s just an allegation, after all, but if you should see Mr. Stoller again, and if this matter gets brought up at all, even in a very indirect way, you might mention the name ‘Clyde Moss,’ and see what reaction it produces.” “Very well, perhaps I’ll do that. Thank you gentlemen, good day. Tom, you ought to come around more often. We’re always on the lookout for bright young men.”


  “Thanks, Ham, maybe we’ll have lunch sometime.” “Excellent. Just call my secretary.”


  When we get outside, I ask Tom, “Do these lunches ever happen?”'


  “One in ten, baby,” he says.


  Tom goes on back uptown. Villegas and I find a Chock Full O’ Nuts and have coffee.


  “Y’know,” I say, “I ain’t in business any more. This thing killed it. Are you interested in a dealership?”


  “Not after the changes I saw you go through, baby. I’m goin’ back to college. I got problems enough, man, behind this thing. I got a nice old lady back there in town, but I really get into that Rochelle. I don’t know what I’m gonna do about that.”


  “You’ll survive.”


  “So will you.”


  “Hell yes, I always land on my knees.”


  “Funny, you ain’t a dealer any more, Byszka ain’t gonna be a cop any more. Queen Green Bean is gonna have to go back to bein’ Ma ’n Pa produce farm.”


  “I hope we did the right thing with Hart. I think that if the Company had gone public your folks out there in the valley might have had a-better deal, eventually.” “Not really. A scam operator always hurts you in the long run. It just happens. I’ve seen it.”


  I get up to go. “Well Anthony, it’s been nice.” “Thank you ain’t enough.”


  “Don’t mention it. I think that in a few weeks I’m gonna have a house where I actually live and a real name and a telephone, and I expect to see you.” “Beautiful, let’s do it.”


  We shake hands new style, then old style, then new style.


  So many fools these days callin’ each other “brother,” but what else can you call someone who goes through the shit with you? I head uptown for a way, see a cab and get in. The driver says “Where to, buddy?”


  And I think and think and finally give him Lieberman’s office, ’cause I really don’t have anywhere else to go. Suddenly, for the first time in two weeks, I’m a free man. But all I feel is some churning inside, like a runner who wins a race and says ‘okay, so what now?’ Suddenly visions of Europe and North Africa go floating away, and with them, ideas of retirement at thirty-two. Christ, I think, I’m a high-energy person, I got to be wheeling and dealing or I’ll be senile at thirty-five. That’s too young to die. Well, Lieberman is gonna play Maharishi one more time, and then I’m gonna get independent and into some water I can swim in alone.


  Celebrating, Tom rolls up an enormous two-paper J. Congolese buds and flowers. The Jersey cliffs get misty and soft-looking. He clicks on the FM and the Grateful Dead comes twanging out of his studio-size JBL’s.


  Oh, the first days are the hardest days


  “Well,” he says, “Nixon’s in Cambodia, God’s in his Heaven, Tim Leary’s in jail, all’s right with the world. What do you do now?”


  “Not what I was doing.”


  “I kinda figured that. How much money you got?” “Let’s see. Maybe 40 in a safe-deposit box, 10 in California that’s clean, and 6,500 in my pocket. From selling the Yacht. About 34 in my other pocket.” “Hmmm. About 16,500 clean, 73 dirty and a dealership that should be worth something if you can turn it” “I’m a rich man and a poor dealer.”


  “Well, let’s go for a ride. It’s a nice high sort of day, and you can figure out where you go from here. My bill is gonna run about 10 grand, what with the detective and lots of other crap here and there, but with 80 thousand you got a lot of alternatives.”


  We get in Tom’s MGB and cruise uptown until we get to Columbia University. All the folks here are pretty hip. You can see all the 1965 California freak styles coming back at you in commercial versions on fraternity boys. There’s a couple professors walking around and looking spacey the way they do, and lots of seemingly snobby, but really panting, co-ed pussy. Everybody’s got a book or three for a prop. New York could be a thousand miles away from these iron gates. Tom gives me a questioning look.


  “Nope” I say.


  We ride across town and down to East 101st Street.


  Lots of partyin’ goin’ on around the stoops, radios all tuned to Puerto Rican stations. There’s a bunch of folks sitting on either side of a narrow street and drinking beer and rooting and betting like crazy and in the middle of the street two ten-year-old kids in their underwear are beating the shit out of one another. There’s a store front here, under a sign saying “East 101st St. Community Action Program” and inside, several of the folks nod to Tom; there’s some pretty far-out looking, if scroungy, people talking on the telephone and scheming away like crazy. It’s very fast, and stray local people here and there are kind of wandering around. The agency folks appear to have collapsed faces, like people who’ve been speeding for a long time, though if they have it’s from the kind of amphetamine you manufacture in your own head. Tom looks at me.


  “Nope” I say.


  From there it’s just ten minutes down to Madison Avenue in the fifties. This is mustache and sideburn country, flare pants and midiskirts and the odor of best Central American weed. We take a Muzak elevator up to the thirty-eighth floor, and the door opens into a reception room, painted deep, rich blue. On the wall, in white psychedelic “what was that?” script is written: “Floating Blue Elephant Productions.” Under the sign, sitting on a white cube with a larger white cube as a desk, is a guy with the biggest orange Afro I’ve ever seen. I can’t imagine how he gets that thing through doorways. He says “Can I help you?” and Tom says “No. Tell Joe Reynolds that Tom Lieberman stopped by.” And to me “Well?”


  “Nope” I say.


  “Fine. Now let’s get down to business.”


  We head downtown, to the Canal Street area, and pull up in front of a very old red-brick building with a rusty fire escape. There’s nobody around at all and our footsteps are loud on the wooden stairs. Panting, we get to the fourth floor where a frosted glass door says “Papanis—Factor.” A fat lady with purple-black hair and glasses on a gold chain greets us: “Mr. Papanis is expecting you?”


  “No” says Tom.


  “Wait here a minute. Who should I say?”


  “Lawyer Lieberman and client Levin.”


  We hear some voices in the next room and a wrinkled man, very thin and pretty old, about five feet three with enormous bags under his eyes, walks out slowly. He extends his hand and says, with precision hiding a faint accent I can’t place,


  “Mr. Lieberman, Mr. Levin, come into my office.” His office is an enormous room with a beat-up wooden desk and a telephone. A radio, about 1950 variety, is playing classical music quietly, and there isn’t a scrap of paper in sight.


  “Gentlemen?”


  “Mr. Levin, my client, wishes to make a loan.”


  He nods. “How much?”


  “Eighty.”


  “I can let you have 65.”


  “Good. Roger, give him $40,000.” I look at Liberman, shrug, reach into my pocket and hand it out. It’s gotten to be a reflex over the last few days. I count it and hand it to Mr. Papanis who lets it sit on the desk. “And the rest?”


  “Roger, bring 40 more by tomorrow afternoon.” I swallow once and nod dumbly. He continues, “Mr. Papanis, in receipt of your eighty, is going to lend you 65 for the business of your choice. His money is clean, you can tell IRS about it tomorrow if you want, they’ll only gnash their teeth a little bit. He is not going to ask for repayment of his loan.”


  “Is there any way for me to know that?”


  Mr. Papanis smiles a very tired old smile. “I have been in business forty years. I am here six days a week from ten in the morning until six in the evening. If you know who to ask, you can find out that I am an honest man. If you don’t, you had better complete some transaction as quickly as possible.” They both smile.


  “Mr. Papanis is not going to give you any money. Some time in the next few days you’re going to buy a business, any business. Mr. Papanis will legally lend you the money to buy that business, but it will go directly to the owners.”


  “Business? What business?”


  “Well,” says Mr. Papanis, “a restaurant is always nice. A prosperous one. People enjoy eating a good meal out.”


  “A restaurant?”


  “What kind of food do you enjoy eating, young man?”


  “Chinese food,” Mr. Papanis presses a button on his desk and says, into some intercom system that I can’t see, “Sophy, please call Mr. Soong and see what restaurants he has for sale. Range around 65. Tell him it’s for a client of mine, something nice for a beginner.”


  “My fee,” says Mr. Papanis, lighting a small cigar, “seems high to you, 15,000 dollars. But I have asked you none of the questions that banks ask you, and a good business should return about twenty percent net annually. I am worth the investment, Mr. Levin. I shall also tell you that Mr. Lieberman gets a small percentage for bringing me your business, and that you are not the first client of his I have ever helped. Tom, how is that charming young man I assisted in getting the Defense Department contract?”


  “Grover is fine, doin’ real well. A few cost overruns, but he’s the only one in the country who can make that little device. He’s gonna be a rich man by the time he’s twenty-one.”


  Sophy’s voice comes from somewhere underneath the desk. “I got Mr. Soong right away. He gave me two to look at.”


  “Thank you Sophy.” He turns to me. “Good luck young man. Be sure to allow your attorney to advise you. Sophy will give you the names of some restaurants you may want to buy. If you like, just tell me what interests you and Mr. Soong and I will make all the arrangements. I would like to have the remainder of the money as soon as possible.”


  I stand up, shake hands, “Thank you, Mr. Papanis. I’ll have it here tomorrow.”


  “Good day, gentlemen.”


  I am crazy excited. Downstairs, I run into the first restaurant I find to pee. I notice that there are no towels in the men’s room. Already I’m looking at the world a new way.


  “So,” says Lieberman, “now you’ll make your parents happy.”


  Then we’re in the MGB and it only takes one look at the first restaurant on the list to convince me. Mandarin Paradise is at 35th and Lexington, and with the restaurant comes a huge studio apartment with a skylight directly above it. A staircase leads right past the refrigerator. Head’s heaven, your own Chinese restaurant at the bottom of the stairs. We talk to the owner a little bit, a very ancient Chinese, though Lieberman does most of the talking, having to do with volume and salary. The old man says “No more cooking for me. Must find new chef. Time I retired.” Lieberman scratches his head for a moment but in a second I’ve dragged him to the car and we’re sailing over the 59th Street Bridge and flying out Queens Boulevard. “There it is,” I yell and Lieberman roars into a parking place.


  I’m out of the car and running up the alley to the back of the building before Lieberman can unwind himself from the front seat. I fling open the back door to the kitchen and I can smell that incredible Szechuanese spice all around me. There are two or three Chinese men in the kitchen, washing pots and chopping shrimp and pork, and one puts out a tentative hand to stop me, a sort of “who-are-you?” gesture, but I go tear-assing by him. I’m still pretty wrecked from the Congolese Buds and Flowers and the smells in that kitchen are making me insane. Visions of Francine and Mona are dancing through my head, superimposed on an enormous menu. The guy I’m after is maybe five feet eleven, he’s about forty or so, with a bandanna around his head, a ladle in his hand, and a huge white apron tied around his waist. I put on the brakes before I knock him into the stock pot and say “I just bought a Chinese restaurant. Come work for me.” He waves the ladle in a little circle, like it’s thinking for him, and says “How much?” “One-third owner,” I say. He nods up and down and twirls that ladle a bit wider and says “Where?”


  “Thirty-fifth and Lex. Called the Mandarin Paradise now.”


  “When do I start?”


  “Monday.”


  “You got another name?”


  “Yeah. Long Hai.”


  “Far out,” he says to me and smiles. “See you Monday.”


  The next morning Genelle and Robbie come in on the bus from the Adirondacks. Since hiring my Szechuan chef I’ve managed to get a mattress for us, king-size, and one for Robbie, into that studio apartment. Robbie’s got a neat loft to sleep in at the back of the apartment which’ll give us lots of privacy. They’re both tired from the trip and don’t say much on the way there. Genelle takes a look around, says “Oh yeah” and starts making a list of things that have to get bought. Robbie says he’s tired, gives me a kiss, and puts himself to bed on his mattress.


  Genelle and I take off our clothes and just lie there for a while, peering up through the skylight and listening to the plates and forks clanking down below, and smelling the incredible smells.


  It’s about 11 a.m., and the sun is filtering down through the skylight in little shafts and Genelle says “Are we going away any more?”


  “Two weeks a year. Vacation.”


  “That’s nice. Where are you gonna be living?”


  “Right here.”


  “Oh yeah? Where am I living, back at the other place?”


  “Right here.”


  She kisses me on the lips. It’s such a nice mouth she’s got, Louisiana French mouth, an easy sulker, with a cleft chin underneath it and a deep division above it, what’s called an Angel’s Kiss. Story is that when you’re born, you know all the secrets of the universe, but an angel kisses you between your nose and your upper lip, so that you can’t ever tell anybody those secrets, and that’s why it’s called an Angel’s Kiss.


  I start to put my arms around her but she puts her hand on my chest and pushes me back down. She kisses my chest and my stomach and then takes me in her mouth for a long, long time, very slowly. I find some new colors in the spectrum, quiet ones I didn’t know they had in there, and I lie back and exhale a long, long breath. “That was pretty nice. We’ll have to do that every day.”


  Genelle looks up at me and turns that mouth into a smile I’ve never seen her smile before.


  “Every day but Thursday,” she says.


  Zen Master: “What is the sound of one hand clapping?”


  Zen Pupil: “Whooosh, whooosh.”


  On October 17, 1970, the Securities and Exchange Commission denied the application of Mr. Lavem Stoller, doing business as Queen Green Bean, Inc., for public sale of shares on the New York Stock Exchange. In the letter of denial the Commission stated that the fiscal stability of the campany, due in chief part to a highly unstable condition of the work force, did not recommend it for acceptance at that time. The denial was not appealed and the application was not resubmitted.


  On October 20, 1970, the business license section of New York State approved the application of a corporation consisting of Mr. Roger Levin, Miss Genelle Fournier, and Mr. T’Sin Lu Chen for change of name from “Mandarin Paradise” to “Long Hai” for the purpose of operating a restaurant. The attorney of record in the application was Mr. Thomas Lieberman.


  On October 28, 1970, a business license was granted to Mr. Raymond Byszka et al. for operation of a restaurant, to be known as The Transcendental Taco Company, on 8th and Madison Streets in Webersburg, Pa.


  On November 3, 1970, the State of Virginia granted a license for the possession of a handgun, and a license as a private investigator, to Mr. Edward Hugh Roosevelt, formerly an employee of the Central Intelligence Agency, currently employed by Southwest Investigative Services, Inc., of Annandale, Va.


  On November 9, 1970, after a long series of lengthy private meetings between counsel for the applicant and counsel for the Commission, and after one week of deadlocked voting, the Securities and Exchange Commission approved for sale to the public on the New York Stock Exchange 10,000 shares of stock in the newly formed company, Tomorrow Defense Industries, a sole proprietorship of Mr. Grover Dill, a minor.
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